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Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K (“Annual Report”) contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of
1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). We have based these
forward-looking statements on our current expectations and projections about future events. All statements, other than statements of present or historical fact
included in this Annual Report, about our plans, strategies and prospects, both business and financial, are forward-looking statements. Any statements that
refer to projections, forecasts or other characterizations of future events or circumstances, including any underlying assumptions, are forward-looking
statements. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by terminology such as “may,” “should,” “could,” “would,” “expect,” “plan,”
“anticipate,” “intend,” “believe,” “estimate,” “continue,” “goal,” “project” or the negative of such terms or other similar expressions. Moreover, the absence of
these words does not mean that a statement is not forward-looking. These forward-looking statements are subject to known and unknown risks, uncertainties
and assumptions about us that may cause our actual results, levels of activity, performance or achievements to be materially different from any future results,
levels of activity, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. Except as otherwise required by applicable law, we
disclaim any duty to update any forward-looking statements, all of which are expressly qualified by the statements in this section, to reflect events or
circumstances after the date of this Annual Report. We caution you that these forward-looking statements are subject to numerous risks and uncertainties, most
of which are difficult to predict and many of which are beyond our control.

Forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report include, but are not limited to, statements about:

• our projected financial information, anticipated growth rate and market opportunity;

• our ability to maintain the listing of our common stock on the New York Stock Exchange;

• our ability to raise financing in the future and to comply with restrictive covenants related to long-term indebtedness;

• our success in retaining or recruiting, or changes required in, our officers, key employees or directors;

• the accounting of our warrants as liabilities and any changes in the value of our warrants having a material effect on our financial results;

• factors relating to our business, operations and financial performance, including:

◦ our ability to drive an increasing proportion of orders in both our Enterprise and Local channels through the Doma Intelligence platform;

◦ changes in the competitive and regulated industries in which we operate, variations in technology and operating performance across
competitors, and changes in laws and regulations affecting our business;

◦ the current and future health and stability of the economy, financial conditions and residential housing market, including any extended
downturn or slowdown;

◦ changes in general economic and financial conditions (including federal monetary policy, interest rates, inflation, home price fluctuations,
housing inventory, labor shortages and supply chain
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issues) that may reduce demand for our products and services, lower our profitability or reduce our access to financing;

◦ our ability to implement business plans, forecasts and other expectations, and identify and realize additional opportunities; and

◦ the impact of COVID-19 on our business;

◦ the impact on the real estate finance market from recent macroeconomic events and conditions that have resulted in a significant increase in
interest rates largely due to actions of the U.S. Federal Reserve; and

• other factors described in Part I, Item 1A “Risk Factors” set forth this Annual Report.

Given these risks and uncertainties, you should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. Additional cautionary statements or
discussions of risks and uncertainties that could affect our results or the achievement of the expectations described in forward-looking statements may also be
contained in any subsequent periodic report.

Should one or more of the risks or uncertainties described in this Annual Report occur, or should underlying assumptions prove incorrect, actual results
and plans could differ materially from those expressed in any forward-looking statements.

You should read this Annual Report completely and with the understanding that our actual future results, levels of activity and performance as well as
other events and circumstances may be materially different from what we expect. We qualify all of our forward-looking statements by these cautionary
statements.

Introductory Note

On July 28, 2021 (the “Closing Date”), Capitol Investment Corp. V (“Capitol”) consummated a business combination (the “Business Combination”) with
Doma Holdings, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Old Doma”), pursuant to the agreement and plan of merger, dated March 2, 2021, by and among Capitol,
Capitol V Merger Sub, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of Capitol (“Merger Sub”), and Old Doma (as amended on March 18, 2021, the “Agreement”). In
connection with the closing of the Business Combination, Old Doma changed its name to States Title Holding, Inc. (“States Title”), Capitol changed its name
to Doma Holdings, Inc. (“Doma”) and Old Doma became a wholly owned subsidiary of Doma. Doma continues the existing business operations of Old Doma
as a publicly traded company.

Unless the context otherwise requires, references herein to “company,” “Company,” “Doma,” “we,” “us,” “our” and similar terms refer to Doma
Holdings, Inc. (f/k/a Capitol Investment Corp. V) and its consolidated subsidiaries. References to “Capitol” refer to our predecessor company prior to the
consummation of the Business Combination. References to “Old Doma” refer to Old Doma prior to the Business Combination and to States Title, the wholly
owned subsidiary of Doma, upon the consummation of the Business Combination.

Available Information

Our website address is https://www.doma.com. Our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and
amendments to reports filed pursuant to Sections 13(a) and 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), are filed or
furnished, as applicable, with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”). Copies of these reports, as well as any amendments to these reports, are
available free of charge through our website at https://investor.doma.com, as soon as reasonably practicable after they are electronically filed with, or
furnished to, the SEC. The SEC also maintains a website that contains the materials we file with the SEC at https://www.sec.gov.
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Information contained or referenced on the foregoing websites is not incorporated by reference into and does not form a part of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K. Further, the Company’s references to the URLs for these websites are intended to be inactive textual references only.

Risk Factor Summary

Our business is subject to numerous risks and uncertainties, which demonstrate the challenges we face in connection with the successful implementation
of our strategy and the growth of our business. The following considerations, among others, may offset our competitive strengths or have a negative effect on
our business strategy, which could cause a decline in the price of our securities (including our common stock) and result in a loss of all or a portion of your
investment:

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry
• Legislative and regulatory responses to COVID-19 and resulting macroeconomic trends have adversely affected and could have adverse effects on

our business in the future.
• We have a history of net losses and could continue to incur substantial net losses in the future.
• Our future growth and profitability depend in part on our ability to successfully operate in the highly competitive real estate and insurance industries;

there is no assurance that we will be successful.
• Our success depends to a significant extent on the timely rollout of our machine intelligence technology.
• We have a limited operating history and a novel business model.
• Many of our competitors in the real estate and title insurance industries have brands that are well recognized. Our brand may not become as widely

known or accepted as incumbents’ brands.
• We experienced quick growth and may not be able to manage future growth effectively.
• Our growth depends on our ability to expand our product offerings and our prospects for growth may be adversely affected if we are unsuccessful.
• Our product development cycles are complex, and we may incur significant expenses before we generate revenues and efficiencies, if any, from new

products.
• Our financial condition is affected by changes in economic conditions, particularly mortgage interest rates, credit availability and consumer

confidence, and adverse changes in conditions may reduce our revenues.
• Because our revenue depends on macroeconomic conditions, our results of operations fluctuate on a quarterly and annual basis, which may make it

difficult to predict our future performance.
• Our historical financial results as a private company may not be indicative of what our actual financial position or results of operations would have

been as a public company or those we will achieve.
• We may require additional capital to support business growth or to satisfy our regulatory capital and surplus requirements, and this capital might not

be available on acceptable terms, if at all.
• Cyber-attacks and security breaches could have an adverse effect on our business and expose us to liability.
• Technology disruptions or failures, including our operational or security systems or infrastructure, or those of third parties, could disrupt our business

or cause legal or reputational harm.
• Our title and escrow business relies on data from consumers and unaffiliated third parties, the unavailability or inaccuracy of which could limit the

functionality of our products.
• Our success depends on our industry adopting new products at their current pace and the continued growth and acceptance of data science and

machine intelligence-driven products.
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• We rely extensively on models in managing our business, and if they are not accurate or are misinterpreted, it could have a material adverse effect on
our business and results of operations.

• Our expansion will subject us to additional costs and risks, and we may not be successful.
• Regulators may limit our ability to develop or implement our proprietary technology.
• Our results of operations depend, in part, on the performance of our investment portfolio.
• Failures at financial institutions at which we deposit funds could adversely affect us.
• Our actual incurred losses may be greater than our loss and loss adjustment expense reserves, which could have a material adverse effect on our

financial condition and results of operations.
• There are risks associated with our indebtedness.
• Unexpected changes in the interpretation of our coverage or provisions, including loss limitations and exclusions, in our policies could have a

material adverse effect on our financial condition.
• State regulation of the rates we charge for title insurance could adversely affect our results of operations.
• Denial of claims or our failure to properly pay claims could materially and adversely affect our business.
• Unexpected increases in the volume or severity of claims may adversely affect our results of operations.
• Our use of third-party agents could adversely impact the frequency and severity of title claims.
• Reinsurance may be unavailable at current levels and prices, which may limit our ability to underwrite new policies; furthermore, reinsurance

subjects us to counterparty risk.
• We may be unable to prevent, monitor or detect fraudulent activity.
• Failure to maintain our risk-based capital at the required levels could adversely affect us.
Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property
• Our inability to obtain, maintain, protect or enforce our intellectual property could reduce the value of our products, services and brand.
• If we are unable to protect the confidentiality of our trade secrets, our business would be harmed.
• Third parties may allege that we violate their intellectual property rights and we may become subject to intellectual property disputes, which are

costly.
• We use licensed software in our business, and the inability to maintain these licenses, errors in the software or the terms of open source licenses could

adversely affect our business.
Risks Related to Ownership of Our Securities
• If we cannot regain compliance with the NYSE’s continued listing requirements and rules, the NYSE may delist our common stock, which could

negatively affect our company, the price of our common stock and our stockholders’ ability to sell our common stock.
• Insiders have substantial control over us and could limit your ability to influence the outcome of key transactions, including a change of control.
• Future sales or issuances of shares of our common stock may cause the market price of our securities to drop significantly, even if our business is

doing well.
• Delaware law and our organizational documents contain provisions, including anti-takeover provisions that limit the ability of stockholders to take

certain actions and could delay or discourage takeover attempts that stockholders may consider favorable.
• Delaware law may delay or prevent a change in control, and may discourage bids for our common stock at a premium over its market price.
• The provisions of our certificate of incorporation regarding exclusive forum for certain types of lawsuits may have the effect of discouraging lawsuits

against our directors and officers.
Risks Related to Accounting and Financial Reporting
• We are an emerging growth company and a smaller reporting company and to the extent we have taken advantage of certain exemptions from

disclosure requirements available to emerging growth companies or smaller reporting companies, this could make our securities less attractive to
investors and may make it more difficult to compare our performance with other public companies.

• Our Public and Private Placement Warrants are accounted for as liabilities and the changes in value of our warrants could have a material effect on
our financial results.
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• If we are unable to develop and maintain an effective system of internal control over financial reporting, we may not be able to accurately report our
financial results in a timely manner, which may adversely affect investor confidence in us and materially and adversely affect our business and
operating results.

The risks described above should be read together with the text of the full risk factors described in Part I, Item 1A. “Risk Factors” and the other
information set forth in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including our consolidated financial statements and the related notes, as well as in other documents
that we file with the SEC. Our business, prospects, financial condition or operating results could be harmed by any of these risks, as well as other risks not
currently known to us or that we currently consider immaterial. Certain statements in “Risk Factors” are forward-looking statements. See “Cautionary Note
Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” herein.
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Part I

Item 1. Business

Mission

Doma is a technology company that is architecting the future of real estate transactions. Using machine intelligence and our proprietary technology
solutions, we are creating a vastly more simple, efficient, and affordable real estate closing experience for current and prospective homeowners, lenders, title
agents and real estate professionals.

Our mission is to remove friction and frustration from an antiquated real estate transaction process that has been stuck in the 19th century, buried in piles
of paper and hampered by technology that is decades out of date. Our approach is based on our innovative cloud platform, “Doma Intelligence,” which will
enable us to deliver a significantly improved and more affordable customer experience at every point in the closing process of a home purchase or refinance.
Doma’s broader mission is founded on the premise that home ownership represents a key milestone in life that should be available to all individuals.

Overview

Doma was founded in 2016 to focus top-tier data scientists, product managers, and engineers on building game-changing technology to completely
reimagine the residential real estate closing process. We founded Doma to create a home ownership process for today’s consumers who expect instant, digital
experiences. Our approach to the title and escrow process is driven by our innovative platform, Doma Intelligence. The Doma Intelligence platform is the
result of significant investment in research and development over more than six years across a team of more than 100 data scientists and engineers. It creates a
revolutionary new real estate closing platform that seeks to eliminate the latent, manual tasks involved in underwriting title insurance, performing core escrow
functions, generating closing documentation and getting documents signed and recorded. The platform harnesses the power of data analytics, machine
learning and natural language processing, which will enable us to deliver a more affordable and faster closing transaction with a seamless customer experience
at every point in the process. Doma’s machine intelligence algorithms are being trained and optimized on 30 years of historical anonymized closing
transaction data allowing us to make underwriting decisions in less than a minute and significantly reduce the time, effort and cost of facilitating the entire
closing process.

Our customers are primarily homeowners engaged in residential real estate purchase or refinance transactions. In purchase transactions, we reach
homeowners primarily through real estate agents and real estate attorneys. In refinance transactions, we reach homeowners refinancing existing mortgages on
their homes through our referral relationships with large, centralized lenders and loan officers at local and regional lenders. Our underwriting insurance
business services Doma transactions in addition to purchase and refinance transactions for independent title agents.

For orders driven through the Doma Intelligence platform, our technological edge allows us to provide a strong value proposition. To date, our technology
has shown that it is capable of:

• Providing machine learning enabled title commitment decisions on over 80% of our title insurance orders driven through the Doma Intelligence
platform in one minute or less. This facilitates a dramatically faster experience than the typical three to five days for legacy title and escrow providers
to deliver a title commitment;

• Delivering a notably faster end-to-end process, with customers on average experiencing over 15% faster closings.

Our go-to-market strategy is centered on two principal distribution channels, which we call local markets (“Local”) and strategic and enterprise accounts
(“Doma Enterprise”). Our Local channel encompasses a network of 91 branches across the United States as of December 31, 2022, and processes both
purchase and refinance transactions, originated primarily through local real estate agents and local branch loan officers. Access to our Local
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channel began with our acquisition of North American Title Company (“NATC”), which is being rebranded as Doma Insurance Agency in its related markets,
and North American Title Insurance Company (“NATIC”), which has been renamed Doma Title Insurance, Inc., in 2019. The embedded licensure across the
acquired geographic footprint expanded our capacity to service over 80% of the U.S. market and gave us local market capabilities to directly originate and
service both purchase and refinance title and escrow business in key metropolitan areas. Our Doma Enterprise channel focuses on capturing significant
volume share from large, centralized lenders and mortgage originators. These partners have developed operating and processing systems for originating and
processing refinance transactions at scale. Our Doma Intelligence platform has been used for refinance transactions, with all of the Doma Enterprise order
volume on the platform and a portion of transactions from our Local channel running through the Doma Intelligence platform. The acquisition of NATIC also
provided us with the advantage of having significantly expanded national underwriting capabilities and a channel to attract independent title agents into the
broader Doma ecosystem. We call this third distribution channel of independent title and escrow agents “Indirect Agents.”

We believe we have an attractive business model with strong profitability as highlighted by our approximately 53% and 53% adjusted gross profit as a
percentage of retained premiums and fees in our Underwriting segment for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. We expect to
meaningfully grow our business by expanding the use of the Doma Intelligence platform with our Indirect Agents and identifying new ways to leverage our
proven instant underwriting capabilities.

We are still only in the early stages of the digital transformation of the real estate experience, with much of the entire closing process still burdened with
manual steps that do not match today’s technological and digital advancements. Our nimble business structure, coupled with our strength in data science, will
allow us to enter more areas of the closing experience, such as home warranty and other large segments of the broader home ownership industry. We are
confident that we can use machine intelligence to help drive a faster, more frictionless home ownership experience, and we will strategically deploy our
technology and capital to areas where we can create time and cost savings for our customers.

Industry Background

A Large, Antiquated Market

Residential real estate is one of the largest markets and biggest contributors to the U.S. economy. Approximately 66% of American households owned a
home as of the third quarter of 2022, according to the U.S. Census Bureau, and according to the Mortgage Bankers Association, there were nearly 5.7 million
homes sold in 2022 for approximately $2.2 trillion of total transaction volume. There were a total of approximately 5.9 million mortgage originations in 2022,
split between home purchase financings (approximately 67%) and mortgage refinancings (approximately 33%). Virtually all of these mortgages, whether
related to a purchase or refinancing, required title insurance as well as escrow and closing services.

The processes underlying the residential real estate market and the companies providing services to it have remained largely analog as many other
industries have quickly migrated toward a more digital world. Digitization of industries across the economy has been associated with delivering goods,
services and experiences with vastly improved efficiency and certainty. COVID-19 has increased the demand for technology-first experiences as consumers
prioritize safety and convenience. The next wave of first-time homebuyers will be dominated by the over 72 million Americans classified as millennials,
according to Statista, who are more oriented toward instant, digital processes than ever before. Over the next several years, as many as 5 million millennials
will annually reach age 32 which represents the average age of a first-time homebuyer. This will provide a tailwind for the real estate market as well as for
market participants offering technology-enabled and digital services.
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Unique Differentiators

The Opportunity for Doma in Title and Escrow

There are several factors that we believe gives Doma a meaningful first mover advantage in delivering a faster, more efficient, more enjoyable and more
affordable solution across the title insurance and closing market:

• A proprietary platform based on machine intelligence that has been purpose-built and refined specifically for the unique nuances encountered in
U.S. residential real estate transactions and is being trained and optimized on 30 years of proprietary title insurance and closing data obtained as part
of the acquisition of NATC and NATIC. Our extensively tested technology has both deepened and broadened referral partners’ reliance on Doma
with solutions that remove entire chunks of the closing process.

• A highly specialized approach to fulfilling key service functions that combines deep operational excellence with at-scale centralization to augment
our technology-led product offerings and deliver a vastly improved level of service to referral partners and customers. We are powering the most
optimal and affordable outcomes by combining cutting-edge technology with deep-market knowledge.

• Owning the end-to-end process of closing, as both an escrow agency and a title insurance underwriter, Doma has a differentiated ability to innovate
across the entire end-to-end process of writing a policy, from underwriting to the back-end processing. Our relentless focus on innovation and
performance improvement drives new customer acquisition, and growth with existing referral partners, and underpins the high capital-efficiency of
our business model.

The Traditional Title and Closing Experience

The process of going from an accepted offer on a home purchase to signed final documents—referred to as the title and closing process—is largely a
cumbersome black box with little explanation provided to the customer as to why it takes an average of up to 51 days to complete, according a December
2022 report from ICE Mortgage Technology. The typical process, which is identical for refinance transactions, is outlined below for illustrative purposes:

• Order for title insurance placed. A representative of the buyer, seller or the lender places an order for title insurance.

• Title search begins. An individual at a title company begins a search to clear the title. This involves performing a search of historical property
records, which is done digitally where possible, but often requires manual review of paper records depending on when the property last changed
hands and the sophistication of the county office.

• Title issues arise. Sometimes issues are discovered during the title search process that may need to be resolved prior to closing. Examples may
include an incorrect legal description of the property on a deed or mortgage, unresolved liens from prior owners or ownership matters such as
mistakes on a deed or missing heirs.

• Title is cleared to close. Typically three to five days after the title search begins, the search is complete and any issues on a title are resolved. The
title is then cleared to close.

• Fee collaboration begins. Traditionally, fee collaboration involves a tedious process where individuals at both the title and escrow company as
well as the lender manually compare itemized fees across the settlement statements in order to balance those fees and incorporate them into the
closing documents.

• Final document signing is coordinated. The title and escrow company schedules the signing event to involve a notary and all those who need to
sign the closing documents, such as borrowers, sellers, buyers, attorneys and real estate agents. While a number of states allow for methods that
enable the signing event to take place via an online video session, most signing events still take place in-person.
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• Post-closing process is initiated. In the final steps of closing after signing, payoff demands are processed, funds are disbursed, and the
documents are recorded with the county.

• Title insurance issued. A title insurance policy is issued to the owner and/or lender, protecting their interest(s) in the property.

The process seeks to protect home buyers and lenders from defects in the title to the home that can lead to losses and to ensure that all the right parties are
paid and that all the correct documents are signed and recorded with the proper authorities.

The historical closing process is an incredibly labor intensive, manual process today for three primary reasons. First, the process has not been disrupted or
fundamentally altered since being established in the 1890s. Second, much of the technology used by title companies to process title and escrow was created in
the 1990s, and there has been little innovation since. Third, many counties throughout the United States have yet to digitize their records, making the title
search process for transfer of ownership cumbersome and time consuming.

Technology that Transforms the Experience

Doma Intelligence

Our vision is to architect the future of real estate transactions and create a vastly more simple, efficient, and affordable closing experience for current and
prospective homeowners, lenders, title agents and real estate professionals. As a first step towards that goal, we chose to initially focus on transforming the
title and escrow portion of the real estate landscape.

To that end, we have built a proprietary platform called Doma Intelligence. We commercially launched the initial core feature of the Doma Intelligence
platform in 2018 and have since built out a set of complementary features that extend cutting edge machine learning across the entire title and escrow process.
This platform automates many aspects of the closing process, powered by data science, natural language processing and machine intelligence. Currently, all of
our direct refinance order volume from our Doma Enterprise partners are fulfilled through our Doma Intelligence platform. Additionally, during 2022, we
worked to migrate an additional portion of our refinance and purchase order volume from our Local channel to be fulfilled through our Doma Intelligence
platform. However, we have paused that initiative to migrate additional order volume to the Doma Intelligence platform in December 2022. Our machine
intelligence algorithms are being trained and optimized on 30 years of historical data acquired from NATC and NATIC, allowing our Doma Intelligence
platform to make a majority of our title underwriting decisions in less than a minute, significantly reducing the time, effort and cost of the closing process.

Products Powered by Doma Intelligence

Doma Title replaces the time and labor-intensive title search process with a predictive algorithm that utilizes a forward-thinking, risk-based insurance
model to clear title commitments instantaneously, compared to a multi-day process in the traditional path. More than 80% of orders passed through Doma
Title today have machine learning enabled title commitment decisions made in one minute or less. As a result, transactions can be processed faster, with less
back-and-forth between the parties. This increased speed will improve the pull-through rate of closings for our customers over time by shortening the time to
close. Doma Title’s data-science driven, automated approach to the title curative process maintains the same degree of safety and protection for the
policyholder against any outstanding issues on title.

Doma Escrow. Once title processing is complete, document processing and communication management are the most time-consuming part of closing a
real estate transaction. Doma Escrow utilizes proprietary applications of
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machine intelligence to ensure complete and accurate closing documents and optimized communication management.

• Document processing. Repetitive document processing tasks are automated by Doma Escrow using a machine learning and data science-first
approach. Our technology processes unstructured data from documents utilized by various counterparties in a closing, applies domain-specific
knowledge to the processing of this unstructured data and often completes tasks related to these documents with significantly reduced manual labor
and resulting response times.

• Fee collaboration. Doma Escrow’s fee collaboration technology eliminates repetitive tasks so lenders can close more loans, faster with a higher level
of fee accuracy. Doma Escrow applies a fully automated solution to replace the manual and error-prone “stare and compare” process of the traditional
fee collaboration approach. Doma Escrow automatically extracts the required data from relevant documents, reconciles all fees, runs a quality check,
and sends a completed settlement statement back to the lender—all in under a minute.

• Email processing. Email processing is the one of the most labor-intensive aspects in closing a transaction. Hundreds of emails, some perfunctory,
some requiring complex domain expertise, must be processed by loan officers, realtors, buyers, borrowers, sellers and title company representatives.
Doma Escrow uses machine learning to automate the uploading and analysis of the majority of emails. While there are competitive entrants in
language extraction processing as technology companies have made their toolkits freely accessible for business use, Doma Escrow’s differentiation
lies in language comprehension processing, as no other solutions on the market today have as much training and validation as our models to
comprehend title and escrow concepts.

The Doma Intelligence Platform Integration Options

Our integration offerings for lenders cover a range of integration channels that include:

• Direct integrations to partner systems such as Loan Origination Systems (“LOS”) or other applications;

• Integrations via third-party middleware; and

• Doma Connect, a set of modern, RESTful public APIs that enable partners to create more seamless and efficient workflows with their own systems,
rather than relying on email as a form of information exchange.

All our integration options were built in a way that both support and complement our machine intelligence enabled product offerings so that partners can
maximize their unique value within workflows.

Technology Infrastructure

Best-in-class machine learning systems require a proper flow of data from production into the data science environment as well as proper labeling. The
key advancement of the data architecture behind the Doma Intelligence platform is the inclusion of manual labeling within its ecosystem. Currently, we target
a rate of approximately 80% of underwriting decisions to be instant for transactions that run through the Doma Intelligence platform. Even if a policy is not
instantly underwritten, it still benefits from other Doma Intelligence features. Machine learning systems can ingest human-labeled data to yield increased
accuracy and predictive power, resulting in a fully closed optimization system that is entirely proprietary within Doma. To power this system, we have
connected the leading multi-connected data warehouse, Snowflake, to our Azure/Python machine learning environment and Looker visualization tool,
synergizing human production, machine learning automation, and resilient and vibrant cloud architecture in a manner that is unlike that of most real estate
technology companies.
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Underwriting Insurance Services

Doma Title Insurance, Inc., or referred to herein as “DTI” (formerly known as NATIC), a subsidiary of Doma, is a seasoned title insurance underwriter
with a national network of independent and affiliated title insurance agents authorized to issue title insurance policies for consumers and lenders. When a
property claim arises against an underwriting policy, based on the policy issued, DTI provides coverage that includes losses from defects in the title that were
not discovered during the search and examination. DTI offers products and services for all real estate transaction types, operates in 45 states and the District of
Columbia and holds an A’ (A Prime), unsurpassed rating by Demotech, Inc. as of December 31, 2022. DTI’s team of underwriting attorneys provide legal
guidance and answers to complex title issues with a guaranteed response time of one hour.

Growth Opportunities

We are in the early stages of a multi-year business model expansion to provide services to the residential real estate market. We intend to invest in our
business to advance the efficiency, affordability, and quality of execution in real estate transactions through the adoption of our proprietary platform. Our
growth opportunities and strategies include:

• Innovate and advance the Doma Intelligence platform. We have developed a leading machine learning platform and a strong track record of
technological innovation supported by our intellectual property portfolio. We are continuously optimizing and improving our machine learning platform
to deliver title insurance and transaction services to lenders and homeowners with best-in-class customer service as well as high efficiency and accuracy,
all at a lower cost to homeowners. We intend to continue making investments in research and development to strengthen our technical advantage in our
platform’s architecture. We believe that our deep understanding of the regulatory framework and the embedded knowledge of the real estate industry in
our machine learning platform will enable us to efficiently develop new offerings in current and adjacent markets, including home warranty, which will
further differentiate us relative to our competitors.

• Drive increased usage within our existing base of partners. The value proposition of the Doma Intelligence platform is what drives wallet share
expansion from our existing referral partners. We believe that our title insurance and transaction services allow our lender partners to quickly achieve
improvements in efficiency that will let them process more loans with less overhead, driving meaningful profitability improvements. To drive more
transactions from our Indirect Agents and better serve them, we launched an ‘Accelerated Commitment’ refinance product in the fourth quarter of 2022,
which uses the Doma Intelligence platform to reduce their curative and post-closing tasks. These efficiency gains in turn allow our independent title
agents to focus on marketing and expanding their network. We plan to expand this ‘Accelerated Commitment’ offering to all states in which we are
licensed in 2023.

• Drive growth by acquiring new customers and partners. We believe that all constituents involved in residential real estate transactions, including
homeowners, will continue to embrace the benefits of our technology driven solutions and that the opportunity to continue growing our base of customers
and referral partners, including centralized lenders, independent title agents and local realtors, is substantial. To drive new growth in new customers and
referral partners, we intend to build on this momentum by identifying new ways to more quickly roll out our proven instant underwriting capabilities. Our
instant, machine-learning based underwriting is our original core value driver. It has delivered value to many of the largest, most well-known mortgage
originators in the country. We are also identifying more efficient and profitable ways to make this technology more widely available, with an emphasis on
successfully deploying our technology with new distribution channels. We are working towards engaging in new partnerships with mortgage originators
and the broader lending ecosystem in addition to real estate agents and independent title agents.

• Expand our geographic footprint. As of December 31, 2022, we were licensed in 45 states and the District of Columbia for our underwriting services.
There is opportunity to grow our presence in those geographic locations and gain approval and licensure in the states where we are not currently
operating. We have a dedicated internal organization that is focused on establishing the operational infrastructure and obtaining the
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necessary state and local licensure to enter new geographies which will allow us to grow with new and existing customers and increase our market share
over time.

• Enter adjacent home ownership markets. We intend to extend our addressable market beyond the title, escrow and closing market into the broader home
ownership market. We have identified the adjacent home warranty sub-sector as a near-term growth opportunity and believe there are several other
opportunities over the long-term.

Built for Market Success

We currently address the key segments of the real estate transaction market from purchase to refinance. These market segments range from the local
branch level, for lenders and realtors, to the “enterprise” market segment that represent large, centralized lender operations as well as independent, regional
title agencies.

Customer Acquisition

Our sales and marketing approach is rooted in the competitive pricing and accelerated timeline enabled by the efficiencies gained through the Doma
Intelligence platform. Unlike traditional title and escrow organizations, we embrace a go-to-market strategy that leverages digital distribution and modern,
cloud-based automation. We believe this generates lower customer acquisition costs and increases conversion rates.

Sales

We generate sales across three principal distribution channels:

• Doma Enterprise. Represents partnerships with national lenders and mortgage originators that maintain centralized lending operations.

• Local. Encompasses a network of 91 branches across the United States as of December 31, 2022, which process both purchase and refinance
transactions, originated primarily through referrals from local real estate professionals and local branch loan officers.

• Indirect Agents. Comprised of independent title and escrow agents utilizing our underwriting insurance services.

Our Doma Enterprise sales team is focused on building lasting relationships with partners that transact with high monthly customer volumes and are
generally regionally agnostic. Our sales cycles in this distribution channel ranges from three months to a year with the duration typically dictated by the size
and complexity of the potential lender’s requirements.

In our Local operation, we have a sales presence focused on acquiring customers within a certain radius of their respective local office, supplemented by
online and telephone-based remote outreach efforts that, coupled with our digital marketing programs, maximize efficiency, lower the cost of acquisition and
enable us to enter new markets.

Our Indirect Agent sales organization is comprised of sales professionals located across the United States. They engage with senior executive leadership
at independent title and escrow agencies via traditional field sales techniques of phone calls, meetings and industry events. Strong educational content
compliments the value proposition of underwriting insurance services for indirect agents.

Marketing

Our marketing programs highlight our differentiation from legacy providers involved in the real estate closing process. We leverage digital channels that
allow us to continuously refine acquisition efficiency of new referral partners and our customers. These acquisition programs also drive brand awareness and
an increased share of wallet per referral partner. We have also established a number of key marketing programs and initiatives to enhance market awareness
including online and search engine advertising, email campaigns, industry event sponsorship, social
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media placements, as well as traditional media such as press. We also host a unique series of digital events with recognized industry leaders as speakers that
has helped cement our position as a provider of engaging, thought-leadership content that further distinguishes us from competitors and helps us attract and
retain business.

Customer Success

For centralized lenders, our customer success team ensures a white-glove experience from their initial onboarding through their entire order production
lifecycle with every homeowner they engage. Through proactive monitoring of account health and implementation of best practices, this team ensures that
these referral partners and our customers are achieving maximum value from the engagement. The customer success team also works to continuously educate
referral partners and customers on our new product features and provides guidance on operational best practices to allow them to maximize the benefit
realized from our solutions. The customer success team continuously and proactively collects feedback to ensure we are improving how we deliver and meet
their needs. In partnership with direct sales, this team drives increased wallet share which is inextricably linked to our high levels of customer satisfaction.

Doma Service Operations

Doma offers a comprehensive service offering that caters to the needs of all constituents involved in the closing process for all transactions flowing
through our Doma Intelligence platform. This approach helps ensure our referral partners – and ultimately, homeowners – have an efficient closing experience
that is free of friction and frustration.

Doma Service Operations is a team focused on fulfilling strategic goals around operational efficiencies, growth, and throughput that we believe is unique
in our industry. The team is, at its core, a fulfillment organization that was conceived to inform, adopt and supplement Doma technology products. The team
operates with a singular focus of ensuring short and long-term success for all stakeholders involved in the real estate closing process. It is a centralized
operation that we believe is the first-of-its-kind that borrows from data-centric platforms, lean fulfillment processes and practices, and the high-touch service
of a local title and escrow operation – all combined into an efficient, scalable model that can flex to fit the needs of our customers.

Doma Service Operations is organized by referral partner and product type and works nationwide through a flexible and largely remote workforce. Doma
Service Operations seeks to exceed industry-standard service level agreements for each transaction milestone and helps drive revenue growth by delivering
fast and personal service.

Customers

Our customers are primarily prospective homeowners purchasing a new home, existing homeowners selling their home, or existing homeowners
refinancing their existing mortgages. In purchase transactions, we reach homeowners primarily through real estate agents. In refinancing transactions, we
reach homeowners who are refinancing their mortgages through our relationships with large, centralized lenders and mortgage originators, as well as local
branch loan officers. We believe we have strong relationships with our real estate professional and lender referral partners and offer a powerful value
proposition to develop new partnerships and grow wallet share with existing partners. Our value proposition for lenders and real estate professionals is driven
by a platform that can reduce costs, speed up the process, increase the likelihood of closing and provide homeowners a better experience at a lower cost.

Intellectual Property

We have been building our intellectual property for a number of years and a significant part of this effort has been in the development and patenting of our
transformative technology in the home title and closing areas.

We seek to obtain, maintain and protect our intellectual property by relying on a combination of federal, state and common law in the United States, as
well as on contractual measures. This includes a variety of measures, such as patents, trademarks and trade secrets. We also seek to place appropriate
restrictions on our proprietary
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information to control access and prevent unauthorized disclosures, a key part of our broader risk management strategy.

We cannot provide assurances that any of our pending patent applications will issue as patents or that our issued patents, or any patents that issue from our
pending patent applications, will be sufficient to protect our technology. The terms of individual issued patents extend for varying periods depending on the
date of filing of the patent application or the date of patent issuance and the legal term of patents in the countries in which they are obtained. Generally, utility
patents issued for applications filed in the United States are granted a term of 20 years from the earliest effective filing date of a non-provisional patent
application. The issuance of a patent is not conclusive as to its validity and our issued patents may from time-to-time be challenged, narrowed and/or
invalidated. The term of a patent, and the protection it affords, is therefore limited and we may face competition, including from other competing technologies.
Failure to protect our intellectual property or proprietary rights adequately could significantly harm our competitive position, business, financial condition and
results of operations. For additional information, please see the Part I, Item 1A “Risk Factors—Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property” in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K (this “Annual Report”).

Competition

The traditional title and escrow market is highly concentrated by legacy, incumbent players. The “big four” providers of traditional title and escrow
services are Fidelity National Financial, Inc.; First American Financial Corporation; Old Republic International Corporation and Stewart Information Services
Corporation.

The incumbent title and escrow service providers are larger than us and have significant competitive advantages, including increased name recognition,
higher financial ratings, greater resources and additional access to capital than we currently do. Competition is based on many factors, including the reputation
and experience of the title and escrow services provider, pricing and other terms and conditions, customer service, relationships with brokers and agents, size,
and financial strength ratings, among other considerations.

We also compete with new market entrants such as technology-enabled escrow agencies and technology providers of a title processing system. We believe
none of these new market entrants enjoy the breadth of services or first-mover technology advantage Doma possesses today. Further, we see certain software
platforms less as true or direct competitors and more as alternative solution offerings for small to mid-scale title agencies who may compete with us in
regional markets.

We believe that we compare favorably across many of the key competitive factors, and have developed a proprietary technology platform that we believe
will be difficult for other providers to emulate. As we expand into new lines of business and offer additional products beyond title and escrow services, we
could face intense competition from companies that are already established in such markets.

Government Regulation

The extensive and complex rules and regulations that we are subject to act as a natural barrier to entry in our industry, adding another dimension to our
first mover advantage. These rules and regulations, as well as licensing and examination by various federal, state and local government authorities, are
designed to, among other things, protect customers (such as payment regulations, insurance regulations, state and federal real estate transaction regulations).
We are also subject to state and federal laws, which require extensive disclosure to, and consents from, customers. Moreover, in many jurisdictions where we
operate, there are laws regulating pricing, prohibiting discrimination and unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or practices and imposing multiple qualification and
licensing obligations on our activities. Failure to comply with any of these rules, regulations or requirements may result in, among other things, lawsuits
(including class action lawsuits) or administrative enforcement actions seeking monetary damages, fines or civil monetary penalties, restitution or other
payments to customers, modifications to business practices, revocation of required licenses or registrations.
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The following is a summary of certain aspects of the various statutes and regulations applicable to us and our subsidiaries. This summary is not a
comprehensive analysis of all applicable laws, and is qualified by reference to the full text of statutes and regulations referenced below.

State Licensing Requirements

We or one or more of our subsidiaries may need, and have obtained, one or more state licenses as a title insurance business and title agency in order to
offer title insurance policies and to provide title escrow and closing services to close refinance and home sale transactions. Where we have obtained licenses,
state licensing statutes may impose a variety of requirements and restrictions on us, including:

• record-keeping requirements;

• surety bond and minimum net worth requirements;

• restrictions on insurance premium and escrow pricing and fees;

• annual or biennial activity reporting and license renewal requirements;

• notification and approval requirements for changes in principal officers, directors, stock ownership or corporate control;

• restrictions on marketing and advertising;

• individual licensing requirements;

• anti-money laundering and compliance program requirements;

• data security and privacy requirements; and

• requirements for policy forms and endorsements and other customer-facing documents.

These statutes may also subject us to the examination authority of state regulators in certain cases, and we have experienced, are currently and will likely
continue to be subject to and experience exams by state regulators. These examinations have and may continue to result in findings or recommendations that
require us to modify our internal controls and/or business practices.

Laws and Regulation

Federal and State UDAAP Laws

The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010 Act grants the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (the “CFPB”) the power
to enforce unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts and practices (“UDAAP”) prohibitions and to adopt UDAAP rules defining unlawful acts and practices.
Additionally, provisions of the Federal Trade Commission Act (“FTC Act”) prohibit “unfair” and “deceptive” acts and practices in business or commerce and
give the FTC enforcement authority to prevent and redress violations of this prohibition. Virtually all states have similar laws. Whether a particular act or
practice violates these laws frequently involves a highly subjective and/or fact-specific judgment.

State Disclosure Requirements and Other Substantive Insurance Regulations

We are subject to state laws and regulations that impose requirements related to title insurance disclosures and terms, discrimination, reporting, claim
handling and processing. The method, extent and substance of such regulation varies by state, but generally has its source in National Association of Insurance
Commissioners (the “NAIC”) model laws and regulations that establish standards and requirements for conducting the business of insurance and that delegate
regulatory authority to a state regulatory agency. Moreover, the NAIC Accreditation Program requires state regulatory agencies to meet baseline standards of
solvency regulation, particularly with respect to regulation of multi-state insurers. In general, such regulation is intended for the protection of those who
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purchase or use our insurance products, and not our stockholders. These rules have a substantial effect on our business and relate to a wide variety of matters
including: insurance company licensing and examination; price setting or premium rates; trade practices; approval of policy forms; claims practices;
restrictions on transactions between our subsidiaries and their affiliates, including the payment of dividends; investments; underwriting standards; advertising
and marketing practices; capital adequacy; and the collection, remittance and reporting of certain taxes, licenses and fees.

The state laws and regulations that have the most significant effect on our insurance operations and financial reporting are discussed below.

The ability of our subsidiaries to pay dividends to us is regulated by the laws of their state of domicile. Under these laws, insurance companies must
provide advance informational notice to the domicile state insurance regulatory authority prior to payment of any dividend or distribution to our stockholders.
Prior approval from the state insurance regulatory authority must be obtained before payment of an "extraordinary dividend" as defined under the state's
insurance code. The amount of ordinary dividends that may be paid to us is subject to certain limitations, the amounts of which change each year. For
additional information about dividends, refer to Part II, Item 5 “Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Shareholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of
Equity Securities” under the heading “Dividend Policy” and Note 22 “Regulation and Statutory Financial Information,” contained in Part II, Item 8
“Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”

We are subject to various state regulations requiring investment portfolio diversification and limiting the concentration of investments we may maintain in
certain asset categories. Failure to comply with these regulations leads to the treatment of nonconforming investments as non-admitted assets for purposes of
measuring statutory surplus. Further, in some instances, state regulations require us to sell certain nonconforming investments.

For public reporting, insurance companies prepare financial statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“U.S. GAAP”).
However, state laws require us to calculate and report certain data according to statutory accounting rules as defined in the NAIC Accounting Practices and
Procedures Manual. While not a substitute for any U.S. GAAP measure of performance, statutory data frequently is used by industry analysts and other
recognized reporting sources to facilitate comparisons of the performance of insurance companies.

State insurance laws require that insurance companies analyze the adequacy of their reserves annually. Our appointed actuaries must submit an opinion
that our statutory reserves are adequate to meet policy claims-paying obligations and related expenses.

Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act

The federal Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act (“RESPA”) and Regulation X, which implements it, require certain disclosures to be made to the
borrower at application, as to the lender’s good-faith estimate of loan origination costs, and at closing with respect to the real estate settlement statement;
apply to certain loan servicing practices including escrow accounts, member complaints, servicing transfers, lender-placed insurance, error resolution and loss
mitigation. RESPA also prohibits giving or accepting any fee, kickback or a thing of value for the referral of real estate settlement services, and giving or
accepting any portion of any fee charged for rendering a real estate settlement service other than for services actually performed. For most home loans, the
time of application (loan estimate) and time of loan closing disclosure requirements for RESPA and TILA have been combined into integrated disclosures
under the TILA-RESPA Integrated Disclosures (“TRID”) rule.

Electronic Fund Transfer Act and NACHA Rules

The federal Electronic Fund Transfer Act (“EFTA”) and Regulation E that implements it provide guidelines and restrictions on the provision of electronic
fund transfer services to consumers, and on making an electronic transfer of funds from consumers’ bank accounts. In addition, transfers performed by ACH
electronic transfers are subject to detailed timing and notification rules and guidelines administered by the National Automated Clearinghouse Association
(“NACHA”). Most transfers of funds in connection with the origination and repayment of home loans are performed by electronic fund transfers, such as
ACH transfers. We obtain necessary electronic authorization
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from borrowers for such transfers in compliance with such rules. Recently, the NACHA Board of Directors approved a change in the NACHA Operating
Rules that requires ACH Originators to utilize commercially reasonable fraudulent transaction detection systems. The rule change, effective on March 19,
2021, required ACH Originators, including lenders, to perform account validation as part of their commercially reasonable fraudulent transaction detection
system. This rule change required changes to our fraud detection systems associated with ACH electronic transfers that were properly implemented.

Electronic Signatures in Global & National Commerce Act/Uniform Electronic Transactions Act

The Federal Electronic Signatures in Global and National Commerce Act (“ESIGN”), and similar state laws, particularly the Uniform Electronic
Transactions Act (“UETA”), authorize the creation of legally binding and enforceable agreements utilizing electronic records and signatures. ESIGN and
UETA require businesses that want to use electronic records or signatures in consumer transactions and to provide electronic disclosures and other electronic
communications to consumers, to obtain the consumer’s consent to receive information electronically.

Privacy and Consumer Information Security

In the ordinary course of our business, we access, collect, store, use, transmit and otherwise process certain types of data, including personally identifiable
information (“PII”), which subjects us to certain federal and state privacy and information security laws, rules, industry standards and regulations designed to
regulate consumer information and data privacy, security and protection, and mitigate identity theft. These laws impose obligations with respect to the
collection, processing, storage, disposal, use, transfer, retention and disclosure of PII, and, with limited exceptions, give consumers the right to prevent use of
their PII and disclosure of it to third parties. The Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act of 1999 (the “Gramm-Leach Bliley Act”) requires us to disclose certain
information sharing practices to consumers, and any subsequent changes to such practices, and provide an opportunity for consumers to opt out of certain
sharing of their PII. This may limit our ability to share PII with third parties for certain purposes, such as marketing. In addition, the CFPB is expected to issue
a new rule regulating the disclosure of consumer and information, which may limit our ability to receive or use PII and other consumer information and
records supplied by third parties, or share information with third parties. Further, all 50 states and the District of Columbia have adopted data breach
notification laws that impose, in varying degrees, an obligation to notify affected individuals and government authorities in the event of a data or security
breach or compromise, including when a consumer’s PII has or may have been accessed by an unauthorized person. These laws may also require us to notify
relevant law enforcement, regulators or consumer reporting agencies in the event of a data breach. Some laws may also impose physical and electronic
security requirements regarding the safeguarding of PII.

On January 1, 2020, the California Consumer Privacy Act (“CCPA”) took effect. The CCPA provides for civil penalties for violations, as well as a private
right of action for certain data breaches that result in the loss of personal information. While personal information that we process that is subject to the
Gramm-Leach Bliley Act is exempt from the CCPA, the CCPA regulates other personal information that we collect and process in connection with the
business. A new California ballot initiative, the California Privacy Rights Act (“CPRA”) was passed in November 2020. Effective starting on January 1, 2023,
the CPRA imposes additional obligations on companies covered by the legislation and will significantly modify the CCPA, including by expanding
consumers’ rights with respect to certain sensitive personal information. The CPRA also creates a new state agency that will be vested with authority to
implement and enforce the CCPA and the CPRA. Certain other state laws impose similar privacy obligations. We anticipate that more states may enact
legislation similar to the CCPA, which provides consumers with new privacy rights and increases the privacy and security obligations of entities handling
certain personal information of such consumers. The CCPA has prompted a number of proposals for new federal and state-level privacy legislation. These
proposals, if enacted, may add additional complexity, variation in requirements, restrictions and potential legal risk, require additional investment of resources
in compliance programs, impact strategies and the availability of previously useful data and could result in increased compliance costs and/or changes in
business practices and policies.
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Legal Proceedings

In the ordinary course of business, the Company is, or may become, involved in various pending or threatened litigation matters related to our operations,
some of which may include claims for punitive or exemplary damages. For our business, customary litigation includes, but is not limited to, cases related to
title and escrow claims, for which we make provisions through our loss reserves. Further, ordinary course litigation may include class action and purported
class action lawsuits. We are not involved in any legal proceedings which reasonably could be expected to have a material adverse effect on our business,
results of operations or financial condition. For more information, see Part I, Item 3 “Legal Proceedings” of this Annual Report.

Properties

We primarily operate through a network of leased properties, including largely office spaces. We believe our existing facilities are adequate to meet our
current business requirements and that we will be able to find suitable space to accommodate any potential future expansion. Our leased properties total
approximately 344,886 square feet, with the most significant properties being our headquarters in San Francisco, California, our central operations in Irvine,
California and our insurance underwriter’s offices in Miami, Florida.

Human Capital Resources and Talent Development

Our top priority is building a durable and diverse culture with core values that enable people to come together to do the best work of their careers. Our
cultural values are designed to support, develop and inspire people to solve problems and achieve results that others are afraid to take on, ultimately unlocking
the potential of the organization, driving excellence across the business and solidifying us as a top career destination where people love to work.

• We have established guiding principles to help us achieve our top priority;

• Embodying our culture and values to ensure everyone feels welcome, included and able to contribute;

• Integrating a diversity and inclusion lens into everything we do;

• Guiding team members regarding where they are and where they are going — and giving them the tools and resources to get there;

• Supporting managers to become effective people leaders;

• Taking a principled approach to providing fair, relevant and competitive compensation and benefits to a dynamic workforce with diverse needs; and

• Leveraging data to better understand the employee experience and measure our success.

Diversity and Inclusion

We are committed to implementing initiatives across our businesses to both enhance the diversity of our organization and ensure we, as One Team, have
an inclusive culture where all employees feel heard, valued, respected and are encouraged to reach their full potential. Our commitment to Diversity and
Inclusion is represented through a framework that rests on 3 Pillars: Workforce / Workplace / Marketplace. These three pillars not only reflect our
commitment, but also our holistic approach of embedding this important work into all aspects of the company where everyone will be accountable to ensuring
its success.

We are committed to implementing initiatives across our businesses to both enhance the diversity of our organization and ensure we, as One Team, have
an inclusive culture where all employees feel heard, valued, respected and are encouraged to reach their full potential.

We do this by heightening our cultural competence, stimulating conversations, and providing the space for all of us to take collective steps in creating a
culture of mutual respect that embraces and promotes individual differences as well as reflects the customers and communities we serve.
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Further, we know that a workforce that is diverse and a workplace that is truly inclusive leads to more engaged employees, creates more effective teams
and fosters greater innovation and creativity. All of this enhances the overall profitability of our company and positions us to becoming an Employer of Choice
for all.

Our Diversity, Inclusion, Equity and Belonging objective is to be a company where each of us genuinely belongs, is respected and valued, and can do our
best work, and where diversity and inclusion is a competitive advantage. To help achieve these goals, we will focus on attraction, retention and development at
all levels. This means that we will ensure fair and transparent processes in talent assessment and hiring, performance management and career progression and
retention.

We are working to create a stronger sense of inclusion and belonging for our employees in general with a lens on representation. Our recent employee
survey showed that feelings of belonging are driven by many aspects of our experiences at work, which drives engagement. Engagement and belonging are
fueled by having a meaningful connection to others and opportunities to grow and develop our careers. Across all of these dimensions, we are committed to
building programs, systems and tools that foster greater belonging.

We have also established a range of educational programs in line with our values that reinforce our Diversity and Inclusion practices, which are required
training for our entire employee base as well as future employees.

Training and Manager Excellence

We believe strongly in investing in our employees and this is a focus throughout the employee lifecycle. Great care is taken to onboard new hires and set
them up for success, both in terms of a broad understanding of our mission, values, strategic point of differentiation and products, as well as role-specific
learning. Additionally, we offer ongoing learnings for employees throughout the year, including quarterly company-level All Hands meetings, monthly
programming on a diverse range of topics spanning general business updates to developmental topics, and other opportunities for learning from internal and
external speakers.

Employee Information

As of December 31, 2022, we employed 1,062 employees, primarily located in California, Florida and Texas. In 2022, we adopted three separate
workforce reduction plans to reduce costs, improve Local branch-level profitability, and focus resources on our instant underwriting capabilities. We expect
the execution of the reduction plans to be substantially complete in the first quarter of 2023. For additional information, see Note 17 “Accrued expenses and
other liabilities—Workforce reduction plans” contained in Part II, Item 8 “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Annual Report.

None of our employees are currently represented by a labor union or have terms of employment that are subject to a collective bargaining agreement. We
consider our relationship with our employees to be good and have not historically experienced any work stoppages.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors

In evaluating our company and our business, you should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties described below, together with the other
information in this Annual Report on Form 10-K (this “Annual Report”), including our consolidated financial statements and the related notes and in the
section titled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.” The occurrence of one or more of the events or
circumstances described in these risk factors, alone or in combination with other events or circumstances, may have a material adverse effect on our business,
reputation, revenue, financial condition, results of operations and future prospects, in which case the market price of our securities (including our common
stock) could decline, and you could lose part or all of your investment. Unless otherwise indicated, reference in this section and elsewhere in this Annual
Report to our business being adversely affected, negatively impacted or harmed will include an adverse effect on, or a negative impact or harm to, our
business, reputation, financial condition, results of operations, revenue and our future prospects. The material and other risks and uncertainties summarized
above in this Annual Report and described below are not intended to be exhaustive and are not the only ones we face. Additional risks and uncertainties not
presently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial may also impair our business operations. This Annual Report also contains forward-looking
statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in the forward-looking statements as a result
of a number of factors, including the risks described below. See “Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements.”

Unless the context otherwise requires, references to the “company,” “Company,” “Doma,” “we,” “us,” “our” and similar terms refer to Doma
Holdings, Inc. (f/k/a Capitol Investment Corp. V) and its consolidated subsidiaries. References to “Capitol” refer to our predecessor company prior to the
consummation of the Business Combination. References to “Old Doma” refer to Old Doma prior to the Business Combination and to States Title Holding,
Inc. (“States Title”), the wholly owned subsidiary of Doma, upon the consummation of the Business Combination.

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry

COVID-19 and resulting macroeconomic trends have adversely affected our business and could have adverse effects on our business in the future.

We operate in the real estate industry and our business volumes are directly affected by market trends for mortgage refinancing transactions, existing real
estate resale transactions and new real estate purchase transactions, particularly in the residential segment of the market. Our success depends on a high
volume of residential and, to a lesser extent, commercial real estate transactions, throughout the markets in which we operate. This transaction volume affects
all of the ways that we generate revenue, including the number of transactions our title insurance business underwrites. Responses to the COVID-19 pandemic
initially led to a material decline in purchase transactions. Subsequent U.S. federal stimulus measures, including interest rate reductions by the Federal
Reserve, and local regulatory initiatives, such as permitting remote notarization, eventually led to a quick recovery for the real estate industry and resulted in
an increase in mortgage refinancing and purchase volumes. These initiatives also led to a greater demand for homes, higher home prices, and record low home
inventories. In 2022, high inflation and the Federal Reserve’s response to increase interest rates have adversely affected the real estate market. If inflation
persists and the Federal Reserve continues to raise rates, mortgage rates may rise and may have a material adverse impact on our results of operations and
prospects. Additionally, other changes in the aforementioned economic policies and initiatives and/or existing or new limitations imposed by governmental
authorities on processes and procedures attendant to real estate transactions, such as in-person showings, in-home inspections and appraisals and county
recordings, negative market reactions to new measures, as well as COVID-19’s overall impact on the U.S. economy, continue to create volatility and
uncertainty in the real estate market and may in the future have a material adverse impact on our results of operations and prospects.

The COVID-19 pandemic may also affect the volume and severity of our title insurance claims in the future. As part of the federal response to the
COVID-19 pandemic, the CARES Act initially allowed borrowers to request a mortgage forbearance and prevented lenders and loan service providers from
foreclosing on mortgages backed by the government-sponsored enterprises (“GSE”), such as Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac, or federal mortgages. The federal
moratorium on foreclosures of GSE-backed mortgages expired on July 31, 2021. The expiration of these foreclosure moratoriums could result in an influx of
foreclosure proceedings, which could expose lenders to mortgage losses. If defaults or foreclosures are at elevated levels, there may be an influx of title
insurance claims under loan policies or claims might be reported earlier than under normal conditions. A significant increase in claim
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volume or the severity of those claims could have an adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition.

To the extent the COVID-19 pandemic adversely affects the Company’s business or financial condition, it may also have the effect of heightening many
of the other risks described in this Part I, Item 1A of this Annual Report.

We have a history of net losses and could continue to incur substantial net losses in the future.

We have incurred net losses on an annual basis since our incorporation in 2016. We incurred net losses of $35.1 million, $113.1 million and $302.2
million for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2021, and 2022, respectively. As a result of these losses, we had an accumulated deficit of $79.1 million,
$192.2 million and $494.8 million as of December 31, 2020, 2021 and 2022, respectively. We continue to invest in our business to expand and improve our
underwriting product offerings and enhance our customer experience and, as a result, losses could continue in the future. These investments may not result in
increased revenue or growth in our business. If we fail to manage our losses or to grow our revenue sufficiently, our business will be seriously harmed.

In addition, as a public company, we have and will continue to incur significant additional legal, accounting and other expenses that we did not incur as a
private company. We may encounter unforeseen or unpredictable factors, including unforeseen operating expenses, complications or delays, which may also
result in increased costs. Further, it is difficult to predict the size and growth rate of our market or demand for our underwriting products, and success of
current or potential future competitors. The net losses we incur may fluctuate significantly from period to period. We will need to generate significant
additional revenue and maintain or improve our gross margins to achieve and sustain profitability. It is possible we will not achieve profitability or, even if we
do achieve profitability, we may not remain profitable for any substantial period of time.

Our future growth and profitability depend in part on our ability to successfully operate in the highly competitive real estate and insurance industries.

The real estate and insurance industries are intensely competitive and are likely to remain so for the foreseeable future. Our competitors include larger and
better capitalized traditional insurers with substantially longer operating histories and may in the future include one or more of a growing number of other
technology companies entering the insurance industry. Some of these competitors may be more resilient to pricing competition than we are or have the
resources necessary to develop competing machine intelligence technologies or reverse engineer certain aspects of our technology, which could adversely
affect our prospects.

Even though consumers have a legal right to select their own settlement service vendors and title insurance providers, consumers generally rely on
referrals from real estate agents, lenders, developers and attorneys when selecting their settlement services vendors and title insurance providers. There is a
great deal of competition among settlement service vendors and title insurance providers for these sources of transactions. We source a significant number of
our customer transactions through our Distribution Partners (as defined below) and third-party title agents (“Third-Party Agent(s)”). We rely on our go-to-
market team to attract, develop and retain these Distribution Partnerships and Third-Party Agents. However, our business and proprietary data science and
machine intelligence algorithms are still nascent compared to the established business models and practices of the well-established incumbents in the title
insurance industry. For example, the top four title insurance companies accounted for about 82% of industry-wide premium volume for the first nine months
of 2022. These competitors rely on their well-established national brands, reputation and experience, size, financial strength and ratings. This competition
could adversely affect demand for our products, reduce our market share and growth prospects, and potentially reduce our profitability. We may also be unable
to attract and retain the business development talent necessary to compete with the well-established brands, regional underwriters and new entrants into the
title and escrow industry.

Our future growth will depend in large part on our ability to grow our underwriting business using our patented technology and machine intelligence-
driven processes to disrupt the way title underwriting has traditionally been conducted and sold. However, due to the competitive nature of the real estate and
insurance industries, there can be no assurance that we will continue to compete effectively within our industries, or that competitive pressures will not have a
material effect on our business, results of operations or financial condition.

Our success and ability to grow our business depend on retaining and expanding our Distribution Partners. If we fail to add new Distribution Partners or
retain current Distribution Partners, our business, revenue, operating results and financial condition could be harmed.
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We acquire a significant amount of our order volume from local real estate agents, branch loan officers and our Doma Enterprise partners (collectively,
“Distribution Partners”). Our success and ability to grow our title and escrow business depend on retaining and expanding our Distribution Partner base. We
must retain and expand our relationships with Distribution Partners to significantly expand our order volumes, allow for future product offerings, achieve
benefits of scale, and enhance the quantity and quality of proprietary data on which our machine intelligence technology’s capability is based.

Our Doma Enterprise partnership agreements do not contain exclusivity provisions that would prevent such Doma Enterprise partners from providing
leads to competing companies. In addition, the agreements governing these Doma Enterprise partnerships contain termination provisions that allow the partner
to terminate the agreement early without cause. If one or more of these significant Doma Enterprise partners terminate our relationship or reduce the number
of leads provided to us, without some growth offset with other Doma Enterprise partners, our business would be harmed. Our failure to retain any of our
existing Doma Enterprise partner relationships, either due to the expiration of their agreements or as a result of their exercise of early termination rights or
otherwise, could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations (including growth rates) and financial condition, to the extent we do not acquire
new Doma Enterprise partners of similar size and profitability or otherwise grow our business. There can be no assurance that these Doma Enterprise partners
will not terminate our relationship with them or continue referring business to us in the future.

The competition for new Distribution Partners is also significant, and we may be unsuccessful in our attempts to expand our Distribution Partner base,
which could adversely affect our ability to grow. Moreover, the acquisition of a substantial number of new Distribution Partners may require additional
staffing and investment in customer acquisition. Our ability to obtain and retain Distribution Partners depends on our ability to strengthen our reputation and
brand, provide superior customer experiences, and maintain our competitive pricing. Additionally, some multi-state lenders may be reluctant to partner with us
if they have long-established relationships with larger, traditional title insurers, whom they may perceive to offer reliability given their size, financial
resources, and longevity.

Our success depends to a significant extent on the timely rollout of our machine intelligence technology across our underwriting operations.

On January 7, 2019, we acquired from the Lennar Corporation (“Lennar”), its subsidiary, NATIC (which has been renamed “Doma Title Insurance, Inc.”
or referred to herein as “DTI”), a major national underwriter, and a significant volume portfolio of national retail operations under the North American Title
Company brand (which is being rebranded as Doma Insurance Agency in its related markets) (collectively, the “Acquired Business”) (the “North American
Title Acquisition”). Since the North American Title Acquisition, we have continued to invest in the development and rollout of our machine intelligence
platform, Doma Intelligence, and have implemented several initiatives to realign the operations of the Acquired Business. We continue to transform the
Acquired Business’s operations, including streamlining our physical branch footprint and rationalizing branch back-office functions into a common corporate
function, implemented a common production platform across all of our branches, and implemented our machine intelligence technology in parts of our DTI
operations. We continue to invest substantially in our machine intelligence technology, and our success depends to a significant extent on our ability to expand
the use of our machine intelligence underwriting capabilities. Significant delays to our planned expansion of the Doma Intelligence platform in our
underwriting operations, which could occur due to, among other reasons, technology adoption delays in our Third-Party Agent network, availability of title
and property data in certain areas, inability to hire or train adequate service personnel, or regulatory requirements, could have a material adverse impact on our
results of operations and growth prospects, including our margin growth and ability to realize significant cost savings over time as manual processes are
replaced with our data science-driven approach to underwriting services.

We have a limited operating history and a novel business model. This makes it difficult to evaluate our current business performance and growth
prospects.

We have a limited operating history. Since we launched the Doma Intelligence platform in February 2018, our size has rapidly changed, which makes it
difficult to evaluate our current business performance or future prospects. Our historical results may not be indicative of, or comparable to, our future results.
Our inability to adequately assess our performance and growth could have a material adverse effect on our brand, business, financial condition and results of
operations.

23



Table of Contents

In addition, as our business model of using machine intelligence technology to enable instant title underwriting is novel, we have limited data to validate
key aspects of our business model, such as the use of our proprietary data science and machine intelligence algorithms. It may take many years for title
insurance claims to arise, and we cannot provide any assurance that the early claims data that we collect will provide useful measures for evaluating the Doma
Intelligence platform and our automation capabilities or for determining reserve and reinsurance requirements. Limited claims history could result in our not
setting aside adequate reserves and/or maintaining sufficient reinsurance, which may adversely affect our ability to write future title insurance policies,
resulting in the assumption of more risk with respect to those policies or an increase in our capital requirements.

Our brand may not become as widely known or accepted as incumbents’ brands or our brand may become tarnished.

Many of our competitors in the real estate and title insurance industries have brands that are well recognized. As a relatively new entrant into the title and
escrow market, we have spent, and expect that we may for the foreseeable future continue to spend on creating brand awareness and building our reputation.
We may not be able to build brand awareness to levels matching our competitors, and our efforts at building, maintaining and enhancing our reputation could
fail and/or may not be cost-effective. Complaints or negative publicity about our business practices, our marketing and advertising campaigns (including
marketing affiliations or partnerships), our compliance with applicable laws and regulations, the integrity of the data that we provide to customers and
partners, data privacy and security issues, and other aspects of our business, whether real or perceived, could diminish confidence in our brand, which could
adversely affect our reputation and business. As we expand our product offerings and enter new markets, we will need to establish our reputation with current
and prospective homeowners, lenders, title agents, real estate professionals, government sponsored entities, and regulatory agencies and to the extent we are
not successful in creating positive impressions, our business in these newer markets could be adversely affected. While we may choose to engage in a broader
marketing campaign to further promote our brand, this effort may not be successful or cost-effective. If we are unable to maintain or enhance our reputation or
enhance consumer awareness of our brand in a cost-effective manner, our business, results of operations and financial condition could be materially adversely
affected.

We may not be able to manage our growth effectively.

Prior to the recent rising interest rate environment in 2022, we had experienced substantial growth in our operations, and we expect, as we expand our
underwriting capabilities and as the interest rate environment improves, to again experience substantial growth in our business. Our rapid growth had placed,
and in the future, may place, significant demands on management and our operational and financial resources. We have hired in periods of growth and expect
to hire additional personnel to support any future rapid growth. Our organizational structure may become more complex as we add staff, and we will need to
enhance our operational, financial and management controls as well as our reporting systems and procedures. We will require significant capital expenditures
and the allocation of valuable management resources to grow and change in these areas without undermining our corporate culture of rapid innovation,
teamwork and focus on the experience for current and prospective homeowners, lenders, title agents and real estate professionals. If we cannot manage our
future potential growth effectively to maintain the quality and efficiency of our customer experience as well as the cost-effectiveness of our products, our
business could be harmed as a result, and our results of operations and financial condition could be materially and adversely affected.

If we are unable to expand our product offerings, our prospects for future growth may be adversely affected.

We are, and intend in the future to continue, investing significant resources in developing new, and enhancing existing, product offerings, including an
expansion of the use of our machine intelligence underwriting approach. Our ability to attract and retain customers and partners and therefore increase our
revenue depends on our ability to successfully expand our product offerings. New initiatives and product offerings are inherently risky, as they involve
unproven business strategies and new products and services with which we may have limited or no prior development or operating experience. Risks from our
innovative initiatives including those associated with potential defects in the design and development of the technologies used to automate processes, the
misapplication of technologies, the reliance on data that may prove inadequate, and the failure to meet customer and partner expectations, among others.
Failure to accurately predict demand or growth with respect to new or enhanced products in which we invest could have an adverse impact on our business,
and there is always risk that these new products and services will be unprofitable, will increase our costs or will decrease our operating margins or take longer
than anticipated to achieve target margins. Further, our development efforts with respect to these initiatives
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could distract management from current operations and could divert capital and other resources from our existing business. Moreover, insurance regulation
applicable to new products or product enhancements could limit our ability to introduce new product offerings, and required regulatory approvals could delay
product introductions. In addition, technological initiatives that we may seek to bring to market which aim to disrupt our industry may prompt negative
campaigns from competitors and others with a vested interest in the status quo. As a result of these risks, we could invest significant amounts of capital or
other resources in product offerings that are unsuccessful, experience reputational damage or other adverse effects, which could be material. Additionally, we
can provide no assurance that we will be able to develop, commercially market and achieve acceptance of our new products and services. Our investment of
resources to develop new products and services may either be insufficient or result in expenses that are excessive in light of revenue actually originated from
these new products and services. If we are unable to offer new or enhanced products by continuing to innovate and improve on our technology, we may be
unable to successfully compete with other companies that are currently in, or that may enter, our industry, we may not be able to realize the expected benefits
of our investments, and our reputation and future growth could be materially adversely affected.

Our product development cycles are complex, and we may incur significant expenses before we generate revenues and efficiencies, if any, from new
products.

Because our products are highly technical and require rigorous testing, development cycles can be complex. Moreover, development projects can be
technically challenging and expensive, and may be delayed or defeated by the inability to obtain the necessary licensing or other regulatory approvals. The
nature of these development cycles may cause us to experience delays between the time we incur expenses associated with research and development, and the
time we generate revenues and efficiencies, if any, from such expenses. If we expend a significant amount of resources on research and development, and our
efforts do not lead to the successful introduction or improvement of products that are competitive in the marketplace, this could materially and adversely affect
our business and results of operations. Additionally, anticipated demand from customers and partners for a product we are developing could decrease after the
development cycle has commenced. Such decreased demand from customers and partners may cause us to fall short of our sales targets, and we may
nonetheless be unable to avoid substantial costs associated with the product’s development. If we are unable to complete product development cycles
successfully and in a timely fashion and generate revenues and efficiencies from such future products, the growth of our business may be harmed.

Adverse changes in economic conditions, especially those affecting the levels of real estate and mortgage activity, may reduce our revenues.

Our financial condition and results of operations are affected by changes in economic conditions, particularly mortgage interest rates, credit availability,
real estate prices and consumer confidence. Our revenues and earnings have fluctuated in the past due to the cyclical nature of the housing industry and we
expect them to fluctuate in the future.

The demand for our title and escrow offerings is dependent primarily on the volume of residential real estate transactions. The volume of these
transactions historically has been influenced by such factors as mortgage interest rates, availability of financing and the overall state of the economy.
Typically, when interest rates are increasing or when the economy is experiencing a downturn, real estate activity declines. As a result, the real estate and title
insurance industries tend to experience decreased revenues and earnings.

Our revenues and results of operations have been and may in the future be adversely affected by a decline in affordable real estate, real estate activity or
the availability of financing alternatives. In addition, weakness or adverse changes in the level of real estate activity could have a material adverse effect on
our consolidated financial condition or results of operations.

Historically, the demand for products offered through our Doma Intelligence platform has been driven by mortgage refinancing activity, which has grown
in periods of lower interest rates. If interest rates in the United States continue to rise, or general mortgage activity continues to decrease for any other reason,
it is likely that mortgage activity will decline, which would negatively impact our business. If we do not further expand our customer and partner base or
increase wallet share with existing partners, we may experience lower transaction volume than our historical volume or expectations during periods of lower
mortgage activity.
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We expect several factors to cause our results of operations to fluctuate on a quarterly and annual basis, which may make it difficult to predict our future
performance.

Our revenue and results of operations could vary significantly from quarter to quarter and year to year, and may fail to match periodic expectations as a
result of a variety of factors, many of which are outside of our control. Our results may vary from period to period as a result of fluctuations in the number of
real estate transactions we handle, as well as fluctuations in the timing and amount of our expenses. In addition, the insurance industry is subject to its own
cyclical trends and uncertainties, including fluctuating interest rates and real estate prices. Fluctuations and variability across the industry may also affect our
revenue. As a result, comparing our results of operations on a period-to-period basis may not be meaningful, and the results of any one period should not be
relied on as an indication of future performance. Our results of operations may not meet the expectations of investors or public market analysts who follow us,
which may adversely affect our stock price. In addition to other risk factors discussed in this section and elsewhere in this Annual Report, factors that may
contribute to the variability of our quarterly and annual results include:

• our ability to attract new customers and partners, and retain existing customers and partners, including in a cost-effective manner;
• our ability to implement innovative initiatives and/or launch new or expand existing product offerings;

• our ability to accurately forecast revenue and losses, and appropriately plan our expenses;

• the effects of changes in search engine placement and prominence;

• the effects of increased competition on our business;

• our ability to successfully maintain our position in and expand in existing markets as well as successfully enter new markets;

• our ability to protect our existing intellectual property and to create new intellectual property;

• our ability to maintain growth and effectively manage that growth;

• the length and unpredictability of our sales cycle;

• our ability to keep pace with technology changes in the title insurance industry;

• the success of our sales, marketing and customer service efforts;

• costs associated with defending claims, including title claims, intellectual property infringement claims, misclassifications and related judgments or
settlements;

• the impact of, and changes in, governmental or other regulation affecting our business;

• changes in the economy generally , which could impact the industries in which we operate;

• the attraction and retention of qualified employees and key personnel;

• our ability to choose and effectively manage third-party service providers;

• our ability to identify and engage in joint ventures and strategic partnerships;

• the effectiveness of our internal controls; and

• changes in our tax rates or exposure to additional tax liabilities.

The historical financial results of Old Doma included elsewhere in this Annual Report may not be indicative of what our actual results of operations
would have been as a standalone public company or those we will achieve in the future.

The historical financial results of Old Doma included in this Annual Report may not reflect the results of operations or cash flows Old Doma would have
achieved as a standalone public company during the periods presented or those we will achieve in the future. This is primarily the result of the following
factors: (i) we will incur additional ongoing costs as a result of the Business Combination, including costs related to public company reporting, investor
relations and compliance with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (the “Sarbanes-Oxley Act”); and
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(ii) our capital structure is different from that reflected in Old Doma’s historical financial statements. Our future results of operations could be materially
different from amounts reflected in Old Doma’s historical financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report, so it may be difficult for investors to
compare our future results to historical results or to evaluate Old Doma’s relative performance or trends in its business.

We may require additional capital to support business growth or to satisfy our regulatory capital and surplus requirements, and this capital might not be
available on acceptable terms, if at all.

We intend to continue to make investments to support our business growth and may require additional funds to respond to business challenges, including
the need to develop new features and products or enhance our existing products and services, satisfy our regulatory capital and surplus requirements, cover
losses, improve our operating infrastructure or acquire complementary businesses and technologies. We continue to invest in the instant underwriting
capabilities of the Doma Intelligence platform, and as a result, our capital expenditures and working capital requirements may increase in the future. Many
factors will affect our capital needs as well as their amount and timing, including our growth and profitability, expansion of our footprint into new
geographies, regulatory requirements, market disruptions and other developments. If our present capital and surplus is insufficient to meet our current or
future operating requirements, including regulatory capital and surplus requirements, or to cover losses, we may need to raise additional funds through equity
or debt financings or curtail our product development activities or other growth initiatives.

Historically, we have funded our operations, marketing expenditures and capital expenditures primarily through debt and equity issuances. We evaluate
financing opportunities from time to time, and our ability to obtain financing will depend, among other things, on our development efforts, business plans and
operating performance, and the condition of the capital markets at the time we seek financing. We cannot be certain that additional financing will be available
to us on favorable terms, or at all.

If we raise additional funds through the issuance of equity, equity-linked or debt securities, those securities may have rights, preferences or privileges
senior to those of our common stock, and existing stockholders may experience dilution. Any debt financing secured by us in the future could require that a
substantial portion of our operating cash flow be devoted to the payment of interest and principal on such indebtedness, which may decrease available funds
for other business activities, and could involve restrictive covenants relating to our capital-raising activities and other financial and operational matters, which
may make it more difficult for us to obtain additional capital and to pursue business opportunities. Moreover, as the holding company of insurance subsidiary,
we are subject to extensive laws and regulations in every jurisdiction in which we conduct business, and any issuances of equity or convertible debt securities
to secure additional funds may be impeded by regulatory approvals or requirements imposed by such regulatory authorities if such issuances were deemed to
result in a person acquiring “control” of our company under applicable insurance laws and regulations. Such regulatory requirements may require potential
investors to disclose their organizational structure and detailed financial statements as well as require managing partners, directors and/or senior officers to
submit biographical affidavits, which may deter investments in our company.

If we are unable to obtain adequate financing or financing on terms satisfactory to us, when we require it, our ability to continue to support our business
growth, maintain minimum amounts of risk-based capital and to respond to business challenges could be significantly limited, and our business, results of
operations and financial condition could be adversely affected.

We collect, process, store, share, disclose and use consumer information and other data and are subject to stringent and changing privacy laws,
regulations and standards, policies and contractual obligations. Our actual or perceived failure to protect such information and data, respect consumers’
privacy or comply with data privacy and security laws and regulations and our policies and contractual obligations could damage our reputation and
brand and harm our business and operating results.

Use of technology to offer title and escrow products involves the storage and transmission of information, including personal information, in relation to
our staff, contractors, business partners and current, past or potential customers. We have legal and contractual obligations regarding confidentiality and the
protection and appropriate use of personally identifiable and other proprietary or confidential information. Data privacy has become a significant issue in the
United States and around the world. The regulatory framework for privacy issues worldwide is rapidly evolving and is likely to remain uncertain for the
foreseeable future. Many government bodies and agencies have adopted or are considering adopting laws and regulations regarding the processing, collection,
use,
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storage and disclosure of personal information and breach notification procedures. We are also required to comply with laws, rules and regulations, as well as
contractual obligations, relating to data security. Interpretation of these laws, rules and regulations and their application to our platform in applicable
jurisdictions is ongoing and cannot be fully determined at this time.

We are subject to numerous and constantly evolving privacy laws and regulations. Certain of our activities are subject to the privacy regulations of the
Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act, along with its implementing regulations, which restricts certain collection, processing, storage, use and disclosure of personal
information, requires notice to individuals of privacy practices, provides individuals with certain rights to prevent the use and disclosure of certain nonpublic
or otherwise legally protected information and imposes requirements for the safeguarding and proper destruction of personal information through the issuance
of data security standards or guidelines. On October 24, 2017, the National Association of Insurance Commissioners (“NAIC”) adopted its Insurance Data
Security Model Law, or the Insurance Data Security Model Law, intended to serve as model legislation for states to enact in order to govern the cybersecurity
and data protection practices of insurers, insurance agents, and other licensed entities registered under state insurance laws. Alabama, Connecticut, Delaware,
Indiana, Louisiana, Michigan, Mississippi, New Hampshire, Ohio, South Carolina and Virginia have adopted versions of the Insurance Data Security Model
Law, each with a different effective date, and other states may adopt versions of the Insurance Data Security Model Law in the future. The New York
Department of Financial Services has promulgated its own Cybersecurity Requirements for Financial Services Companies that is not based upon the Insurance
Data Security Model Law, and requires insurance companies to establish and maintain a cybersecurity program, and implement and maintain cybersecurity
policies and procedures with specific requirements. In addition, the California Financial Information Privacy Act further regulates how California consumers’
nonpublic personal information is shared and includes certain more stringent obligations than the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act.

On June 28, 2018, California enacted a new privacy law known as the California Consumer Privacy Act of 2018 (“CCPA”), which became effective
January 1, 2020. The CCPA increases privacy rights for California residents, and imposes obligations on companies that process their personal information,
including an obligation to provide certain new disclosures to such residents. Specifically, among other things, the CCPA creates new consumer rights, and
imposes corresponding obligations on covered businesses, relating to the access to, deletion of, and sharing of personal information collected by covered
businesses, including California residents’ right to access and delete their personal information, opt out of certain sharing and sales of their personal
information, and receive detailed information about how their personal information is used. The law exempts from certain requirements of the CCPA certain
information that is collected, processed, sold, or disclosed pursuant to the California Financial Information Privacy Act or the federal Gramm-Leach-Bliley
Act. The definition of “personal information” in the CCPA is broad and may encompass other information that we maintain beyond that excluded under the
Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act or the California Financial Information Privacy Act exemption. Further, the CCPA provides for civil penalties for violations, as well
as a private right of action for certain data breaches that result in the loss of personal information. This private right of action is expected to increase the
likelihood of, and risks associated with, data breach litigation. In addition, it remains unclear how various provisions of the CCPA will be interpreted and
enforced. Moreover, the California Privacy Rights Act (“CPRA”) was approved by California voters in November 2020 and will further modify and expand
the CCPA, including by expanding consumers’ rights with respect to certain personal information and creating a new state agency to oversee implementation
and enforcement efforts. We may be required to expend significant time and financial resources to evaluate our practices for compliance with CPRA. Some
observers have noted that the CCPA and CPRA could mark the beginning of a trend toward more stringent privacy legislation in the United States, and
multiple states have enacted, or are expected to enact, similar laws. There is also discussion in Congress of a new comprehensive federal data protection and
privacy law to which we likely would be subject if it is enacted. The effects of the CCPA and CPRA, and other similar state or federal laws, are potentially
significant and may require us to modify our data processing practices and policies, and to incur substantial costs and potential liability in an effort to comply
with such legislation.

Complying with privacy and data protection laws and regulations may cause us to incur substantial operational costs or require us to change our business
practices. Although we take steps to comply with financial industry cybersecurity regulations and other data security laws such as the CCPA and believe we
are materially compliant with their requirements, our failure to comply with new or existing cybersecurity regulations could result in material regulatory
actions and other penalties. Because the interpretation and application of privacy and data protection laws are still uncertain, it is possible that these laws and
other actual or alleged legal obligations, such as contractual or self-regulatory obligations, may be interpreted and applied in a manner that is inconsistent with
our existing data management practices or the features of our platform. If so, in addition to the possibility of fines, lawsuits and other
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claims, we could be required to fundamentally change our business activities and practices or modify our platform, which could have an adverse effect on our
business. Any inability to adequately address privacy concerns, even if unfounded, or comply with applicable privacy or data protection laws, regulations and
policies, could result in additional cost and liability to us, damage our reputation, inhibit sales and adversely affect our business, results of operations and
financial condition.

Additionally, we are subject to the terms of our privacy policies and privacy-related obligations to third parties. Any failure or perceived failure by us to
comply with our privacy policies, our privacy-related obligations to consumers or other third parties, or our privacy-related legal obligations, or any
compromise of security that results in the unauthorized release or transfer of sensitive information, which could include personally identifiable information or
other user data, may result in governmental or regulatory investigations, enforcement actions, regulatory fines, compliance orders, litigation or public
statements against us by consumer advocacy groups or others, and could cause consumers to lose trust in us, all of which could be costly and have an adverse
effect on our business. In addition, new and changed rules and regulations regarding privacy, data protection (in particular those that impact the use of
machine intelligence) and cross-border transfers of consumer information could cause us to delay planned uses and disclosures of data to comply with
applicable privacy and data protection requirements. For example, our use of certain vendors outside of the United States to perform services on our platform
could subject us to additional data protection regimes and increased risk of noncompliance. Moreover, if third parties that we work with violate applicable
laws or our policies, such violations also may put personal information at risk, which may result in increased regulatory scrutiny and have a material adverse
effect to our reputation, business and operating results.

If the security of the personal information that we (or our vendors) collect, store or process is compromised or is otherwise accessed without authorization,
or if we fail to comply with our commitments and assurances regarding the privacy and security of such information, our reputation may be harmed and
we may be exposed to significant liability and loss of business.

Cyberattacks and other malicious internet-based activity continue to increase. In addition to traditional computer “hackers,” malicious code (such as
viruses and worms), employee theft or misuse and denial-of-service attacks, sophisticated nation-state and nation-state-supported actors now engage in attacks
(including advanced persistent threat intrusions). On July 18, 2021, Cloudstar, a provider of technology solutions to the title insurance industry, reported a
successful ransomware attack on its systems. While this attack did not have any impact on our systems and had no material impact on our business or
operations, it may indicate the specific targeting of the real estate settlement services industry. We may experience an increased risk of cyberattacks to the
extent any such targeting exists and continues. We cannot guarantee that our or our vendors’ security measures will be sufficient to protect against
unauthorized access to or other compromise of personal information. The techniques used to sabotage or to obtain unauthorized access to our or our vendors’
technology, systems, networks and/or physical facilities in which data is stored or through which data is transmitted change frequently, and we or our vendors
may be unable to implement adequate preventative measures or stop security breaches while they are occurring. The security measures that we have integrated
into our technology, systems, networks and physical facilities, and any such measures implemented by our vendors, which are designed to protect against,
detect and minimize security breaches, may not be adequate to prevent or detect service interruption, system failure or data loss.

Security breaches, including by hackers or insiders, could expose personal or confidential information, which could result in potential regulatory
investigations, fines, penalties, compliance orders, liability, litigation and remediation costs, as well as reputational harm, any of which could materially
adversely affect our business and financial results. Third parties may also exploit vulnerabilities in, or obtain unauthorized access to, technology, systems,
networks and/or physical facilities utilized by our vendors. For example, unauthorized parties could steal or access our users’ names, email addresses, physical
addresses, phone numbers and other information that we collect when providing our title and escrow products such as bank account or other payment
information. Further, outside parties may attempt to fraudulently induce employees or consumers to disclose sensitive information in order to gain access to
our information or consumers’ information. Any of these incidents, or any other types of security or privacy-related incidents, could result in an investigation
by a competent regulator, resulting in a fine or penalty, or an order to implement specific compliance measures. It could also trigger claims by affected third
parties. While we use encryption and authentication technology licensed from third parties designed to effect secure transmission of such information, we
cannot guarantee the security of the transfer and storage of personal or other confidential information. Any or all of the issues above could adversely affect our
ability to attract or retain customers or
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partners, or subject us to governmental or third-party lawsuits, investigations, regulatory fines or other actions or liability, resulting in a material adverse effect
to our business, results of operations and financial condition.

We are required to comply with laws, rules and regulations as well as contractual obligations that require us to maintain the security of personal
information. We have contractual and legal obligations to notify relevant stakeholders of security breaches. We operate in an industry prone to cyberattacks.
We have previously and may in the future become the target of cyberattacks by third parties seeking unauthorized access to our or our customers’ data or to
disrupt our ability to provide our services. Failure to prevent or mitigate cyberattacks could result in the unauthorized access to personal information. Most
jurisdictions have enacted laws requiring companies to notify individuals, regulatory authorities and others of security breaches involving certain types of
data. In addition, our agreements with certain customers and partners may require us to notify them in the event of a security breach. Such mandatory
disclosures are costly, could lead to negative publicity, may cause our customers or partners to lose confidence in the effectiveness of our security measures,
and require us to expend significant capital and other resources to respond to and/or alleviate problems caused by the actual or perceived security breach. A
security breach of any of our vendors that process personal information of our customers may pose similar risks.

A security breach may cause us to breach customer or partner contracts. Our agreements with certain customers or partners may require us to use
industry-standard or reasonable measures to safeguard personal information. We also may be subject to laws that require us to use industry-standard or
reasonable security measures to safeguard personal information. A security breach could lead to claims by our customers or other relevant stakeholders that
we have failed to comply with such legal or contractual obligations. As a result, we could be subject to legal action or our customers or partners could end
their relationships with us. There can be no assurance that the limitations of liability in our contracts would be enforceable or adequate or would otherwise
protect us from liabilities or damages, and in some cases our agreements with customers or partners do not limit our remediation costs or liability with respect
to data breaches.

Litigation resulting from security breaches may adversely affect our business. Unauthorized access to our technology, systems, networks or physical
facilities, or those of our vendors, could result in litigation with our customers or other relevant stakeholders. These proceedings could force us to spend
money in defense or settlement, divert management’s time and attention, increase our costs of doing business, or adversely affect our reputation. We could be
required to fundamentally change our business activities and practices or modify our products and/or technology capabilities in response to such litigation,
which could have an adverse effect on our business. If a security breach were to occur, and the confidentiality, integrity or availability of personal information
was disrupted, we could incur significant liability, or our technology, systems or networks may be perceived as less desirable, which could negatively affect
our business and damage our reputation.

We may not have adequate insurance coverage. The successful assertion of one or more large claims against us that exceed our available insurance
coverage, or result in changes to our insurance policies (including premium increases or the imposition of large deductible or coinsurance requirements), could
have an adverse effect on our business. In addition, we cannot be sure that our existing insurance coverage and coverage for errors and omissions will continue
to be available on acceptable terms or that our insurers will not deny coverage as to any future claim.

Technology disruptions or failures, including a failure in our operational or security systems or infrastructure, or those of third parties with whom we do
business, could disrupt our business or cause legal or reputational harm.

We are dependent on the secure, efficient, and uninterrupted operation of our technology infrastructure, including computer systems, related software
applications and data centers, as well as those of certain third parties and affiliates. Our platform and computer/telecommunication networks must
accommodate a high volume of traffic and deliver frequently updated information, the accuracy and timeliness of which is critical to our business. Our
technology must be able to facilitate a title and escrow experience that equals or exceeds the experience provided by our competitors. We have or may in the
future experience service disruptions and failures caused by system or software failure, fire, power loss, telecommunications failures, team member
misconduct, human error, computer hackers, computer viruses and disabling devices, malicious or destructive code, denial of service or information, as well as
natural or man-made disasters, weather and climate-related events, pandemics or other similar events, and our disaster recovery planning may not be sufficient
for all situations. This is especially applicable when many of our team members work from their homes, as our team members access our secure networks
through their home networks. The implementation of technology changes and upgrades to maintain current and integrate new technology systems may also
cause service interruptions. Any such disruption could interrupt or delay our ability to
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provide services to our Distribution Partners, Third-Party Agents and consumers, and could also impair the ability of third parties to provide critical services to
us.

Additionally, the technology and other controls and processes we have created to help us identify misrepresented information in our title and escrow
operations were designed to obtain reasonable, not absolute, assurance that such information is identified and addressed appropriately. Accordingly, such
controls may not have detected, and may fail in the future to detect, all misrepresented information in our title and escrow operations. If our operations are
disrupted or otherwise negatively affected by a technology disruption or failure, this could result in customer and partner dissatisfaction and damage to our
reputation and brand and material adverse impacts on our business. We do not carry business interruption insurance sufficient to compensate us for all losses
that may result from interruptions in our service as a result of systems disruptions, failures and similar events.

Our title and escrow business relies on data from consumers and unaffiliated third parties, the unavailability or inaccuracy of which could limit the
functionality of our products.

We use data, technology and intellectual property from consumers and unaffiliated third parties in certain of our products, including the data used by the
machine learning algorithms in the Doma Intelligence platform, and we may license additional third-party technology and intellectual property in the future.
Any errors or defects in this third-party data, technology and intellectual property could result in errors that could harm our brand and business. In addition,
licensed data, technology and intellectual property may not continue to be available on commercially reasonable terms, or at all.

Further, although we believe that there are currently adequate replacements for the third-party data, technology and intellectual property we presently use,
the loss of our right to use any of this data, technology and intellectual property could result in delays in producing or delivering affected products until
equivalent data, technology or intellectual property is identified, licensed or otherwise procured, and integrated.

Our business would be disrupted if any data, technology and intellectual property we license from others or functional equivalents of this software were
either no longer available to us or no longer offered to us on commercially reasonable terms. In either case, we would be required either to attempt to redesign
our products to function with data, technology and intellectual property available from other parties or to develop these components ourselves, which would
result in increased costs and could result in delays in product sales and the release of new product offerings. Alternatively, we might be forced to limit the
features available in affected products. Any of these results could harm our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Our success depends upon the real estate and title insurance industries continuing to adopt new products at their current pace and the continued growth
and acceptance of data science and machine intelligence-driven products and services as effective alternatives to traditional manual products and services.

We provide our title and escrow products through our platform that competes with traditional manual counterparts. We believe that the continued growth
and acceptance of instant experiences generally will depend, to a large extent, on the continued growth in commercial use of the internet and the continued
migration of traditional offline markets and industries online.

The title and escrow process may not migrate to new technologies as quickly as (or at the levels that) we expect, and existing or future federal and state
laws may prevent us from offering certain of our title and escrow products. For example, although a majority of states have enacted permanent remote online
notarization, states such as California do not allow remote notarization, and others may not enact permanent authorization for remote notarization, which may
impact our ability to introduce our products in certain markets.

Furthermore, although consumers have a legal right to select their own title insurance provider, as well as all of their settlement service vendors,
consumers regularly use the providers recommended by their advisor, which may be their real estate agent, loan officer or attorney. If consumer awareness of
their right to select their own title insurance provider or settlement service vendors and/or if demand for online title and escrow products does not increase, our
business, results of operations and financial condition could be adversely affected.

Moreover, if, for any reason, an unfavorable perception develops that data automation, machine intelligence and/or bots are less efficacious than in-person
closings or traditional offline methods of preparing closing disclosures, purchasing title insurance, underwriting, claims processing, and other functions that
use data
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automation, machine intelligence and/or bots, our business, results of operations and financial condition could be adversely affected.

Our proprietary data science and machine intelligence algorithms may not operate properly or as we expect them to, which may expose us to adverse
financial, business or reputational impacts. Moreover, our proprietary machine intelligence algorithms may lead to unintentional bias and discrimination.

We use proprietary data science and machine intelligence algorithms in a variety of ways. For example, our Doma Intelligence platform uses data science
and machine intelligence algorithms when determining whether to underwrite a real estate transaction and when preparing a closing disclosure. The failure of
any of these algorithms to function effectively may expose us to adverse financial, business, or reputational impacts.

The continuous development, maintenance and operation of our data analytics engine is expensive and complex, and may involve unforeseen difficulties
including material performance problems or undetected defects or errors. We may encounter technical obstacles, and it is possible that we may discover
additional problems that prevent our proprietary machine intelligence algorithms from operating properly. These deficiencies could undermine the decisions,
predictions or analysis our data science and machine intelligence algorithms produce, which could subject us to competitive harm, legal or regulatory liability
and brand or reputational harm. As a result of any actual or perceived deficiency with our proprietary data science and machine intelligence algorithms, we
could lose any of our partners through which we generate a meaningful amount of business. Additionally, our proprietary machine intelligence algorithms may
lead to unintentional bias and discrimination in the underwriting process, which could subject us to competitive harm, legal or regulatory liability and brand or
reputational harm.

Any of these eventualities could result in a material and adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

We rely extensively on models in managing many aspects of our business, and if they are not accurate or are misinterpreted, it could have a material
adverse effect on our business and results of operations.

We rely extensively on models in managing many aspects of our business, including title insurance underwriting, fee balancing, document quality control,
customer communications handling, liquidity and capital planning (including stress testing), and reserving. The models may prove in practice to be less
predictive than we expect for a variety of reasons, including as a result of errors in constructing, interpreting or using the models or the use of inaccurate
assumptions (including failures to update assumptions appropriately or in a timely manner). Our assumptions may be inaccurate for many reasons, including
that they often involve matters that are inherently difficult to predict and beyond our control (e.g., macroeconomic conditions and their impact on Distribution
Partner, Third-Party Agent and consumer behaviors and the ratio of title insurance claims to premiums collected), and they often involve complex interactions
between several dependent and independent variables, factors and other assumptions. For example, while our ratio of claims paid to premiums collected for
transactions running through the Doma Intelligence platform has been less than 1% to date, we expect that as our claims history increases, such ratio will be in
the low single digits to high single digits for refinance and purchase transactions, based on, among other things, the state of the U.S. macroeconomy during
any given period. The errors or inaccuracies in our models may be material, and could lead us to make wrong or sub-optimal decisions in managing our
business, and this could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

We must comply with extensive government regulations. These regulations could adversely affect our ability to increase our revenues and operating
results.

We must comply with extensive federal and state government laws and regulations. We are also subject to various licensing requirements by individual
state insurance departments and other regulators in the states in which we transact business. These laws, regulations and license requirements are complex and
subject to change. Changes may sometimes lead to additional expenses, increased legal exposure, increased required reserves or capital and surplus, and
additional limits on our ability to grow or to achieve targeted profitability. Regulations to which we are subject include, but are not limited to:

• prior approval of transactions resulting in a change of “control”;

• approval of policy forms and premiums;

• restrictions on the sharing of insurance commissions and payment of referral fees;
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• privacy regulation and data security;

• regulation of corporate governance and risk management;

• periodic examinations of operations, finances, market conduct and claims practices; and required periodic financial reporting;

• statutory and risk-based capital solvency requirements, including the minimum capital and surplus our insurance subsidiary must maintain;

• establishing minimum reserves that insurance carriers like our insurance subsidiary must hold to pay projected insurance claims;

• required participation by our regulated insurance subsidiary in state guaranty funds;

• restrictions on the type and concentration of our insurance subsidiary’s investments;

• restrictions on the advertising and marketing of insurance by our insurance subsidiary;

• restrictions on the adjustment and settlement of insurance claims by our insurance subsidiary;

• restrictions on our insurance subsidiary’s use of rebates to induce a policyholder to purchase insurance;

• restrictions on our insurance subsidiary’s sale, solicitation and negotiation of insurance;

• prohibitions on the underwriting of insurance on the basis of race, sex, religion and other protected classes;

• restrictions on the ability of our insurance subsidiary to pay dividends to us or enter into certain related party transactions without prior regulatory
approval; and

• rules requiring our insurance subsidiary’s maintenance of statutory deposits for the benefit of policyholders.

Our ability to retain state licenses depends on our ability to meet licensing requirements established by the NAIC and adopted by each state, subject to
variations across states. If we are unable to satisfy the applicable licensing requirements of any particular state, we could lose our license to do business in that
state, which would result in the temporary or permanent cessation of our operations in that state. Alternatively, if we are unable to satisfy applicable state
licensing requirements, we may be subject to additional regulatory oversight, have our license suspended, or be subject to the seizure of assets. Any such event
could adversely affect our business, results of operations or financial condition.

Also, given our short operating history to date and rapid rate of growth, we are vulnerable to regulators identifying errors in certain of our operations,
including those related to rates and fees charged to consumers, correct and timely policy issuance, and accurate and secure disbursement of funds. As a result
of such noncompliance, regulators could impose fines, rebates or other penalties, including cease-and-desist orders with respect to our operations in an
individual state, or all states, until the identified noncompliance is rectified.

In addition, several states have adopted legislation prohibiting unfair methods of competition and unfair or deceptive acts and practices in the business of
insurance as well as unfair claims practices. Prohibited practices include, but are not limited to, misrepresentations, false advertising, coercion, disparaging
other insurers, unfair claims settlement procedures, and discrimination in the business of insurance. Noncompliance with any of such state statutes may subject
us to regulatory action by the relevant state insurance regulator, and possibly private litigation. States also regulate various aspects of the contractual
relationships between insurers and Third-Party Agents.

Although state insurance regulators have primary responsibility for administering and enforcing insurance regulations in the United States, such laws and
regulations are further administered and enforced by several additional governmental authorities, each of which exercises a degree of interpretive latitude,
including state securities administrators, state attorney generals as well as federal agencies including the Federal Reserve Board, the Federal Insurance Office
and the U.S. Department of Justice. Consequently, compliance with any particular regulator’s or enforcement authority’s interpretation of a legal issue may not
result in compliance with another’s interpretation of the same issue, particularly when compliance is judged in hindsight. Such regulations or enforcement
actions are often responsive to current consumer and political sensitivities, which may arise after a major event. Such rules and regulations may result in rate
suppression, limit our ability to manage our exposure to unprofitable or volatile risks, or lead to fines, premium refunds or other adverse consequences. The
federal
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government also may regulate aspects of our businesses, such as the protection of consumer confidential information. Failure to comply with federal
requirements could subject us to regulatory fines and other sanctions.

In addition, there is risk that any particular regulator’s or enforcement authority’s interpretation of a legal issue or the scope of a regulator’s authority may
change over time to our detriment. There is also a risk that changes in the overall legal environment may cause us to change our views regarding the actions
we need to take from a legal risk management perspective. This would necessitate changes to our practices that may adversely impact our business.
Furthermore, in some cases, these laws and regulations are designed to protect or benefit the interests of a specific constituency rather than a range of
constituencies. State insurance laws and regulations are generally intended to protect the interests of purchasers or users of insurance products, rather than the
holders of securities that we issue. For example, state insurance laws are generally prescriptive with respect to the content and timeliness of notices we must
provide policyholders. Failure to comply with state insurance laws and regulations could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and
financial condition. As another example, the federal government could pass a law expanding its authority to regulate the insurance industry, which could
expand federal regulation over our business to our detriment. These laws and regulations may limit our ability to grow, to raise additional capital or to improve
the profitability of our business.

Litigation and legal proceedings filed by or against us and our subsidiaries could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and
financial condition.

From time to time, we are subject to allegations, and may be party to litigation and legal proceedings relating to our business operations. Litigation and
other proceedings may include complaints from or litigation by customers or reinsurers related to alleged breaches of contract or otherwise. We expect that as
our market share increases, competitors may pursue litigation to require us to change our business practices or offerings and limit our ability to compete
effectively.

As is typical in the insurance industry, we continually face risks associated with litigation of various types arising in the normal course of our business
operations, including disputes relating to insurance claims under our title insurance policies as well as other general commercial and corporate litigation. For
example, although we aim to extend the benefits of coverage provided under each of our title insurance policies, customers could purchase policies that prove
to be inadequate or inappropriate. If such customers were to bring a claim or claims alleging that we failed in our responsibilities to provide them with the type
or amount of coverage that they sought to purchase, we could be found liable for amounts significantly in excess of the policy limit, resulting in an adverse
effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition. While we maintain agents errors and omissions insurance coverage to protect us against
such liability, such coverage may be insufficient or inadequate.

Although we are not currently involved in any material litigation with consumers, members of the insurance industry are periodically the target of class
action lawsuits and other types of litigation, some of which involve claims for substantial or indeterminate amounts, and the outcomes of which are
unpredictable. This litigation is based on a variety of issues, including sale of insurance and claim settlement practices. In addition, because we employ a
technology platform that collects consumer data, it is possible customers or consumer groups could bring individual or class action claims alleging our
methods of collecting data and pricing risk are impermissibly discriminatory. We cannot predict with any certainty whether we will be involved in such
litigation in the future or what impact such litigation would have on our business. If we were to be involved in litigation and it was determined adversely, it
could require us to pay significant damages or to change aspects of our operations, either of which could have a material adverse effect on our financial
results. Even claims without merit can be time-consuming and costly to defend, and may divert management’s attention and resources away from our business
and adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition. Additionally, routine lawsuits over claims that are not individually material
could in the future become material if aggregated with a substantial number of similar lawsuits. In addition to increasing costs, a significant volume of
customer complaints or litigation could also adversely affect our brand and reputation, regardless of whether such allegations have merit or whether we are
liable. We cannot predict with certainty the costs of defense, the costs of prosecution, insurance coverage or the ultimate outcome of litigation or other
proceedings filed by or against us, including remedies or damage awards, and adverse results in such litigation, and other proceedings may harm our business
and financial condition.

Our exposure to regulation and residential real estate transaction activity may be greater in California, where we source a significant proportion of our
premiums.
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A large portion of our premiums originated from residential real estate transactions in California. As compared to our competitors who operate on a wider
geographic scale or whose business is less concentrated in California, any adverse changes in the regulatory environment affecting title insurance and real
estate settlement in California that could include reductions in the maximum rates permitted to be charged, inadequate rate increases or more fundamental
changes in the design or implementation of the California title insurance regulatory framework, may expose us to more significant risks and our business,
financial condition and result of operations could be materially adversely affected.

In addition, to the extent residential real estate transaction volume in California changes significantly, whether due to changes in real estate values that
differ from the overall U.S. real estate market, changes in the local economy relative to the U.S. economy, natural or man-made disasters, or weather or
climate-related events that disproportionately impact residential real estate activity in California, we could experience lower premiums and growth than
historically observed or projected.

Our expansion within the United States will subject us to additional costs and risks, and our plans may not be successful.

Our success depends in part on our ability to expand into additional markets in the United States. As of December 31, 2022, DTI is licensed and operates
in approximately 90% of the United States (by state count) and the District of Columbia. We plan to have a presence in all states that offer title insurance
products, but cannot guarantee that we will be able to provide nationwide title and escrow services on any specific timeline or at all. Moreover, one or more
states could revoke our license to operate, or implement additional regulatory hurdles that could preclude or inhibit our ability to obtain or maintain our license
in such states.

As we seek to expand in the United States, we may incur significant operating expenses, although our expansion may not be successful for a variety of
reasons, including because of:

• barriers to obtaining the required government approvals, licenses or other authorizations;

• failures in identifying and entering into joint ventures with strategic partners, or entering into joint ventures that do not produce the desired results;

• challenges in, and the cost of, complying with various laws and regulatory standards, including with respect to the insurance business and insurance
distribution, capital and outsourcing requirements, data privacy, tax and local regulatory restrictions;

• difficulty in recruiting and retaining licensed, talented and capable employees;

• competition from local incumbents that already own market share, better understand the local market, may market and operate more effectively and
may enjoy greater local affinity or awareness;

• the availability of accurate and comprehensive data sources, which we need to operate aspects of the Doma Intelligence platform;

• unfavorable economic terms due to government-regulated insurance rates and premiums; and

• differing market demand, which may make our product offerings less successful.
Expansion into new markets in the United States will also require additional investments by us both in marketing and with respect to securing applicable

regulatory approvals. These incremental costs may result from hiring additional personnel, from engaging third-party service providers and from incurring
other research and development costs. If we invest substantial time and resources to expand our operations while our revenues from those additional
operations do not exceed the expense of establishing and maintaining them, or if we are unable to manage these risks effectively, our business, results of
operations and financial condition could be adversely affected.

If we fail to grow our geographic footprint or geographic growth occurs at a slower rate than expected, our business, results of operations and financial
condition could be materially and adversely affected.
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Regulators may limit our ability to develop or implement our proprietary data science and machine intelligence algorithms and/or may eliminate or
restrict the confidentiality of our proprietary technology, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

Our future success depends on our ability to continue to develop and implement our proprietary data science and machine intelligence algorithms, and to
maintain the confidentiality of this technology. Changes to existing regulations, their interpretation or implementation, or new regulations could impede our
use of this technology, or require that we disclose our proprietary technology to our competitors, which could impair our competitive position and result in a
material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, and financial condition.

We rely on highly skilled and experienced personnel and if we are unable to attract, retain or motivate key personnel or hire qualified personnel, our
business may be seriously harmed. In addition, the loss of key senior management personnel could harm our business and future prospects.

Our performance largely depends on the talents and efforts of highly skilled individuals. Our future success depends on our continuing ability to identify,
hire, develop, motivate and retain highly skilled and experienced personnel and, if we are unable to hire and train a sufficient number of qualified employees
for any reason, we may not be able to maintain or implement our current initiatives or grow, or our business may contract and we may lose market share.
Moreover, certain of our competitors or other insurance or technology businesses may seek to hire our employees. We cannot assure you that our equity
incentives and other compensation will provide adequate incentives to attract, retain and motivate employees in the future, particularly if the market price of
our common stock does not increase or declines. If we do not succeed in attracting, retaining and motivating highly qualified personnel, our business may be
seriously harmed.

We depend on our senior management, including Max Simkoff, our founder and chief executive officer. We may not be able to retain the services of any
of our senior management or other key personnel, as their employment is at-will and they could leave at any time. If we lose the services of one or more of our
senior management or other key personnel we may not be able to successfully manage our business, meet competitive challenges or achieve our growth
objectives. Further, to the extent that our business grows, we will need to attract and retain additional qualified management personnel in a timely manner, and
we may not be able to do so. Our future success depends on our continuing ability to identify, hire, develop, motivate, retain and integrate highly skilled
personnel in all areas of our organization.

Failure of our enterprise-wide risk management processes could result in unexpected monetary losses, damage to our reputation, additional costs or
impairment of our ability to conduct business effectively.

Our risk management framework is designed to identify, monitor and mitigate risks that could have a negative impact on our financial condition or
reputation. This framework includes departments or groups dedicated to enterprise risk management, information security, disaster recovery and other
information technology-related risks, business continuity, legal and compliance, compensation structures and other human resources matters, vendor
management and internal audit, among others. Many of the processes overseen by these departments function at the enterprise level, but many also function
through, or rely to a certain degree upon, risk mitigation efforts in local operating groups.

Similarly, with respect to the risks we assume in the ordinary course of our business through the issuance of title insurance policies and the provision of
related products and services, we employ localized as well as centralized risk mitigation efforts. These efforts include the implementation of underwriting
policies and procedures and other mechanisms for assessing risk. Manual underwriting of title insurance policies and making risk-assumption decisions
frequently involve judgment. We maintain a tiered system of underwriting authority, wherein title officers at the state level have limited underwriting
authority, third-party title agents are subject to authorization levels above which they must consult with the underwriting counsel of our insurance subsidiary,
and underwriting counsel at the regional level, reporting to the Chief Underwriting Counsel, have authority to approve or deny a transaction at any level of
financial exposure. While we believe these tiers of authority reduce the likelihood that we will make materially adverse risk determinations, if our risk
mitigation efforts prove inadequate, our business, financial position and results of operation could be adversely affected.

Performance of our investment portfolio is subject to a variety of investment risks that may adversely affect our financial results.
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Our results of operations depend, in part, on the performance of our investment portfolio. We seek to hold a diversified portfolio of investments in
accordance with our investment policy. In addition, our insurance subsidiary, as domiciled in South Carolina, and must comply with South Carolina and
related states’ regulations on investments and restrictions. However, our investments are subject to general economic and market risks as well as risks inherent
to particular securities.

Our primary market risk exposures are to changes in interest rates. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations” and “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risks” in this Annual Report. Our results of operations are directly exposed to
changes in interest rates, among other macroeconomic conditions. Fluctuations in interest rates may also impact the interest income earned on floating-rate
investments and the fair value of our fixed-rate investments. An increase in interest rates decreases the market value of fixed-rate investments. Conversely, a
decrease in interest rates increases the fair market value of fixed-rate investments. Our exposure to interest rate risk correlates to our portfolio of fixed income
securities. In recent years, interest rates have been at or near historic lows but rapidly increased in 2022. A protracted low interest rate environment would
place pressure on our net investment income, particularly as it relates to fixed income securities and short-term investments, which, in turn, may adversely
affect our operating results. Future increases in interest rates could cause the values of our fixed income securities portfolios to decline, with the magnitude of
the decline depending on the maturity of the securities included in our portfolio and the amount by which interest rates increase.

The value of our investment portfolio is subject to the risk that certain investments may default or become impaired due to deterioration in the financial
condition of one or more issuers of the securities we hold, or due to deterioration in the financial condition of an insurer that guarantees an issuer’s payments
on such investments. Downgrades in the credit ratings of fixed maturities also have a significant negative effect on the market valuation of such securities.

Such factors could reduce our net investment income and result in realized investment losses. Our investment portfolio is subject to increased valuation
uncertainties when investment markets are illiquid. The valuation of investments is more subjective when markets are illiquid, thereby increasing the risk that
the estimated fair value (i.e., the carrying amount) of the securities we hold in our portfolio does not reflect prices at which actual transactions would occur.

Risks for all types of securities are managed through the application of our investment policy. The maximum percentage and types of securities we may
invest in are subject to the insurance laws regulations, which may change. Failure to comply with these laws and regulations would cause nonconforming
investments to be treated as non-admitted assets for purposes of measuring statutory surplus and, in certain circumstances, we would be required to dispose of
such investments.

Although we seek to preserve our capital, we cannot be certain that our investment objectives will be achieved, and results may vary substantially over
time. In addition, although we seek to employ investment strategies that are not correlated with our insurance and reinsurance exposures, losses in our
investment portfolio may occur at the same time as underwriting losses and, therefore, exacerbate the adverse effect of the losses on us.

Failures at financial institutions at which we deposit funds could adversely affect us.

We deposit substantial funds in financial institutions. These funds include amounts owned by third parties, such as escrow deposits. Should one or more
of the financial institutions at which deposits are maintained fail, there is no guarantee that we would recover the funds deposited, whether through Federal
Deposit Insurance Corporation coverage or otherwise. In the event of any such failure, we also could be held liable for the funds owned by third parties.

Our actual incurred losses may be greater than our loss and loss adjustment expense reserves, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial
condition and results of operations.

Our financial condition and results of operations depend on our ability to accurately price risk and assess potential losses and loss adjustment expenses
under the terms of the title insurance policies we underwrite. Our loss and loss adjustment expense reserves are subject to significant variability due to our
limited use of reinsurance as well as the inherent risks of writing title insurance policies, which include their long duration and sensitivity to future changes in
economic conditions. For the title insurance industry overall, approximately 75% of ultimate claim amounts are reported within the first seven years of the
policy life.
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There are two types of reserve accounts that reflect the amount of claims and/or events that have transpired: “known claim reserves” and “incurred but not
reported” (“IBNR”). Known claim reserves do not represent an exact calculation of liability. Rather, these reserves represent an estimate of what the expected
ultimate settlement and administration of claims will cost, and the ultimate liability may be greater or less than the current estimate. In our industry, there is
always the risk that reserves may prove inadequate since we may underestimate the cost of claims and claims administration. The factors that are considered in
establishing known claim reserves include but are not limited to, claim severity, facts that are uncovered or determined during the course of the claim, analysis
and applicability of judicial theories of liability and defenses, procedural posture of the claim and other factors. Known claim reserves are adjusted regularly
as the facts are discovered and coverage under the policy is analyzed and determined.

We base our loss and loss adjustment expense reserve estimates on our assessment of current economic and business trends, as well as estimates of future
trends in claim volume, claim severity, and other factors. These variables are affected by internal and external events that could increase our exposure to
losses, including changes in actuarial projections, claims handling procedures, variation in state-by-state claims experience, inflation, a decline in real estate
prices, rise in interest rates or increase in mortgage defaults and foreclosures, other macroeconomic and judicial trends and legislative and regulatory changes.

We estimate the loss provision rate at the beginning of each year and reassess the rate at midyear as of June 30 of every year to ensure that the resulting
sum of the known claim reserves, IBNR loss, and loss adjustment expense reserves included in our balance sheet together reflect our best estimate of the total
costs required to settle all IBNR and known claims. However, our estimates could prove to be inadequate. Changes in expected ultimate losses and
corresponding loss rates for recent policy years are considered likely and could result in a material adjustment to the IBNR reserves. A material change in
expected ultimate losses and corresponding loss rates for older policy years is also possible, particularly for policy years with loss rates exceeding historical
norms. Our estimates could ultimately prove to be materially different from actual claims experience, which may adversely affect our result of operations and
financial conditions.

If any of our insurance reserves should prove to be inadequate for the reasons discussed above, or for any other reason, we will be required to increase
reserves, resulting in a reduction in our net income and stockholders’ equity in the period in which the deficiency is identified. Future loss experience
substantially in excess of established reserves could also have a material adverse effect on future earnings and liquidity and financial rating, which would
affect our ability to attract new business or to retain existing Distribution Partners and Third-Party Agents.

There are risks associated with our indebtedness.

On December 31, 2020, Old Doma entered into a credit agreement with Hudson Structured Capital Management Ltd. (“HSCM”) providing for a $150.0
million senior secured term loan (“Senior Debt”) that was funded by the lenders, which are affiliates of HSCM on January 29, 2021 (“Funding Date”). The
Senior Debt matures five years from the Funding Date. Old Doma (now known as States Title) used a portion of the net proceeds from the Senior Debt to
repay all amounts outstanding and owed under the note payable to Lennar Title Group, LLC, including approximately $65.5 million in aggregate principal
amount outstanding and accrued interest.

The provisions of the Senior Debt and any additional indebtedness we incur will limit our ability and the ability of our subsidiaries to, among other things,
incur or assume debt, incur certain liens or permit them to exist, undergo certain changes in business, management, control or business locations, dispose of
assets, make certain investments, merge with other companies, pay dividends and enter into certain transactions with affiliates. States Title is also required to
comply with certain financial covenants set forth in the Senior Debt.

In addition, a failure to comply with the provisions of our current and any additional indebtedness, including the Senior Debt, could result in a default or
an event of default that could enable our lenders to declare the outstanding principal of that debt, together with accrued and unpaid interest plus the amount of
any applicable prepayment premium, to be immediately due and payable. If we were unable to repay those amounts, the lenders under our Senior Debt and
any other future secured debt agreement could proceed against the collateral granted to them to secure that indebtedness.

The Senior Debt is secured by a first-priority pledge and security interest in substantially all assets of our wholly owned subsidiary States Title (which
represent substantially all of our assets) and its existing and future domestic subsidiaries and is guaranteed by all of States Title’s domestic subsidiaries (in
each case, subject to
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customary exclusions, including the exclusion of regulated insurance company subsidiaries). Any of these events could materially adversely affect our
liquidity and financial condition.

The outstanding indebtedness and any additional indebtedness we incur may have significant consequences, including, without limitation, the following:

• our ability to pay interest and repay the principal for our indebtedness is dependent upon our ability to manage our business operations and generate
sufficient cash flows to service such debt. We may be required to use a significant portion of our cash flow from operations and other available cash
to service this indebtedness, thereby reducing the amount of cash available for other purposes, including capital expenditures, acquisitions and
strategic investments;

• our indebtedness and leverage may increase our vulnerability to downturns in our business, to competitive pressures, and to adverse changes in
general economic and industry conditions;

• our ability to obtain additional financing for working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions, share repurchases, or other general corporate and
other purposes may be limited; and

• our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and our industry may be limited.

Changes in tax law could adversely affect our business and financial conditions.

There can be no assurance that future tax law changes will not increase the rate of the corporate income tax significantly, impose new limitations on
deductions, credits or other tax benefits, or make other changes that may adversely affect our business, cash flows or financial performance. In addition, the
IRS has yet to issue guidance on important issues regarding the changes made by the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the “TCJA”) and the CARES Act. In the absence
of such guidance, we will take positions with respect to several unsettled issues. There is no assurance that the IRS or a court will agree with the positions
taken by us, in which case tax penalties and interest may be imposed that could adversely affect our business, cash flows or financial performance.

Other future changes in tax laws or regulations, or the interpretation thereof, tax policy initiatives and reforms under consideration and the practices of tax
authorities could adversely affect us. We are unable to predict what tax reform may be proposed or enacted in the future or what effect such changes would
have on our business, but such changes could affect our financial position and overall or effective tax rates in the future, reduce after-tax returns to our
stockholders, and increase the complexity, burden and cost of tax compliance. If our effective tax rate increases, our operating results and cash flow could be
adversely affected. Our effective income tax rate can vary significantly between periods due to a few complex factors including, but not limited to, projected
levels of taxable income, tax audits conducted and settled by tax authorities, and adjustments to income taxes upon finalization of income tax returns.

Our ability to utilize our net operating loss carryforwards and certain other tax attributes may be limited.

As of December 31, 2022, we had federal income tax net operating loss (“NOL”) carryforwards of approximately $371.2 million available to offset our
future taxable income, if any, prior to consideration of annual limitations that may be imposed under section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the
“Code”), or otherwise. Of our NOLs, $0.2 million of losses will begin to expire in 2036 and the remainder of federal NOLs can be carried forward
indefinitely.

We may be unable to fully use our NOLs, if at all. Under section 382 of the Code, if a corporation undergoes an “ownership change” (very generally
defined as a greater than 50% change, by value, in the corporation’s equity ownership by certain stockholders, or groups of stockholders, who own at least 5%
of a company’s stock over a rolling three-year period), the corporation’s ability to use its pre-ownership change NOLs to offset its post-ownership change
income may be limited. We may have experienced ownership changes in the past, and we may experience ownership changes in the future as a result of
subsequent shifts in our stock ownership, including this offering, some of which may be outside of our control. If we undergo an ownership change, we may
be prevented from fully utilizing our NOLs existing at the time of the ownership change prior to their expiration. Future regulatory changes could also limit
our ability to utilize our NOLs. To the extent we are not able to offset future taxable income with our NOLs, our net income and cash flows may be adversely
affected.
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The TCJA, as modified by the CARES Act, among other things, includes changes to U.S. federal tax rates and the rules governing NOL carryforwards.
For federal NOLs arising in tax years beginning after December 31, 2017, the TCJA as modified by the CARES Act limits a taxpayer’s ability to utilize NOL
carryforwards in taxable years beginning after December 31, 2020 to 80% of taxable income. In addition, federal NOLs arising in tax years beginning after
December 31, 2017 can be carried forward indefinitely, but carryback of NOLs are generally permitted to the prior five taxable years only for NOLs arising in
taxable years beginning before 2021 and after 2017. Deferred tax assets for NOLs will need to be measured at the applicable tax rate in effect when the NOLs
are expected to be utilized. The new limitation on use of NOLs may significantly impact our ability to utilize our NOLs to offset taxable income in the future.
In addition, for state income tax purposes, there may be periods during which the use of NOL carryforwards is suspended or otherwise limited, which could
accelerate or permanently increase state taxes owed. For example, California recently imposed limits on the usability of California state NOLs to offset taxable
income in tax years beginning after 2019 and before 2023, including no two year carryback beginning in 2019 and no carryforward for tax years 2020 through
2022. The NOLs can be computed but not utilized in these periods. Additionally, the state NOLs generally have a definite life carryforward that can affect the
ability to utilize all of the state NOLs.

Unfavorable economic or other business conditions could cause us to record an impairment of all or a portion of our goodwill, other intangible assets and
other long-lived assets.

We annually perform impairment tests of the carrying values of our goodwill, other indefinite-lived intangible assets and other long-lived assets. We may also
perform an evaluation whenever events may indicate an impairment has occurred. In assessing whether an impairment has occurred, we consider various
factors including our long-term prospects, sustained declines in our market capitalization, negative macroeconomic trends or negative industry and company-
specific trends. If we conclude that the carrying values of these assets exceed the fair value, we may be required to record an impairment of these assets.
During the year ended December 31, 2022, we determined that the Company was less likely to reach previously forecasted revenue as a result of adverse
mortgage and housing market conditions, including rapidly rising interest rates and low housing inventory. In addition, during the three months ended
December 31, 2022, the Company implemented a strategic initiative to focus resources on its instant underwriting capabilities. With these factors and a
significant, sustained decrease in the Company’s stock price in 2022, the Company recognized a goodwill impairment charge of $65.2 million in our
Distribution segment. As of December 31, 2022, the Distribution segment had allocated goodwill of $22.9 million and the Underwriting segment had allocated
goodwill of $23.4 million. Additionally, during the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company recognized a long-lived asset impairment charge of
$32.0 million. See Part II, Item 8 “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Annual Report for more details on the impairment charges
recognized in 2022. Any substantial impairment that may be required in the future could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations or financial
condition.

Unexpected changes in the interpretation of our coverage or provisions, including loss limitations and exclusions, in our policies could have a material
adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

There can be no assurances that specifically negotiated loss limitations or exclusions in our policies will be enforceable in the manner we intend, or at all.
As industry practices and legal, judicial, social and other conditions change, unexpected and unintended issues related to claims and coverage may emerge.
While these limitations and exclusions help us assess and mitigate our loss exposure, it is possible that a court or regulatory authority could nullify or void a
limitation or exclusion, or legislation could be enacted modifying or barring the use of such limitations or exclusions. These types of governmental actions and
court decisions, if issued post-policy, could result in higher than anticipated losses and loss adjustment expenses, which could have a material adverse effect
on our financial condition or results of operations by either broadening coverage beyond our underwriting intent or by increasing the frequency or severity of
claims. In addition, court decisions, such as the 1995 Montrose decision in California, could read policy exclusions narrowly so as to expand coverage, thereby
requiring insurers to create and write new exclusions. Under the insurance laws, the insurer typically has the burden of proving an exclusion applies, and any
ambiguities in the terms of a loss limitation or exclusion provision are typically construed against the insurer. These issues may adversely affect our business
by either broadening coverage beyond our underwriting intent or by increasing the frequency or severity of claims. In some instances, these changes may not
become apparent until sometime after we have issued insurance contracts that are affected by the changes. As a result, the full extent of liability under our
insurance contracts may not be known for many years after a contract is issued.

State regulation of the rates we charge for title insurance could adversely affect our results of operations.
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Our title insurance subsidiary is subject to extensive rate regulation by the applicable state agencies in the jurisdictions in which they operate. Title
insurance rates are regulated differently in various states, with some states requiring the subsidiary to file and receive approval of rates before such rates
become effective and some states promulgating the rates that can be charged. In general, premium rates are determined on the basis of historical data for claim
frequency and severity as well as related production costs and other expenses. In all states in which our title subsidiary operates, our rates must not be
excessive, inadequate or unfairly discriminatory. Premium rates could prove insufficient when ultimate claims and expenses exceed historically projected
levels. Premium rate inadequacy may not become evident quickly and may take time to correct, and could adversely affect our business operating results and
financial conditions.

Denial of claims or our failure to accurately and timely pay claims could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of
operations, and prospects.

Under the terms of our policies and subject to specific state regulations and on unfair claims settlement practices, we are required to accurately and timely
evaluate and pay claims. Our ability to do so depends on several factors, including the efficacy of our claims processing, the training and experience of our
claims adjusters and our ability to develop or select and implement appropriate procedures and systems to support our claims functions.

An increase in the average time to process claims could lead to customer and partner dissatisfaction and undermine our reputation and position in the title
insurance market. If our claims adjusters are unable to effectively process our volume of claims, our ability to grow our business while maintaining high levels
of customer and partner satisfaction could be compromised, which in turn, could adversely affect our operating margins. Any failure to pay claims
appropriately or timely under the provisions of the policy could also lead to regulatory and administrative actions or other legal proceedings and litigation
against us, or result in damage to our reputation, any one of which could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of
operations, and prospects.

Unexpected increases in the volume or severity of claims may adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition.

Our business may experience volatility in claim volume from time to time, and short-term trends may not continue over the longer term. The volume of
title insurance claims is subject to cyclical influences from both the real estate and mortgage markets, and changes in claim volume may result from changes
in a mix of business, macroeconomic or other factors.

A large portion of our title insurance volume stems from title policies issued to lenders. These policies insure lenders against losses on mortgage loans
due to title defects in the collateral property. Even if an underlying title defect exists that could result in a claim, often, the lender must realize an actual loss, or
at least be likely to realize an actual loss, for a title insurance liability to exist. As a result, title insurance claims exposure is sensitive to lenders’ losses on
mortgage loans and is affected in turn by external factors that affect mortgage loan losses, particularly macroeconomic factors. A general decline in real estate
prices can expose lenders to a greater risk of losses on mortgage loans, as loan-to-value ratios increase, and defaults and foreclosures increase. A significant
increase in claim volume or the severity of those claims could have an adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition.

Changes in claim severity are typically driven by limited financing alternatives, declining real estate values and the increase in foreclosures that often
results therefrom. While actuarial models for pricing and reserving typically include an expected level of inflation, unanticipated increases in claim severity
can arise from events that are inherently difficult to predict. Although we pursue various loss management initiatives to mitigate future increases in claim
severity, there can be no assurances that these initiatives will successfully identify or reduce the effect of future increases in claim severity. Moreover, as our
business model is nascent, we have limited claims data to evaluate the efficacy of these loss mitigation initiatives.

Our use of Third-Party Agents could adversely impact the frequency and severity of title claims.

We underwrite title insurance policies referred through two principal channels: our Distribution agents (which includes all Doma Enterprise partner
referrals and affiliated agents) and other non-captive title and escrow agents in the market. For the title insurance policies we underwrite for Third-Party
Agents, these agents may perform the title search and examination function or the agent may utilize our title and escrow products. In either case, the Third-
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Party Agent is responsible for ensuring that the search and examination is completed. The Third-Party Agent thus retains the majority of the title premium
collected, with the balance remitted to our title underwriter for bearing the risk of loss in the event that a claim is made under the title insurance policy. Our
relationship with each Third-Party Agent is governed by an agency agreement defining how the Third-Party Agent issues a title insurance policy on our
behalf. The agency agreement also sets forth the Third-Party Agent’s liability to us for policy losses attributable to the Third-Party Agent’s errors. For each
Third-Party Agent with whom we enter into an agency agreement, financial and loss experience records are maintained. Periodic audits of our agents are also
conducted and the number of Third-Party Agents with whom we transact business is strategically managed in an effort to reduce future expenses and manage
risks. Despite efforts to monitor the Third-Party Agents with which we transact business, there is no guarantee that a Third-Party Agent will comply with its
contractual obligations to us. Furthermore, we cannot be certain that, due to changes in the regulatory environment and litigation trends, we will not be held
liable for errors and omissions by a Third-Party Agent. Accordingly, our use of Third-Party Agents could adversely impact the frequency and severity of title
claims and could expose us to potential liability.

Reinsurance may be unavailable at current levels and prices, which may limit our ability to underwrite new policies. Furthermore, reinsurance subjects us
to counterparty risk and may not be adequate to protect us against losses, which could have a material effect on our results of operations and financial
condition.

Reinsurance is a contract by which an insurer, which may be referred to as the ceding insurer, agrees with a second insurer, called a reinsurer, that the
reinsurer will cover a portion of the losses incurred by the ceding insurer in the event a claim is made under a policy issued by the ceding insurer, in exchange
for a premium. Our regulated insurance subsidiary obtains reinsurance to help manage its exposure to title insurance risks. Although our reinsurance
counterparties are liable to us according to the terms of the reinsurance policies, we remain primarily liable to our policyholders as the direct insurers on all
risks reinsured. As a result, reinsurance does not eliminate the obligation of our regulated insurance subsidiary to pay all claims, and we are subject to the risk
that one or more of our reinsurers will be unable or unwilling to honor their obligations, that the reinsurers will not pay in a timely fashion, or that our losses
are so large that they exceed the limits inherent in our reinsurance treaties, limiting recovery. We are also subject to the risk that, under applicable insurance
laws and regulations, we may not be able to take credit for the reinsurance on our financial statements and instead would be required to hold separate admitted
assets as reserves to cover claims on the risks that we have ceded to the reinsurer. Our reinsurers may become financially unsound by the time that they are
called upon to pay amounts due, which may not occur for many years, in which case we may have no legal ability to recover what is due to us under our
agreement with such reinsurer. Any disputes with our reinsurers regarding coverage under reinsurance treaties could be time-consuming, costly and uncertain
of success.

Market conditions beyond our control impact the availability and cost of the reinsurance we purchase. No assurances can be made that reinsurance will
remain continuously available to us to the same extent and on the same terms and rates as is currently available, as such availability depends in part on factors
outside of our control. A new contract may not provide sufficient reinsurance protection. Market forces and external factors, such as significant losses from
adverse changes to the real estate market, such as a decline in real estate prices, rise in interest rates or increase in mortgage defaults and foreclosures, or an
increase in capital and surplus requirements, impact the availability and cost of the reinsurance we purchase. If we were unable to maintain our current level of
reinsurance or purchase new reinsurance protection in amounts that we consider sufficient at acceptable prices, we would have to either accept an increase in
our catastrophe exposure, reduce our insurance underwritings, or develop or seek other alternatives.

The unavailability of acceptable reinsurance protection would have a materially adverse impact on our business model, which depends on reinsurance
companies to absorb any unfavorable variance from the level of losses anticipated at underwriting. If we are unable to obtain adequate reinsurance at
reasonable rates, we would have to increase our risk exposure or reduce the level of our underwriting commitments, each of which could have a material
adverse effect upon our business volume and profitability. Alternatively, we could elect to pay higher than reasonable rates for reinsurance coverage, which
could have a material adverse effect upon our profitability unless policy premium rates could be raised, in most cases subject to approval by state regulators, to
offset this additional cost.

Starting in late February 2021, we reduced the level of reinsurance on policies underwritten using our machine intelligence system from 100% to 25%,
which may impact our overall risk profile and financial and capital condition. To the extent we experience higher claim activity than our projections of claim
losses and financial impacts thereof, our financial situation and our business may be adversely affected. To the extent we seek to
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increase our reinsurance coverage in response to such an event, we may be unable to secure additional coverage at acceptable rates and terms or at all. This
may have an adverse effect on our financial condition.

We may be unable to prevent, monitor or detect fraudulent activity, including policy acquisitions or payments of claims that are fraudulent in nature.

If we fail to maintain adequate systems and processes to prevent, monitor and detect fraud, including fraudulent policy acquisitions or claims activity, or if
inadvertent errors occur with such prevention, monitoring and detection systems due to human or computer error, our business could be materially adversely
impacted. While we believe past incidents of fraudulent activity have been relatively isolated, we cannot be certain that our systems and processes will always
be adequate in the face of increasingly sophisticated and ever-changing fraud schemes. We use a variety of tools to protect against fraud, but these tools may
not always be successful at preventing such fraud. Instances of fraud may result in increased costs, including possible settlement and litigation expenses, and
could have a material adverse effect on our business and reputation.

A downgrade by the ratings agency, reductions in statutory capital and surplus maintained by our title insurance underwriters or a deterioration in other
measures of financial strength could adversely affect us.

Certain of our Doma Distribution Partners and third-party agencies use measurements of the financial strength of our title insurance underwriters,
including, among others, the rating provided by the rating agency Demotech, Inc. and levels of statutory capital and surplus maintained by those underwriters,
in determining the amount of a policy they will accept and the amount of reinsurance required. Our title insurance underwriter’s financial strength rating is A’
(A Prime) by Demotech, Inc. The rating provides the agency’s perspectives on the financial strength, operating performance and cash-generating ability of
those operations. The agency continually reviews this rating and the rating is subject to change. Statutory capital and surplus, or the amount by which statutory
assets exceed statutory liabilities, is also a measure of financial strength. Our title insurance underwriter maintains a statutory capital and surplus. Accordingly,
if the rating or statutory capital and surplus of these title insurance underwriters are reduced from their current levels, or if there is a deterioration in other
measures of financial strength, our results of operations, competitive position and liquidity could be adversely affected.

Failure to maintain our statutory capital and surplus at the required levels could adversely affect our ability to maintain regulatory authority to conduct
our business.

Our insurance subsidiary is subject to minimum capital and surplus standards, including requirements, prohibitions and limitations applicable to
investments, promulgated by South Carolina, its state of domicile, and by New York, where we are not domiciled but expect to be held subject to the
minimum capital and surplus requirements upon our admission to insure transactions in New York. Our regulated subsidiaries are required to report their
results of minimum capital and surplus calculations and investment practices to the departments of insurance. Failure to maintain the minimum capital and
surplus standards could subject our regulated subsidiary to corrective action, including the required submission of a remediation plan, the imposition by the
state of a deadline for remediation, or designation by the state that the insurer is in a “hazardous financial condition” and related issuance of an order to
nonadmit, limit, dispose of, withdraw from, or discontinue an investment or investment practice. Our insurance subsidiary is currently in compliance with the
minimum capital and surplus requirements.

Severe weather events and other climate related catastrophes, including the effects of climate change, are inherently unpredictable and may have a
material adverse effect on our financial results and financial condition.

To the extent that climate change impacts changes in weather patterns or otherwise, properties in areas where we may have significant geographic
exposure could experience wildfires and other instances of severe weather, including hurricanes, severe winter storms, and/or flooding due, in part, to
increases in storm intensity and rising sea levels. These and other climate change related effects could impact property prices and housing-related costs or
disrupt borrowers’ ability to pay their mortgage. If defaults or foreclosures occur at elevated levels, there may be an influx of title insurance claims under loan
policies or claims might be reported earlier than under normal conditions. A significant increase in claim volume or the severity of those claims could have an
adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition. In addition, climate change could impact the level of mortgage and mortgage-related
transactions that could negatively impact our volume of business. The frequency, severity, duration, and geographic location and scope of such climate change
related catastrophe and severe weather events are inherently unpredictable, and, therefore, we are unable to predict the ultimate impact climate change and
such events may have on our business.
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Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property

Our intellectual property rights are valuable, and any inability to obtain, maintain, protect or enforce our intellectual property could reduce the value of
our products, services and brand.

Our trade secrets, trademarks, copyrights and other intellectual property rights are important assets for us. We rely on, and expect to continue to rely on,
patent, trademark, trade dress, domain name, copyright, and trade secret laws, to protect our brand and other intellectual property rights. In addition, we seek
to enter into various agreements with our employees, independent contractors, consultants and third parties with whom we have relationships, pursuant to
which such individuals assign intellectual property rights they develop to us and agree to maintain confidentiality of our confidential information. However,
we may fail to enter into such agreements with all relevant individuals, such assignments may not be self-executing, and such agreements may not effectively
prevent unauthorized use or disclosure of our confidential information, intellectual property or technology and or provide an adequate remedy in the event of
unauthorized use or disclosure of our confidential information, intellectual property or technology. In addition, we may fail to consistently obtain, police and
enforce such agreements. Additionally, various factors outside our control pose a threat to our intellectual property rights, as well as to our products, services
and technologies. The efforts we have taken to protect our intellectual property rights may not be sufficient or effective, and any of our intellectual property
rights, including our issued patents, have in the past and may in the future be challenged in courts or patent offices. The issuance of a patent is not conclusive
as to its scope, validity or enforceability and challenges to our intellectual property, including issued patents, could result in their being narrowed in scope or
declared invalid or unenforceable, in whole or in part, which could limit our ability to stop others from using or commercializing similar or identical
technology, or limit the duration of the patent protection of our technology platform. As a result, despite our efforts to protect our proprietary rights, there can
be no assurance that our patent portfolio and other intellectual property rights will be sufficient to protect against others offering products or services that are
substantially similar to ours and compete with our business or that unauthorized parties may attempt to copy aspects of our technology and use information
that we consider proprietary.

We have filed, and may continue in the future to file, applications to protect certain of our innovations and intellectual property. We do not know whether
any of our applications will result in the issuance of a patent, trademark or copyright, as applicable, or whether the examination process will require us to
narrow our claims or otherwise limit the scope of such intellectual property. In addition, we may not receive competitive advantages from the rights granted
under our intellectual property. Our existing intellectual property, and any intellectual property granted to us or that we otherwise acquire in the future, may be
contested, circumvented or invalidated, and we may not be able to prevent third parties from infringing, misappropriation or otherwise violating our rights to
our intellectual property. Therefore, the exact effect of the protection of this intellectual property cannot be predicted with certainty. Because obtaining patent
protection requires disclosing our inventions to the public, such disclosure may facilitate our competitors’ developing improvements to our innovations. In
addition, given the costs, effort, risks and downside of obtaining patent protection, including the requirement to ultimately disclose the invention to the public,
we may choose not to seek patent protection for certain innovations. Any failure to adequately obtain such patent protection, or other intellectual property
protection, could later prove to adversely impact our business.

We currently hold various domain names relating to our brand. Failure to protect our domain names could adversely affect our reputation and brand and
make it more difficult for users to find our website. We may be unable, without significant cost or at all, to prevent third parties from acquiring domain names
that are similar to, infringe upon, or otherwise decrease the value of our trademarks and other proprietary rights.

We may be required to spend significant resources to monitor and protect our intellectual property rights, and some violations may be difficult or
impossible to detect. Litigation to protect and enforce our intellectual property rights could be costly, time-consuming and distracting to management and
could result in the impairment or loss of portions of our intellectual property. Our efforts to enforce our intellectual property rights may be met with defenses,
counterclaims and countersuits attacking the validity and enforceability of our intellectual property rights. Our inability to protect our proprietary technology
against unauthorized copying or use, as well as any costly litigation or diversion of management’s attention and resources, could impair the functionality of
our products, delay introductions of enhancements to our products, result in our substituting inferior or more costly technologies into our products or harm our
reputation or brand. In addition, we may be required to license additional technology from third parties to develop and market new offerings or product
features, which may not be on commercially reasonable terms, or at all, and could adversely affect our ability to compete.
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Although we take measures to protect our intellectual property, if we are unable to prevent the unauthorized use or exploitation of our intellectual
property, the value of our brand, content, and other intangible assets may be diminished, competitors may be able to more effectively mimic our service and
methods of operations, the perception of our business and service to current and prospective homeowners, lenders, title agents and real estate professionals
may become confused, and our ability to attract customers and partners may be adversely affected. Any inability or failure to protect our intellectual property
could adversely impact our business, results of operations and financial condition. While we take precautions designed to protect our intellectual property, it
may still be possible for competitors and other unauthorized third parties to copy our technology and use our proprietary brand, content and information to
create or enhance competing solutions and services, which could adversely affect our competitive position in our rapidly evolving and highly competitive
industry. Some license provisions that protect against unauthorized use, copying, transfer and disclosure of our technology may be unenforceable under the
laws of certain jurisdictions and foreign countries. While we enter into confidentiality and invention assignment agreements with our employees and
consultants and enter into confidentiality agreements with our third-party providers and strategic partners, we cannot assure you that these agreements will be
effective in controlling access to, and use and distribution of, our products and proprietary information. Further, these agreements do not prevent our
competitors from independently developing technologies that are substantially equivalent or superior to our offerings.

If we are unable to protect the confidentiality of our trade secrets, our business and competitive position would be harmed.

In addition to registered intellectual property rights, such as trademark registrations, we rely on non-registered proprietary information and technology,
such as trade secrets, confidential information, know-how and technical information. Certain information or technology that we endeavor to protect as trade
secrets may not be eligible for trade secret protection in all jurisdictions, or the measures we undertake to establish and maintain such trade secret protection
may be inadequate. To protect our proprietary information and technology, we rely in part on agreements with our employees, investors, independent
contractors and other third parties that place restrictions on the use and disclosure of this intellectual property. These agreements may not adequately protect
our trade secrets, these agreements may be breached, or this intellectual property, including trade secrets, may otherwise be disclosed or become known to our
competitors, which could cause us to lose any competitive advantage resulting from this intellectual property. To the extent that our employees, independent
contractors or other third parties with whom we do business use intellectual property owned by others in their work for us, disputes may arise as to the rights
in related or resulting know-how and inventions. Current or future legal requirements may require us to disclose certain proprietary information or technology,
such as our proprietary data science and machine intelligence algorithms, to regulators or other third parties, including our competitors, which could impair or
result in the loss of trade secret protection for such information or technology. The loss of trade secret protection could make it easier for third parties to
compete with our products and services by copying functionality. In addition, any changes in, or unexpected interpretations of, intellectual property laws may
compromise our ability to enforce our trade secret and intellectual property rights. Costly and time-consuming litigation could be necessary to enforce and
determine the scope of our proprietary rights, and failure to obtain or maintain protection of our trade secrets or other proprietary information could harm our
business, results of operations and competitive position.

If our trademarks and trade names are not adequately protected, we may not be able to build name recognition in our markets of interest and our
competitive position may be harmed.

The registered or unregistered trademarks or trade names that we own may be challenged, infringed, circumvented, declared generic, lapsed or determined
to be infringing on or dilutive of other marks. We may not be able to protect our rights in these trademarks and trade names, which we need in order to build
name recognition with potential members. In addition, third parties may file, for registration of trademarks similar or identical to our trademarks, thereby
impeding our ability to build brand identity and possibly leading to market confusion. If they succeed in registering or developing common law rights in such
trademarks, and if we are not successful in challenging such third-party rights, we may not be able to use these trademarks to develop brand recognition of our
technologies, products or services. In addition, there could be potential trade name or trademark infringement claims brought by owners of other registered
trademarks or trademarks that incorporate variations of our registered or unregistered trademarks or trade names. If we are unable to establish name
recognition based on our trademarks and trade names, we may not be able to compete effectively, which could adversely impact our business, financial
condition and results of operations.
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Third parties may allege that we infringe, misappropriate or otherwise violate their intellectual property rights, and we may become subject to intellectual
property disputes, which are costly and may subject us to significant liability and increased costs of doing business.

We are from time to time subject to intellectual property disputes. Our success depends, in part, on our ability to develop and commercialize our products
and services without infringing, misappropriating or otherwise violating the intellectual property rights of third parties. However, we may not be aware that
our products or services are infringing, misappropriating or otherwise violating third-party intellectual property rights, and such third parties may bring claims
alleging such infringement, misappropriation or violation. For example, there may be issued patents of which we are not aware, held by third parties that, if
found to be valid and enforceable, could be alleged to be infringed by our current or future technologies or products. There also may be pending patent
applications of which we are not aware that may result in issued patents, which could be alleged to be infringed by our current or future technologies or
products. Because patent applications can take years to issue and are often afforded confidentiality for some period of time, there may currently be pending
applications, unknown to us, that later result in issued patents that could cover our current or future technologies or products.

Lawsuits can be time-consuming and expensive to resolve and can divert management’s time and attention. The industry in which we operate is
characterized by the existence of a large number of patents, copyrights, trademarks, trade secrets, and other intellectual and proprietary rights. Companies in
the software industry are often required to defend against litigation claims based on allegations of infringement, misappropriation or other violations of
intellectual property rights. Our technologies may not be able to withstand any third-party claims against their use. In addition, many companies have the
capability to dedicate substantially greater resources to enforce their intellectual property rights and to defend claims that may be brought against them, than
we can. In a patent infringement claim against us, we may assert, as a defense, that we do not infringe the relevant patent claims, that the patent is invalid, or
both. The strength of our defenses may depend on the patents asserted, the interpretation of these patents, or our ability to invalidate the asserted patents.
However, we could be unsuccessful in advancing non-infringement and/or invalidity arguments in our defense. In the United States, issued patents enjoy a
presumption of validity, and the party challenging the validity of a patent claim must present clear and convincing evidence of invalidity, which is a high
burden of proof. Conversely, the patent owner need only prove infringement by a preponderance of the evidence, which is a lower burden of proof. We do not
currently have a large patent portfolio, which could prevent us from deterring patent infringement claims through our own patent portfolio, and our
competitors and others may now and in the future have significantly larger and more mature patent portfolios than we have. Any litigation may also involve
patent holding companies or other adverse patent owners that have no relevant product revenue, and therefore, our patents may provide little or no deterrence
as we would not be able to assert them against such entities or individuals.

An adverse result in any infringement or misappropriation proceeding could subject us to significant damages, injunctions and reputational harm. If a
third party is able to obtain an injunction preventing us from accessing such third-party intellectual property rights, or if we cannot license or develop
alternative technology for any infringing aspect of our business, we may be forced to limit or stop sales of our relevant products and technology capabilities or
cease business activities related to such intellectual property. We cannot predict the outcome of lawsuits and cannot ensure that the results of any such actions
will not have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations. Any intellectual property litigation to which we might become a
party, or for which we are required to provide indemnification, may require us to do one or more of the following:

• cease selling or using products or services that incorporate the intellectual property rights that we allegedly infringe, misappropriate or violate;

• make substantial payments for legal fees, settlement payments or other costs or damages;

• obtain a license, which may not be available on reasonable terms or at all, to sell or use the relevant technology;

• redesign the allegedly infringing products to avoid infringement, misappropriation or violation, which could be costly, time-consuming or impossible;
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• rebrand our products and services and/or be prevented from selling some of our products or services if third parties successfully oppose or challenge
our trademarks or successfully claim that we infringe, misappropriate or otherwise violate their trademarks or other intellectual property rights;
and/or

• limit the manner in which we use our brands.

Even if the claims do not result in litigation or are resolved in our favor, these claims, and the time and resources necessary to resolve them, could divert
the resources of management and harm our business and operating results. Moreover, there could be public announcements of the results of hearings, motions
or other interim proceedings or developments, and if securities analysts or investors perceive these results to be negative, it could have a substantial adverse
effect on the price of our common stock. The occurrence of infringement and misappropriation claims may grow as the market for our platform and products
grows. Accordingly, our exposure to damages resulting from infringement claims could increase and this could further exhaust our financial and management
resources. Any of the foregoing could adversely impact our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We employ third-party licensed software for use in our business, and the inability to maintain these licenses, errors in the software we license or the terms
of open source licenses could result in increased costs or reduced service levels, which would adversely affect our business.

Our business relies on certain third-party software obtained under licenses from other companies. We anticipate that we will continue to rely on such
third-party software in the future. Although we believe that there are commercially reasonable alternatives to the third-party software we currently license, this
may not always be the case, or it may be difficult or costly to replace. In addition, integration of new third-party software may require significant work and
require substantial investment of our time and resources. Our use of additional or alternative third-party software would require us to enter into license
agreements with third parties, which may not be available on commercially reasonable terms or at all. Many of the risks associated with the use of third-party
software cannot be eliminated, and these risks could negatively affect our business.

If we fail to comply with any of the obligations under our license agreements, we may be required to pay damages and the licensor may have the right to
terminate the license. Termination by the licensor would cause us to lose valuable rights, and could prevent us from selling our products and services, or
inhibit our ability to commercialize future products and services. Our business would suffer if any current or future licenses terminate, if the licensors fail to
abide by the terms of the license, if the licensors fail to enforce licensed intellectual property rights against infringing third parties, if licensed intellectual
property is found to be invalid or unenforceable or if we are unable to enter into necessary licenses on acceptable terms. In addition, our rights to certain
technologies, are licensed to us on a nonexclusive basis. The owners of these nonexclusively licensed technologies are therefore free to license them to third
parties, including our competitors, on terms that may be superior to those offered to us, which could place us at a competitive disadvantage. In addition, the
agreements under which we license intellectual property or technology from third parties are generally complex, and certain provisions in such agreements
may be susceptible to multiple interpretations. The resolution of any contract interpretation disagreement that may arise could narrow what we believe to be
the scope of our rights to the relevant intellectual property or technology, or increase what we believe to be our financial or other obligations under the
relevant agreement. Any of the foregoing could adversely impact our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Additionally, the software powering our technology systems incorporates software covered by open source licenses. The terms of many open source
licenses have not been interpreted by U.S. courts, and there is a risk that the licenses could be construed in a manner that imposes unanticipated conditions or
restrictions on our ability to operate our systems. If portions of our proprietary software are determined to be subject to certain open source licenses, we could
be required to publicly release the affected portions of our source code or reengineer all or a portion of our technology systems, each of which could reduce or
eliminate the value of our technology systems. Moreover, we cannot ensure that we have not incorporated additional open source software in our products in a
manner that is inconsistent with the terms of the applicable license or our current policies and procedures. Such risk could be difficult or impossible to
eliminate and could adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Risks Related to Ownership of Our Securities

The price of our securities may be volatile.
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The price of our securities may fluctuate due to a variety of factors, including:

• changes in the industries in which we and our customers operate;

• developments involving our competitors;

• changes in laws and regulations affecting our business;

• variations in our operating performance and the performance of our competitors in general;

• actual or anticipated fluctuations in our quarterly or annual operating results;

• publication of research reports by securities analysts about us or our competitors or our industry;

• the public’s reaction to our press releases, our other public announcements and our filings with the SEC;

• actions by stockholders, including the sale by investors of any of their shares of our common stock;

• additions and departures of key personnel;

• commencement of, or involvement in, litigation involving the combined company;

• changes in our capital structure, such as future issuances of securities or the incurrence of additional debt;

• the volume of shares of our common stock available for public sale; and

• general economic and political conditions, such as recessions, interest rates, housing prices, local and national elections, fuel prices, international
currency fluctuations, corruption, political instability, acts of war or terrorism, and the lingering effects of the COVID-19 outbreak.

These market and industry factors may materially reduce the market price of our securities regardless of our operating performance.

If we cannot regain compliance with the NYSE’s continued listing requirements and rules, the NYSE may delist our common stock, which could
negatively affect our company, the price of our common stock and our stockholders’ ability to sell our common stock.

On August 1, 2022, we received notice from the New York Stock Exchange (the “NYSE”) that we were no longer in compliance with the NYSE
continued listing standards, set forth in Section 802.01C of the NYSE’s Listed Company Manual (“Section 802.01C”), because the average closing price of
our common stock was less than $1.00 per share over a consecutive 30 trading-day period.

Pursuant to Section 802.01C, the company had a period of six months following the receipt of the notice to regain compliance with the minimum share
price requirement. The company would have regained compliance at any time during the six-month cure period if on the last trading day of any calendar
month during the cure period the common stock has a closing share price of at least $1.00 and an average closing share price of at least $1.00 over the 30
trading-day period ending on the last trading day of that month. The company was unable to regain compliance with the $1.00 share price rule within this
period, however, Section 802.01C also provides for an exception to the six-month cure period if the action required to cure the price condition requires
stockholder approval, as would be the case to effectuate a reverse stock split, in which case the action needs to be approved by no later than the company’s
next annual stockholders’ meeting, and the price condition will be deemed cured if the price of the common stock promptly exceeds $1.00 per share and the
price remains above that level for at least the following 30 trading days. The company intends to regain compliance with the requirements of Section 802.01C
by implementing a reverse stock split, subject to approval by the company’s (i) board of directors and (ii) stockholders at the next annual meeting of
stockholders, as permitted in Section 802.01C. However, there can be no assurances that the company will meet continued listing standards within the
specified cure period.

If we are unable to satisfy the NYSE criteria for continued listing, our common stock would be subject to delisting. A delisting of our common stock
could negatively impact us by, among other things, reducing the liquidity and market price of our common stock; reducing the number of investors willing to
hold or acquire our common stock, which could negatively impact our ability to raise equity financing; decreasing the amount of news and analyst coverage of
the company; and limiting our ability to issue additional securities or obtain additional financing
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in the future, which could put additional pressure on our liquidity and ability to continue to operate as a going concern. In addition, delisting from the NYSE
may negatively impact our reputation and, consequently, our business.

We do not intend to pay cash dividends for the foreseeable future.

We currently intend to retain our future earnings, if any, to finance the further development and expansion of our business and do not intend to pay cash
dividends in the foreseeable future. Any future determination to pay dividends will be at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend on our
financial condition, results of operations, capital requirements, restrictions contained in the Senior Debt as well as any future agreements and financing
instruments, business prospects and such other factors as our board of directors deems relevant. See also Item 1 “Business—Laws and Regulations—State
Disclosure Requirements and Other Substantive Insurance Regulations” for additional discussion regarding potential restrictions on our ability to distribute
dividends.

Insiders have substantial control over us and could limit your ability to influence the outcome of key transactions, including a change of control.

As of December 31, 2022, holders of more than 10% of our common stock, our directors and executive officers and entities affiliated with them own a
majority of the outstanding shares of our common stock. As a result, these stockholders, if acting together, would be able to influence or control matters
requiring approval by our stockholders, including the election of directors and the approval of mergers or other extraordinary transactions. They may also have
interests that differ from yours and may vote in a way with which you disagree and which may be adverse to your interests. The concentration of ownership
may have the effect of delaying, preventing or deterring a change of control of our company, could deprive our stockholders of an opportunity to receive a
premium for their common stock as part of a sale of our company and might ultimately affect the market price of our common stock.

Future sales or issuances of shares of our common stock may cause the market price of our securities to drop significantly, even if our business is doing
well.

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market could occur at any time. We have filed a registration statement to
register for resale the shares issued in the private placement that closed concurrent with the Business Combination, and shares held by certain other holders
pursuant to a registration rights agreement. In addition, our outstanding shares, other than those issued in the private placement and shares held by our
affiliates, are freely tradeable. Sales of our common stock, whether pursuant to the registration statement or otherwise, or the perception in the market that the
holders of a large number of shares intend to sell shares, could reduce the market price of our common stock. We are unable to predict the effect that sales may
have on the prevailing market price of our common stock and public warrants.

Additionally, to the extent our outstanding options or warrants are exercised, or our restricted stock units vest, additional shares of our common stock will
be issued, which will result in dilution to the holders of our common stock and increase the number of shares eligible for resale in the public market. Sales, or
the potential sales, of substantial numbers of shares in the public market by certain selling securityholders could increase the volatility of the market price of
our common stock or adversely affect the market price of our common stock.

Further, future issuances of shares of our common stock or other equity related securities, including any shares of our common stock issued to finance
capital expenditures, finance acquisitions or repay debt, will result in dilution to the holders of our common stock, will increase the number of shares eligible
for resale in the public market, and may adversely affect the market price of our common stock.

Delaware law and our organizational documents contain certain provisions, including anti-takeover provisions that limit the ability of stockholders to take
certain actions and could delay or discourage takeover attempts that stockholders may consider favorable.

The Delaware General Corporation Law (the “DGCL”) and our organizational documents contain provisions that could have the effect of rendering more
difficult, delaying or preventing an acquisition that stockholders may consider favorable, including transactions in which stockholders might otherwise receive
a premium for their shares. These provisions could also limit the price that investors might be willing to pay in the future for shares of our

49



Table of Contents

common stock, and therefore depress the trading price of our common stock. These provisions could also make it difficult for stockholders to take certain
actions, including electing directors who are not nominated by the current members of our board of directors or taking other corporate actions, including
effecting changes in management. Among other things, our certificate of incorporation and bylaws includes provisions regarding:

• providing for a classified board of directors with staggered, three-year terms;

• the ability of our board of directors to issue shares of preferred stock, including “blank check” preferred stock and to determine the price and other
terms of those shares, including preferences and voting rights, without stockholder approval, which could be used to significantly dilute the
ownership of a hostile acquirer;

• prohibiting cumulative voting in the election of directors, which limits the ability of minority stockholders to elect director candidates;

• the limitation of the liability of, and the indemnification of, our directors and officers;

• the ability of our board of directors to amend our bylaws, which may allow our board of directors to take additional actions to prevent an unsolicited
takeover and inhibit the ability of an acquirer to amend our bylaws to facilitate an unsolicited takeover attempt; and

• advance notice procedures with which stockholders must comply to nominate candidates to our board of directors or to propose matters to be acted
upon at a stockholders’ meeting, which could preclude stockholders from bringing matters before annual or special meetings of stockholders and
delay changes in our board of directors and also may discourage or deter a potential acquirer from conducting a solicitation of proxies to elect the
acquirer’s own slate of directors or otherwise attempting to obtain control of us.

These provisions, alone or together, could delay or prevent hostile takeovers and changes in control or changes in our board of directors or management.

Delaware law may delay or prevent a change in control, and may discourage bids for our common stock at a premium over its market price.

We are subject to the provisions of Section 203 of the DGCL. These provisions prohibit large stockholders, in particular a stockholder owning 15% or
more of the outstanding voting stock, from consummating a merger or combination with a corporation unless this stockholder receives board approval for the
transaction or 66 2/3% of the shares of voting stock not owned by the stockholder approve the merger or transaction. These provisions of Delaware law may
have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change in control, and may discourage bids for our common stock at a premium over its market price.

The provisions of our certificate of incorporation requiring exclusive forum in the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware and the federal district
courts of the United States for certain types of lawsuits may have the effect of discouraging lawsuits against our directors and officers.

Our certificate of incorporation provides that, unless we otherwise consent in writing, the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware is the sole and
exclusive forum for (i) any derivative action or proceeding brought on behalf of us; (ii) any action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any
director, officer, employee or agent of us to us or our stockholders, or any claim for aiding and abetting any such alleged breach; (iii) any action asserting a
claim against us, our directors, officers or employees arising pursuant to any provision of the DGCL, our certificate of incorporation or bylaws; or (iv) any
action asserting a claim against us, our directors, officers or employees governed by the internal affairs doctrine. This provision does not apply to suits brought
to enforce a duty or liability created by the Exchange Act or any claim for which the U.S. federal district courts have exclusive jurisdiction.

Further, our certificate of incorporation also provides that, unless we consent in writing, the U.S. federal district courts will be the exclusive forum for
resolving any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act. Although our certificate of incorporation provides that the U.S. federal
district courts will be the exclusive forum for resolving any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act it is possible that a court
could rule that such provisions are inapplicable for a particular claim or action or that such provisions
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are unenforceable. Moreover, investors cannot waive compliance with federal securities laws and the rules and regulations thereunder.

These provisions may have the effect of discouraging lawsuits against our directors and officers. The enforceability of similar choice of forum provisions
in other companies’ certificates of incorporation has been challenged in legal proceedings, and it is possible that, in connection with any applicable action
brought against us, a court could find the exclusive forum provisions contained in our certificate of incorporation to be inapplicable or unenforceable in such
action.

Our only significant asset is our ownership interest in our wholly owned subsidiary States Title and such ownership may not be sufficient to pay dividends
or make distributions or loans to enable us to pay any dividends on our common stock or satisfy our other financial obligations.

As of December 31, 2022, we have no significant direct operations and no significant assets other than our ownership of our wholly owned subsidiary
States Title. We will depend on States Title for distributions, loans and other payments to generate the funds necessary to meet our financial obligations,
including our expenses as a publicly traded company and to pay any dividends with respect to our common stock. The financial condition and operating
requirements of States Title may limit our ability to obtain cash from States Title. The earnings from, or other available assets of, States Title may not be
sufficient to pay dividends or make distributions or loans to enable us to pay any dividends on our common stock or satisfy our other financial obligations.
Further, the provisions of the Senior Debt will limit States Title ability and the ability of its subsidiaries to, among other things, pay dividends or make
distribution to us.

We will have broad discretion over the use of proceeds from the exercise of warrants and options, and we may invest or spend the proceeds in ways with
which investors do not agree and in ways that may not yield a return.

We will have broad discretion over the use of proceeds from the exercises of warrants and options. Investors may not agree with our decisions, and our
use of the proceeds may not yield a return on investment. We intend to use these net proceeds for working capital and other general corporate purposes, which
may include sales and marketing activities, research and development, general and administrative matters and capital expenditures. We may also use a portion
of the net proceeds for the acquisition of, or investment in, complementary companies, products, services, technologies or assets. However, we have no current
commitments or agreements to enter into any such acquisitions or make any such investments. Our use of these proceeds may differ substantially from our
current plans. Our failure to apply the net proceeds from the exercises of warrants and options effectively could impair our ability to pursue our growth
strategy or could require us to raise additional capital.

Risks Related to Accounting and Financial Reporting

We are currently an emerging growth company and a smaller reporting company within the meaning of the Securities Act, and to the extent we have taken
advantage of certain exemptions from disclosure requirements available to emerging growth companies or smaller reporting companies, this could make
our securities less attractive to investors and may make it more difficult to compare our performance with other public companies.

We are currently an “emerging growth company” within the meaning of the Securities Act, as modified by the JOBS Act, and we may take advantage of
certain exemptions from various reporting requirements that are applicable to other public companies that are not emerging growth companies including, but
not limited to, not being required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements of section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, reduced disclosure obligations
regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports and proxy statements, and exemptions from the requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory vote
on executive compensation and stockholder approval of any golden parachute payments not previously approved. As a result, our stockholders may not have
access to certain information they may deem important. We cannot predict whether investors will find our securities less attractive because we will rely on
these exemptions. If some investors find our securities less attractive as a result of our reliance on these exemptions, the trading prices of our securities may be
lower than they otherwise would be, there may be a less active trading market for our securities and the trading prices of our securities may be more volatile.

Further, section 102(b)(1) of the JOBS Act exempts emerging growth companies from being required to comply with new or revised financial accounting
standards until private companies (that is, those that have not had a Securities Act registration statement declared effective or do not have a class of securities
registered under the
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Exchange Act) are required to comply with the new or revised financial accounting standards. The JOBS Act provides that a company can elect to opt out of
the extended transition period and comply with the requirements that apply to non-emerging growth companies but any such election to opt out is irrevocable.
We have elected not to opt out of such extended transition period, which means that when a standard is issued or revised and it has different application dates
for public or private companies, we, as an emerging growth company, can adopt the new or revised standard at the time private companies adopt the new or
revised standard. This may make comparison of our financial statements with another public company, which is neither an emerging growth company nor an
emerging growth company that has opted out of using the extended transition period difficult or impossible because of the potential differences in accountant
standards used.

We will cease to be an emerging growth company upon the earliest of (i) the end of the fiscal year following the fifth anniversary of the closing of
Capitol’s initial public offering; (ii) the first fiscal year after our annual gross revenues are $1.07 billion or more; (iii) the date on which we have, during the
three-year period, issued more than $1.0 billion in nonconvertible debt securities; or (iv) the end of any fiscal year in which we are deemed to be a large
accelerated filer, which means the market value of our common stock held by non-affiliates exceeded $700 million as of the end of the second quarter of that
fiscal year.

Additionally, we are a “smaller reporting company” as defined in Item 10(f)(1) of Regulation S-K. Smaller reporting companies may take advantage of
certain reduced disclosure obligations, including, among other things, providing only two years of audited financial statements.

We will remain a smaller reporting company until the last day of the fiscal year in which (1) the market value of our common stock held by non-affiliates
exceeds $250 million as of the end of that fiscal year’s second quarter, or (2) our annual revenues exceeded $100 million during such completed fiscal year
and the market value of our common stock held by non-affiliates exceeds $700 million as of the end of that fiscal year’s second quarter. To the extent we take
advantage of such reduced disclosure obligations, it may also make comparison of our financial statements with other public companies difficult or
impossible.

As provided by law, after we lose our “emerging growth company” and/or “smaller reporting company” status, we will no longer be able to take
advantage of certain exemptions from reporting, and we will also be required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements of section 404 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act. We will incur additional expenses in connection with such compliance and management will need to devote additional time and effort to
implement and comply with such requirements.

Our Public and Private Placement Warrants are accounted for as liabilities and the changes in value of our warrants could have a material effect on our
financial results.

On April 12, 2021, the Acting Director of the Division of Corporation Finance and Acting Chief Accountant of the SEC together issued a statement
regarding the accounting and reporting considerations for warrants issued by special purpose acquisition companies entitled “Staff Statement on Accounting
and Reporting Considerations for Warrants Issued by Special Purpose Acquisition Companies (“SPACs”)” (the “SEC Statement”). Specifically, the SEC
Statement focused on certain settlement terms and provisions related to certain tender offers following a business combination, which terms are similar to
those contained in the Warrant Agreement governing our warrants.

We have 11,500,000 public warrants and 5,833,333 private placement warrants, and have determined to classify the warrants as derivative liabilities
measured at fair value, with changes in fair value each period reported in earnings. As a result, included on our consolidated balance sheets as of
December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021 contained in this Annual Report are derivative liabilities related to embedded features contained within the
warrants.

Accounting Standards Codification Topic 815, “Derivatives and Hedging—Contracts in Entity’s Own Equity,” provides for the remeasurement of the fair
value of such derivatives at each balance sheet date, with a resulting non-cash gain or loss related to the change in the fair value being recognized in earnings
in the statements of operations. As a result of the recurring fair value measurement, our financial statements and results of operations may fluctuate quarterly,
based on factors that are outside of our control. Due to the recurring fair value measurement, we expect that we will recognize noncash gains or losses on the
warrants each reporting period and that the amount of such gains or losses could be material.
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If we are unable to develop and maintain an effective system of internal control over financial reporting, we may not be able to accurately report our
financial results in a timely manner, which may adversely affect investor confidence in us and materially and adversely affect our business and operating
results.

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining internal controls over financial reporting, disclosure controls, and complying with the other
requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the rules promulgated by the SEC thereunder. Internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements in accordance with international
financial reporting standards. A material weakness is defined as a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting,
such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of a company’s annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected
by the company’s internal controls on a timely basis.

In addition, prior to the Business Combination, Old Doma, as a private company, was not required to document and test its internal controls over financial
reporting nor was management required to certify the effectiveness of internal controls or have its auditors opine on the effectiveness of its internal control
over financial reporting. As a public company, we are now subject to the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, among other things, that we
maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting. We are also continuing to improve our internal control over
financial reporting. In order to maintain and improve the effectiveness of our procedures and internal control over financial reporting, we have expended, and
anticipate that we will continue to expend, resources, including accounting-related costs and significant management oversight. However, as the accounting
acquirer in the Business Combination, we cannot assure you that we have identified all, or that we will not in the future have additional material weaknesses.

If we identify any material weaknesses in the future, any such newly identified material weakness could limit our ability to prevent or detect a
misstatement of our accounts or disclosures that could result in a material misstatement of our annual or interim financial statements. In such case, we may be
unable to maintain compliance with securities law requirements regarding timely filing of periodic reports in addition to the New York Stock Exchange
(“NYSE”) listing requirements, investors may lose confidence in our financial reporting and our stock price may decline as a result. We cannot assure you that
the measures taken to date, or any measures taken in the future, will be sufficient to avoid potential future material weaknesses.

General Risks

The obligations associated with being a public company involve significant expenses and have required and will continue to require significant resources
and management attention, which may divert from our business operations.

As a privately held company, Old Doma had not been required to comply with many corporate governance and financial reporting practices and policies
required of a publicly traded company. As a public company, we are subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, and
the listing standards of the NYSE. The Exchange Act requires the filing of annual, quarterly and current reports with respect to a public company’s business
and financial condition. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, among other things, that a public company establish and maintain effective internal control over
financial reporting. As a result, we have incurred and will continue to incur significant legal, accounting and other expenses. These expenses will increase
once we are no longer an “emerging growth company” as defined under the JOBS Act or a “smaller reporting company.” Also, our entire management team
and many of our other employees have devoted and will continue to devote substantial time to compliance.

These rules and regulations have and will continue to result in us incurring substantial legal and financial compliance costs and have made and will
continue to make some activities more time-consuming and costly. For example, these rules and regulations make it more difficult and more expensive for us
to obtain director and officer liability insurance, and it may be required to accept reduced policy limits and coverage or incur substantially higher costs to
obtain the same or similar coverage. As a result, it may be difficult for us to attract and retain qualified people to serve on our board of directors, our board
committees or as executive officers.

If analysts do not publish research about our business or if they publish inaccurate or unfavorable research, our stock price and trading volume could
decline.
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The trading market for our common stock will depend in part on the research and reports that analysts publish about our business. We do not have any
control over these analysts. If one or more of the analysts who cover us downgrade our common stock or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about our
business, the price of our common stock would likely decline. If one or more of these analysts cease coverage of our company or fails to regularly publish
reports on us, we could lose visibility in the financial markets, which in turn could cause our stock price or trading volume to decline. In addition, if we fail to
meet the expectations and forecasts for our business provided by securities analysts, our stock price could decline.

We may be subject to securities litigation, which is expensive and could divert management attention.

The market price of our common stock may be volatile and, in the past, companies that have experienced volatility in the market price of their stock have been
subject to securities class action litigation. We may be the target of this type of litigation in the future. We may also may become the target of litigation from
our involvement in the Business Combination as described in Note 1 “Organization and business operations” contained in Part II, Item 8 “Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Annual Report. Securities litigation against us could result in substantial costs and divert management’s attention
from other business concerns, which could seriously harm our business.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 2. Properties

We primarily operate through a network of leased properties, including largely office spaces. We believe our existing facilities are adequate to meet our
current business requirements and that we will be able to find suitable space to accommodate any potential future expansion. Our leased properties total
approximately 344,886 square feet, with the most significant properties being our headquarters in San Francisco, California, our central operations in Irvine,
California, our operations in Dublin, California, and our insurance underwriter’s offices in Miami, Florida.

The following table lists the principal facilities leased by us as of December 31, 2022:

Location Function Approximate Square Feet
San Francisco, CA Headquarters 12,248 
Irvine, CA Central Operations 46,509 
Miami, FL Underwriting 9,973 
Dublin, CA Operations 16,400 

We believe that our headquarters, operations and underwriting centers are generally adequate to meet our long-term needs and business goals. See also the
information set forth in Note 21 “Leases” contained in Part II, Item 8 “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Annual Report. Our
headquarters are currently located in the leased space at 101 Mission Street, Suite 740, San Francisco, California 94105.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

In the ordinary course of business, the Company is, or may become, involved in various pending or threatened litigation matters related to our operations,
some of which may include claims for punitive or exemplary damages. For our business, customary litigation includes, but is not limited to, cases related to
title and escrow claims, for which we make provisions through our loss reserves. Further, ordinary course litigation may include class action and purported
class action lawsuits.

Additionally, we may, from time to time, receive various inquiries from governmental regulators concerning practices in the title insurance industry or
other matters. Management reviews all legal proceedings (which includes lawsuits and other legal and regulatory matters and inquiries) on an ongoing basis
when making its accrual and disclosure decisions. When assessing reasonably possible and probable outcomes, management bases its decision on
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its assessment of the ultimate outcome of the proceeding. For legal proceedings in which it is determined that a loss is both probable and reasonably estimable,
a liability which represents our best estimate, based on known facts, will be recorded. Actual losses for a legal proceeding may differ materially from the
amounts recorded, if any, and the ultimate outcome of our pending legal proceedings is generally not yet determinable. While it is possible that some matters
could be material to our operating results or cash flows in any particular period in the event of an unfavorable outcome, management does not believe the
resolution of any such legal proceedings, individually or in the aggregate, will have a materially adverse effect on our financial position or results of
operations.

See also the information set forth in Note 15 “Legal Matters” contained in Part II, Item 8 “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Annual
Report and Part I, Item 1A “Risk Factors—Risks Related to Our Business and Industry—Litigation and legal proceedings filed by or against us and our
subsidiaries could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition,” which are incorporated by reference into this
Item 3 of Part I.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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Part II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Market Information for our Common Stock and Warrants

Our common stock and public warrants have been listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “DOMA” and “DOMA.WS,” respectively,
since July 29, 2021. Prior to that date, and before the completion of the Business Combination, Capitol’s Class A common stock and public warrants were
listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “CAP” and “CAP WS,” respectively.

Holders of Record

As of February 24, 2023, there were approximately 330,141,986 shares of common stock outstanding and 11,500,000 public warrants to purchase
common stock outstanding, with 53 and 6 holders of record, respectively.

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our common stock. We currently intend to retain any future earnings to fund the development and
growth of our business, and do not expect to pay any dividends in the foreseeable future. Any future determination to declare cash dividends will be at the
discretion of our board of directors, subject to applicable laws and contractual obligations, and will depend on our financial condition, results of operations,
capital requirements, general business conditions and other factors that our board of directors may deem relevant.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Equity Securities

None.

Use of Proceeds

None.

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers

None.

Item 6. Reserved

Reserved.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of the financial condition and results of operations of Doma should be read together with the audited consolidated
financial statements as of December 31, 2022 and 2021 and for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020 together with the related notes thereto,
contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K (this “Annual Report”). Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations generally includes tables with two year financial performance, accompanied by narrative for 2022. For further discussion of prior period
financial results, please refer to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021 filed with the SEC on March 4, 2022. This discussion
may contain forward-looking statements based upon current expectations that involve risks and uncertainties and should be read in conjunction with the
disclosures and information contained in “Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” in this Annual Report. Our actual results may differ
materially from those projected in these forward-looking statements as a result of various factors, including those set forth under Part I, Item 1A “Risk
Factors” or in other parts of this Annual Report. Certain amounts may not foot due to rounding. All forward-looking statements in this Annual Report are
based on information available to us as of the date hereof, and we assume no obligation to update any such forward-looking statements to reflect future events
or circumstances, except as required by law.

Unless the context otherwise requires, references to “company,” “Company,” “Doma,” “we,” “us,” “our” and similar terms refer to Doma Holdings,
Inc. (f/k/a Capitol Investment Corp. V) and its consolidated subsidiaries. References to “Capitol” refer to our predecessor company prior to the
consummation of the Business Combination. References to “Old Doma” refer to Old Doma prior to the Business Combination and to States Title Holding,
Inc. (“States Title”), the wholly owned subsidiary of Doma, upon the consummation of the Business Combination.

Our Business Model

We primarily originate, underwrite, and provide title, escrow and settlement services for the two most prevalent transaction types in the residential real
estate market: purchase and refinance transactions. We operate and report our business through two complementary reporting segments, Distribution and
Underwriting. See “—Basis of Presentation” below.

Our Distribution segment reflects the sale of our products and services, other than underwriting and insurance services reflected in our Underwriting
segment, that we provide through our captive title agents and agencies (“Direct Agents”). We market our products and services through two channels to appeal
to our referral partners and ultimately reach our customers, the individuals purchasing a new home or refinancing their existing mortgage:

• Doma Enterprise – we target partnerships with national lenders and mortgage originators that maintain centralized lending operations. Once a
partnership has been established, we integrate our Doma Intelligence platform with the partner’s production systems, to enable frictionless order
origination and fulfillment. Substantially all Doma Enterprise orders are underwritten by Doma.

• Local Markets (“Local”) – we target partnerships with realtors, attorneys and non-centralized loan originators via a 91-branch footprint across eight
states as of December 31, 2022. Our branch footprint has decreased to 81 as of February 2023 as we continue to focus on Local branch-level
profitability. For the year ended December 31, 2022, approximately 90% of our lender and owner policies from our Local channel were underwritten
by Doma, while the remaining share was underwritten by third-party underwriters.

Our Underwriting segment reflects the sale of our underwriting and insurance services. These services are integrated with our Direct Agents channel and
other non-captive title and escrow agents in the market (“Third-Party Agents”) through our captive title insurance carrier. For customers sourced through the
Third-Party Agents channel, we retain a portion of the title premium (approximately 16% - 18%) in exchange for underwriting risk to our balance sheet. The
Third-Party Agents channel includes the title underwriting and insurance services we provide to Lennar, a related party, for its home builder transactions.

The financial results of our Direct Agents channel impact both our Distribution and Underwriting reporting segments, whereas the results from the Third-
Party Agents channel impact only the Underwriting reporting segment.
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Our expenses generally consist of direct fulfillment expenses related to closing a transaction and insuring the risk, customer acquisition costs related to
acquiring new business, and other operating expenses as described below:

• Direct fulfillment expenses – comprised of direct labor and direct non-labor expenses. Direct labor expenses refer to payroll costs associated with
employees who directly contribute to the opening and closing of an order. Some examples of direct labor expenses include title and escrow services,
closing services, underwriting and customer service. Direct non-labor expenses refer to non-payroll expenses that are closely linked with order
volume, such as provision for claims, title examination expense, office supplies, and premium and other related taxes.

• Customer acquisition costs – this category is comprised of sales payroll, sales commissions, customer success payroll, sales-related travel and
entertainment, and an allocated portion of corporate marketing.

• Other operating expenses – all other expenses that do not directly contribute to the fulfillment or acquisition of an order or policy are considered
other operating expenses. This category is predominately comprised of research and development costs, corporate support expenses, occupancy, and
other general and administrative expenses.

We expect to continue to invest in the instant underwriting capabilities of our Doma Intelligence platform as well as organic and inorganic growth
opportunities in order to remain competitive with existing large-scale industry incumbents who are well financed and have significant resources to defend their
existing market positions. Over time, we plan to use our cash flows to invest in customer acquisition, research and development, and new product offerings, to
further improve revenue growth and accelerate the elimination of the friction and expense of closing a residential real estate transaction.

Basis of Presentation

We report results for our two operating segments:

• Distribution – our Distribution segment reflects our Direct Agents operations of acquiring customer orders and providing title and escrow services
for real estate closing transactions. We acquire customers through our Local and Doma Enterprise customer referral channels.

• Underwriting – our Underwriting segment reflects the results of our title insurance underwriting business, including policies referred through our
Direct Agents and Third-Party Agents channels. The referring agents retain approximately 82% - 84% of the policy premiums in exchange for their
services. The retention rate varies by state and agent.

Costs are allocated to the segments to arrive at adjusted gross profit, our segment measure of profit and loss. Our accounting policies for segments are the
same as those applied to our consolidated financial statements, except as described below under “—Key Components of Revenues and Expenses.” Inter-
segment revenues and expenses are eliminated in consolidation. See Note 7 in our consolidated financial statements for a summary of our segment results and
a reconciliation between segment adjusted gross profit and our consolidated loss before income taxes.

Significant Events and Transactions

The Business Combination

On the Closing Date, Capitol consummated the Business Combination with Old Doma, pursuant to the Agreement. In connection with the closing of the
Business Combination, Old Doma changed its name to States Title Holding, Inc., Capitol changed its name to Doma Holdings, Inc. (“Doma”) and Old Doma
became a wholly owned subsidiary of Doma. Doma continues the existing business operations of Old Doma as a publicly traded company. Refer to Note 3 to
the consolidated financial statements for additional details on the Business Combination.

As a result of the Business Combination, we became the operating successor to an SEC-registered and New York Stock Exchange-listed shell company.
Becoming public has required us to hire additional personnel and implement procedures and processes to address public company regulatory requirements and
practices. Also, we
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incur annual expenses as a public company for, among other things, directors’ and officers’ liability insurance, director fees, and additional internal and
external accounting, legal, and administrative resources.

Impact of COVID-19 and Other Macroeconomic Trends

COVID-19 has resulted in significant macroeconomic impacts, market disruptions, and volatility in the real estate market. The on-going macroeconomic
trends impacting the residential real estate market include a shortage in the supply of homes for sale, increasing home prices, rising mortgage interest rates,
inflation, disrupted labor markets and geopolitical uncertainties.

We operate in the real estate industry and our business volumes are directly impacted by market trends for mortgage refinancing transactions, existing real
estate purchase transactions, and new real estate purchase transactions, particularly in the residential segment of the market. Our success depends on a high
volume of residential and, to a lesser extent, commercial real estate transactions, throughout the markets in which we operate. Responses to the COVID-19
pandemic initially led to a material decline in purchase transactions. Subsequent U.S. federal stimulus measures in 2021, including interest rate reductions by
the Federal Reserve, and local regulatory initiatives, such as permitting remote notarization, led to a quick recovery for the real estate industry and resulted in
an increase in mortgage refinancing and purchase volumes, which we believe benefited our business model.

Through 2022, to combat inflation, the Federal Reserve raised the benchmark interest rate by a total of 425 basis points. Average interest rates for a 30-
year fixed rate mortgage rose to 6.36% as of December 2022 as compared to 3.1% for the corresponding period of 2021. As interest rates rise, the outlook on
refinance transactions continues to decline.

Demand for mortgages tends to correlate closely with changes in interest rates, meaning that our order trends have been, and will likely continue to be,
impacted by future changes in interest rates. However, we believe that our current, low market share and disruptive approach to title insurance, escrow, and
closing services will enable us to gain market share within markets in which we operate, which in turn should mitigate the risk to our revenue growth trends
relative to industry incumbents.

We continue to monitor economic and regulatory developments closely as we navigate the volatility and uncertainty created by the pandemic and the
subsequent macroeconomic activity.

New York Stock Exchange Notice on Continued Listing Standards

On August 1, 2022, we received notice from the New York Stock Exchange (the “NYSE”) that we were no longer in compliance with the NYSE
continued listing standards, set forth in Section 802.01C of the NYSE’s Listed Company Manual (“Section 802.01C”), because the average closing price of
our common stock was less than $1.00 per share over a consecutive 30 trading-day period. Pursuant to Section 802.01C, the company had a period of six
months following the receipt of the notice to regain compliance with the minimum share price requirement. The company would have regained compliance at
any time during the six-month cure period if on the last trading day of any calendar month during the cure period the common stock has a closing share price
of at least $1.00 and an average closing share price of at least $1.00 over the 30 trading-day period ending on the last trading day of that month. The company
was unable to regain compliance with the $1.00 share price rule within this period, however, Section 802.01C also provides for an exception to the six-month
cure period if the action required to cure the price condition requires stockholder approval, as would be the case to effectuate a reverse stock split, in which
case the action needs to be approved by no later than the company’s next annual stockholders’ meeting, and the price condition will be deemed cured if the
price of the common stock promptly exceeds $1.00 per share and the price remains above that level for at least the following 30 trading days.

The company intends to regain compliance with the requirements of Section 802.01C by implementing a reverse stock split, subject to approval by the
company’s (i) board of directors and (ii) stockholders at the next annual meeting of stockholders, as permitted in Section 802.01C. However, there can be no
assurances that the Company will meet continued listing standards within the specified cure period.
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Key Operating and Financial Indicators

We regularly review several key operating and financial indicators to evaluate our performance and trends and inform management’s budgets, financial
projections and strategic decisions.

The following table presents our key operating and financial indicators, as well as the relevant generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”)
measures, for the periods indicated:

Year Ended
2022 2021

(in thousands, except for open and closed order numbers)

Key operating data:
Opened orders 93,534 178,689 
Closed orders 71,953 136,428 
GAAP financial data:
Revenue $ 440,181 $ 558,043 
Gross profit $ 30,829 $ 103,261 
Net loss $ (302,209) $ (113,056)
Non-GAAP financial data :
Retained premiums and fees $ 178,705 $ 259,598 
Adjusted gross profit $ 46,848 $ 113,582 
Ratio of adjusted gross profit to retained premiums and fees 26 % 44 %
Adjusted EBITDA $ (134,914) $ (71,592)
_________________
(1) Revenue is comprised of (i) net premiums written, (ii) escrow, other title-related fees and other, and (iii) investment, dividend and other income. Net loss is made up of the components of

revenue and expenses. For more information about measures appearing in our consolidated income statements, refer to “—Key Components of Revenue and Expenses—Revenue” below.
(2) Gross profit, calculated in accordance with GAAP, is calculated as total revenue, minus premiums retained by Third-Party Agents, direct labor expense (including mainly personnel expense for

certain employees involved in the direct fulfillment of policies) and direct non-labor expense (including mainly title examination expense, provision for claims, and depreciation and
amortization). In our consolidated income statements, depreciation and amortization is recorded under the “other operating expenses” caption.

(3) Retained premiums and fees, adjusted gross profit and adjusted EBITDA are non-GAAP financial measures. Refer to “—Non-GAAP Financial Measures” below for additional information and
reconciliations of these measures to the most closely comparable GAAP financial measures.

Opened and closed orders

Opened orders represent the number of orders placed for title insurance and/or escrow services (which includes the disbursement of funds, signing of
documents and recording of the transaction with the county office) through our Direct Agents, typically in connection with a home purchase or mortgage
refinancing transaction. An order may be opened upon an indication of interest in a specific property from a customer and may be cancelled by the customer
before or after the signing of a purchase or loan agreement. Closed orders represent the number of opened orders for title insurance and/or escrow services that
were successfully fulfilled in each period with the issuance of a title insurance policy and/or provision of escrow services. Opened and closed orders do not
include orders or referrals for title insurance from our Third-Party Agents. A closed order for a home purchase transaction typically results in the issuance of
two title insurance policies, whereas a refinance transaction typically results in the issuance of one title insurance policy.

We review opened orders as a leading indicator of our Direct Agents revenue pipeline and closed orders as a direct indicator of Direct Agents revenue for
the concurrent period, and believe these measures are useful to investors for the same reasons. We believe that the relationship between opened and closed
orders will remain relatively consistent over time, and that opened order growth is generally a reliable indicator of future financial performance. However,
degradation in the ratio of opened orders to closed orders may be a leading indicator of adverse macroeconomic or real estate market trends.

(1)

(2)

(3)
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Retained premiums and fees

Retained premiums and fees, a non-GAAP financial measure, is defined as total revenue under GAAP minus premiums retained by Third-Party Agents.
See “—Non-GAAP Financial Measures” below for a reconciliation of our retained premiums and fees to gross profit, the most closely comparable GAAP
measure, and additional information about the limitations of our non-GAAP measures.

Our business strategy is focused on leveraging our Doma Intelligence platform to provide an overall improved customer and referral partner experience
and to drive time and expense efficiencies. In our Third-Party Agents channel, we provide our underwriting expertise and balance sheet to insure the risk on
policies referred by such Third-Party Agents and, for that service, we typically receive approximately 16% - 18% of the premium for the policy we
underwrite. As such, we use retained premiums and fees, which is net of the impact of premiums retained by Third-Party Agents, as an important measure of
the earning power of our business and our future growth trends, and believe it is useful to investors for the same reasons.

Adjusted gross profit

Adjusted gross profit, a non-GAAP financial measure, is defined as gross profit (loss) under GAAP, adjusted to exclude the impact of depreciation and
amortization. See “—Non-GAAP Financial Measures” below for a reconciliation of our adjusted gross profit to gross profit, the most closely comparable
GAAP measure and additional information about the limitations of our non-GAAP measures.

Management views adjusted gross profit as an important indicator of our underlying profitability and efficiency. As we generate more business that is
serviced through our Doma Intelligence platform, we expect to reduce fulfillment costs as our direct labor expense per order continues to decline, and we
expect the adjusted gross profit per transaction to grow faster than retained premiums and fees per transaction over the long term.

Ratio of adjusted gross profit to retained premiums and fees

Ratio of adjusted gross profit to retained premiums and fees, a non-GAAP measure, expressed as a percentage, is calculated by dividing adjusted gross
profit by retained premiums and fees. Both the numerator and denominator are net of the impact of premiums retained by Third-Party Agents because that is a
cost related to our Underwriting segment over which we have limited control, as Third-Party Agents customarily retain approximately 82% - 84% of the
premiums related to a title insurance policy referral pursuant to the terms of long-term contracts.

We view the ratio of adjusted gross profit to retained premiums and fees as an important indicator of our operating efficiency and the impact of our
machine-learning capabilities, and believe it is useful to investors for the same reasons.

Adjusted EBITDA

Adjusted EBITDA, a non-GAAP financial measure, is defined as net income (loss) before interest, income taxes and depreciation and amortization, and
further adjusted to exclude the impact of stock-based compensation, severance costs, goodwill impairment, long-lived asset impairment, the change in fair
value of Warrant and Sponsor Covered Shares liabilities and accelerated contract expense. See “—Non-GAAP Financial Measures” below for a reconciliation
of our adjusted EBITDA to net loss, the most closely comparable GAAP measure and additional information about the limitations of our non-GAAP
measures.

We review adjusted EBITDA as an important measure of our recurring and underlying financial performance, and believe it is useful to investors for the
same reason.
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Key Components of Revenues and Expenses

Revenues

Net premiums written

We generate net premiums by underwriting title insurance policies and recognize premiums in full upon the closing of the underlying transaction. For
some of our Third-Party Agents, we also accrue premium revenue for title insurance policies we estimate to have been issued in the current period but
reported to us by the Third-Party Agent in a subsequent period. See “—Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates— Accrued net premiums written from
Third-Party Agent referrals” below for further explanation of this accrual. For the years ended 2022 and 2021, the average time lag between the issuing of
these policies by our Third-Party Agents and the reporting of these policies or premiums to us has been approximately three months. Net premiums written is
inclusive of the portion of premiums retained by Third-Party Agents, which is recorded as an expense, as described below.

To reduce the risk associated with our underwritten insurance policies, we utilize reinsurance programs to limit our maximum loss exposure. Under our
reinsurance treaties, we cede the premiums on the underlying policies in exchange for a ceding commission from the reinsurer and our net premiums written
exclude such ceded premiums.

Our principal reinsurance quota share agreement covers instantly underwritten policies from refinance and home equity line of credit transactions under
which we historically ceded 100% of the written premium of each covered policy during 2020, and during the period from January 1, 2021 through February
23, 2021. Pursuant to a renewed agreement, which became effective on February 24, 2021, we cede only 25% of the written premium on such instantly
underwritten policies, up to a total reinsurance coverage limit of $80.0 million in premiums reinsured, after which we retain 100% of the written premium on
instantly underwritten policies. This reduction in ceding percentage has resulted in higher net premiums written per transaction when compared to prior period
results. Refer to Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements above for additional details on our reinsurance treaties.

Escrow, other title-related fees and other

Escrow fees and other title-related fees are charged for managing the closing of real estate transactions, including the processing of funds on behalf of the
transaction participants, gathering and recording the required closing documents, providing notary services, and other real estate or title-related activities.
Other fees relate to various ancillary services we provide, including fees for rendering a cashier’s check, document preparation fees, homeowner’s association
letter fees, inspection fees, lien letter fees and wire fees. We also recognize ceding commissions received in connection with reinsurance treaties, to the extent
the amount of such ceding commissions exceeds reinsurance-related costs.

This revenue item is most directly associated with our Distribution segment. For segment-level reporting, agent premiums retained by our Distribution
segment are recorded as revenue under the “escrow, other title-related fees and other” caption of our segment income statements, while our Underwriting
segment records a corresponding expense for insurance policies issued by us. The impact of these internal transactions is eliminated upon consolidation.

Investment, dividends and other income

Investment, dividends and other income are mainly generated from our investment portfolio. We primarily invest in fixed income securities, mainly
composed of corporate debt obligations, certificates of deposit, U.S. Treasuries, foreign government securities and mortgage loans.

Expenses

Premiums retained by Third-Party Agents

When customers are referred to us and we underwrite a policy, the referring Third-Party Agent retains a significant portion of the premium, which
typically amounts to approximately 82% - 84% of the premium. The
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portion of premiums retained by Third-Party Agents is recorded as an expense. These referral expenses relate exclusively to our Underwriting segment.

For segment-level reporting, premiums retained by our Direct Agents (which are recorded as Distribution segment revenue) are recorded as part of
“premiums retained by agents” expense for our Underwriting segment. The impact of these internal transactions is eliminated upon consolidation.

Title examination expense

Title examination expense is incurred in connection with the search and examination of public information prior to the issuance of title insurance policies.

Provision for claims

Provision for claims expense is comprised of three components: IBNR losses, known claims loss and loss adjustment expenses and escrow-related losses.

IBNR is a loss reserve that primarily reflects the sum of expected losses for unreported claims. The expense is calculated by applying a rate (the loss
provision rate) to total title insurance premiums. The loss provision rate is determined throughout the year based in part upon an assessment performed by an
independent actuarial firm utilizing generally accepted actuarial methods. The assessment also takes account of industry trends, the regulatory environment
and geographic considerations and is updated during the year based on developments. This loss provision rate is set to provide for losses on current year
policies. Due to our long claim exposure, our provision for claims periodically includes amounts of adverse or positive claims development on policies issued
in prior years, when claims on such policies are higher or lower than initially expected.

Based on the risk profile of premium vintages over time and based upon the projections of an independent actuarial firm, we build or release reserves
related to our older policies. Our IBNR may increase as a proportion of our revenue as we continue to increase the proportion of our business serviced through
our Doma Intelligence platform, though we believe it will decrease over the long term as our predictive machine intelligence technology produces improved
results.

Known claims loss and loss adjustment expense reserves is an expense that reflects the best estimate of the remaining cost to resolve a claim, based on the
information available at the time. In practice, most claims do not settle for the initial known claims provision; rather, as new information is developed during
the course of claims administration, the initial estimates are revised, sometimes downward and sometimes upward. This additional development is provided
for in the actuarial projection of IBNR, but it is not allocable to specific claims. Actual costs that are incurred in the claims administration are booked to loss
adjustment expense, which is primarily comprised of legal expenses associated with investigating and settling a claim.

Escrow-related losses are primarily attributable to clerical errors that arise during the escrow process and caused by the settlement agent.

Personnel costs

Personnel costs include base salaries, employee benefits, bonuses paid to employees, stock-based compensation, payroll taxes and severance. This
expense is primarily driven by the average number of employees and our hiring activities in a given period.

In our presentation and reconciliation of segment results and our calculation of gross profit, we classify personnel costs as either direct or indirect
expenses, reflecting the activities performed by each employee. Direct personnel costs relate to employees whose job function is directly related to our
fulfillment activities, including underwriters, closing agents, escrow agents, funding agents, and title and curative agents, and are included in the calculation of
our segment adjusted gross profit. Indirect personnel costs relate to employees whose roles do not directly support our transaction fulfillment activities,
including sales agents, training specialists and customer success agents, segment management, research and development and other information technology
personnel, and corporate support staff.
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Other operating expenses

Other operating expenses are comprised of occupancy, maintenance and utilities, product taxes (for example, state taxes on premiums written),
professional fees (including legal, audit and other third-party consulting costs), software licenses and sales tools, travel and entertainment costs, and
depreciation and amortization, among other costs.

Goodwill impairment

Goodwill impairment consists of non-cash impairment charges relating to goodwill. We review goodwill for impairment annually on October 1 and more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that an impairment may exist. If the carrying value of the reporting unit exceeds its fair value, an
impairment loss equal to the excess is recorded.

Long-lived asset impairment

Long-lived asset impairment consists of non-cash impairment charges relating to internally developed software, operating lease right-of-use assets and
other fixed assets. We review these long-lived assets if events or changes in circumstances indicate that an impairment may exist. If the carrying value of these
assets exceeds its fair value, an impairment loss equal to the excess is recorded.

Change in fair value of Warrant and Sponsor Covered Shares liabilities

Change in fair value of Warrant and Sponsor Covered Shares liabilities consists of unrealized gains and losses as a result of recording our Warrants and
Sponsor Covered Shares to fair value at the end of each reporting period.

Income tax expense

Although we are in a consolidated net loss position and report our federal income taxes as a consolidated tax group, we incur state income taxes in certain
jurisdictions where we have profitable operations. Additionally, we incur mandatory minimum state income taxes in certain jurisdictions. Also, we have
recognized deferred tax assets but have offset them with a full valuation allowance, reflecting substantial uncertainty as to their recoverability in future
periods. Until we report at least three years of profitability, we may not be able to realize the tax benefits of these deferred tax assets.

Results of Operations

We discuss our historical results of operations below, on a consolidated basis and by segment. Past financial results are not indicative of future results. As
previously mentioned, our results of operations include tables with two years of financial performance, accompanied by narrative for 2022 as compared to
2021. For further discussion of prior period financial results, refer to our annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021, filed with the
SEC on March 4, 2022.
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Year Ended December 31, 2022 Compared to the Year Ended December 31, 2021

The following table sets forth a summary of our consolidated results of operations for the periods indicated, and the changes between periods.

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021 $ Change % Change

(in thousands, except percentages)

Revenues:
Net premiums written $ 385,253 $ 475,352 $ (90,099) (19)%
Escrow, other title-related fees and other 52,008 79,585 (27,577) (35)%
Investment, dividend and other income 2,920 3,106 (186) (6)%

Total revenues $ 440,181 $ 558,043 $ (117,862) (21)%
Expenses:

Premiums retained by Third-Party Agents $ 261,476 $ 298,445 $ (36,969) (12)%
Title examination expense 18,261 22,137 (3,876) (18)%
Provision for claims 16,740 21,335 (4,595) (22)%
Personnel costs 259,939 238,134 21,805 9 %
Other operating expenses 93,219 79,951 13,268 17 %
Goodwill impairment 65,207 — 65,207 *
Long-lived asset impairment 32,027 — 32,027 *

Total operating expenses $ 746,869 $ 660,002 $ 86,867 13 %
Loss from operations (306,688) (101,959) (204,729) 201 %
Other (expense) income:

Change in fair value of Warrant and Sponsor Covered Shares
liabilities 21,317 6,691 14,626 219 %
Interest expense (18,080) (16,861) (1,219) 7 %

Loss before income taxes (303,451) (112,129) (191,322) 171 %
Income tax benefit (expense) $ 1,242 $ (927) $ 2,169 (234)%

Net loss $ (302,209) $ (113,056) $ (189,153) 167 %

* = Not presented as prior period amount is zero

Revenue

Net premiums written. Net premiums written decreased by $90.1 million, or 19%, for the year ended December 31, 2022 compared to the same period in
the prior year, driven by a 43% decrease in premiums from our Direct Agents channel and a 11% decrease in premiums from our Third-Party Agents channel.
For the year ended December 31, 2022, Direct Agents premium decline was driven by closed order decline of 47%. The decrease in premiums from our Third-
Party Agent channel was driven by an overall decrease in market activity, specifically in the refinance market, resulting from the rising interest rate
environment, partially offset by an increase in premiums associated with new home buildings that closed during the period.

Escrow, other title-related fees and other. 

Escrow, other title-related fees and other decreased $27.6 million, or 35%, for the year ended December 31, 2022 compared to the same period in the prior
year, driven by the corresponding closed order decline. The decline in closed order activity was partially offset by higher average escrow fees per direct order
of 24% in the year ended December 31, 2022, compared to the same period in the prior year, resulting from a higher mix of purchase orders.
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Investment, dividend and other income. Investment, dividend and other income decreased $0.2 million or 6% for the year ended December 31, 2022
compared to the same period in the prior year, primarily due to one-time realized gains on investments from portfolio rebalancing recognized in 2021.

Expenses

Premiums retained by Third-Party Agents. Premiums retained by Third-Party Agents decreased by $37.0 million, or 12%, for the year ended December
31, 2022 compared to the same period in the prior year. The decrease was driven principally by the decrease in premium in our Third-Party Agents channel.
There was no material change in the average commissions paid to our Third-Party Agents.

Title examination expense. Title examination expense decreased by $3.9 million, or 18%, for the year ended December 31, 2022 compared to the same
periods in the prior year, due to the corresponding decline in order volumes. Offsetting these declines was an increase in fixed expenses incurred to support
fulfillment, including title plant maintenance expenses.

Provision for claims. Provision for claims decreased by $4.6 million, or 22%, for the year ended December 31, 2022 compared to the same period in the
prior year primarily due to a reduction in the provision for claims related to the current year due to the corresponding decrease in premiums written. The
provision for claims, expressed as a percentage of net premiums written, was 4.3% and 4.5% for the year ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.
The reported loss emergence in both periods on policies issued in prior years was lower than expected.

Personnel costs. Personnel costs increased by $21.8 million, or 9%, for the year ended December 31, 2022 compared to the same period in the prior year,
due to investments in direct labor and customer acquisition, investments in research and development, the expansion of our corporate support functions to
operate as a public company, an increase in operations and management staff supporting the Direct Agents channel as the organization invested in driving
growth of Doma Intelligence-enabled closings, increases in severance costs from previously disclosed workforce reduction plans and stock compensation
expense. For additional information, see Note 17 “Accrued expenses and other liabilities—Workforce reduction plans” contained in Part II, Item 8 “Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Annual Report.

Other operating expenses. Other operating expenses increased by $13.3 million, or 17%, for the year ended December 31, 2022 compared to the same
period in the prior year, driven by higher insurance costs, higher amortization expenses related to investments in the development of our Doma Intelligence
platform, higher occupancy costs, higher expenses to support revenue growth such as hardware and software purchases, and higher corporate support expenses
to operate as a public company, such as improved operating systems, and travel and entertainment spend.

Goodwill impairment. Goodwill impairment increased by $65.2 million in the year ended December 31, 2022 due to lower forecasted revenue as a result
of adverse mortgage, housing market conditions, including rapidly rising interest rates and low housing inventory, the implementation of a strategic initiative
to focus resources on the Company’s instant underwriting capabilities in the Company’s Underwriting segment, and a sustained decrease in the Company’s
stock price.

Long-lived asset impairment. Long-lived asset impairment increased by $32.0 million in the year ended December 31, 2022 due to impairment of certain
internally developed software and impairment of our operating lease right-of-use assets and related fixed assets related to vacating locations as a result of a
smaller workforce.

Change in fair value of Warrant and Sponsor Covered Shares liabilities. The change in the fair value of Warrant and Sponsor Covered Shares (as defined
in Note 2) liabilities decreased by $14.6 million, or 219%, for the year ended December 31, 2022 compared to the same period in the prior year due to adverse
changes in the inputs to the valuation of the liabilities, primarily the Company’s declining stock price. In 2022 and 2021, the change in fair value of Warrant
and Sponsor Covered Shares liabilities was recorded as a benefit.

Interest expense. Interest expense increased by $1.2 million, or 7%, for the year ended December 31, 2022 compared to the same period in the prior year,
due to a higher amount of average debt outstanding, which is a result
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of the paid in kind interest expense on the $150.0 million Senior Debt facility that was funded during the first quarter of 2021.

Supplemental Segment Results Discussion – Year Ended December 31, 2022 Compared to the Year Ended December 31, 2021

The following table sets forth a summary of the results of operations for our Distribution and Underwriting segments for the years indicated. See “—Basis
of Presentation” above.

Year Ended December 31, 2022 Year Ended December 31, 2021
Distribution Underwriting Eliminations Consolidated Distribution Underwriting Eliminations Consolidated

(in thousands)
Net premiums written  $ — $ 385,253 $ — $ 385,253 $ — $ 476,328 $ (976) $ 475,352 
Escrow, other title-related fees and

other 106,727 2,692 (57,411) 52,008 177,069 3,520 (101,004) 79,585 
Investment, dividend and other

income 418 2,502 — 2,920 205 2,901 — 3,106 
Total revenue $ 107,145 $ 390,447 $ (57,411) $ 440,181 $ 177,274 $ 482,749 $ (101,980) $ 558,043 
Premiums retained by agents — 318,887 (57,411) 261,476 — 400,425 (101,980) 298,445 
Direct labor 76,175 10,398 — 86,573 81,204 8,412 — 89,616 
Other direct costs 18,741 9,803 — 28,544 23,726 11,339 — 35,065 
Provision for title claim losses 3,165 13,575 — 16,740 2,257 19,078 — 21,335 
Adjusted gross profit $ 9,064 $ 37,784 $ — $ 46,848 $ 70,087 $ 43,495 $ — $ 113,582 

__________________
(1) Includes fee income from closings, escrow, title exams, ceding commission income, as well as premiums retained by Direct Agents.
(2) This expense represents a deduction from the net premiums written for the amounts that are retained by Direct Agents and Third-Party Agents as compensation for their efforts to generate

premium income for our Underwriting segment. The impact of premiums retained by our Direct Agents and the expense for reinsurance or co-insurance procured on Direct Agent sourced
premiums are eliminated in consolidation.

(3) Includes all compensation costs, including salaries, bonuses, incentive payments, and benefits, for personnel involved in the direct fulfillment of title and/or escrow services. Direct labor
excludes severance costs.

(4) Includes title examination expense, office supplies, and premium and other taxes.
(5) See “—Non-GAAP Financial Measures—Adjusted gross profit” below for a reconciliation of consolidated adjusted gross profit, which is a non-GAAP measure, to our gross profit, the most

closely comparable GAAP financial measure.

Distribution segment revenue decreased by $70.1 million, or 40%, for the year ended December 31, 2022 compared to the same period in the prior year
driven by the closed order decline discussed above. For the year ended December 31, 2022, higher average escrow revenue per order from a higher ratio of
purchase orders, which carry a higher price point compared to refinance orders, partially offset the decrease in closed orders.

Underwriting segment revenue decreased by $92.3 million, or 19%, for the year ended December 31, 2022 compared to the same period in the prior year,
reflecting the reduction in title policies underwritten from both Direct and Third-Party Agents as a result of current market conditions.

Distribution segment adjusted gross profit decreased $61.0 million, or 87%, for the year ended December 31, 2022 compared to the same period in the
prior year, driven by closed order decline and investments in fulfillment infrastructure to support volume growth and migration of transactions to the Doma
Intelligence platform. The initiative to migrate additional transactions to the Doma Intelligence platform was paused in December 2022. The impact of
increases in direct labor as a percentage of revenue slowed throughout the year ended December 31, 2022 as a result of the workforce reduction actions taken
during 2022.

Underwriting segment adjusted gross profit decreased by $5.7 million, or 13%, for the year ended December 31, 2022 compared to the same period in the
prior year, reflecting the reduction in title policies underwritten from both Direct and Third-Party Agents as a result of current market conditions. Contributing
to the declines are higher direct labor expenses as a percentage of revenue.

(1)

 (2)

 (3)

(4)

(5)
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Supplemental Key Operating and Financial Indicators Results Discussion – Year Ended December 31, 2022 Compared to the Year Ended December
31, 2021

The following table presents our key operating and financial indicators, including our non-GAAP financial measures, for the periods indicated, and the
changes between periods. This discussion should be read only as a supplement to the discussion of our GAAP results above. See “—Non-GAAP Financial
Measures” below for important information about the non-GAAP financial measures presented below and their reconciliation to the respective most closely
comparable GAAP measures.

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021 $ Change % Change

(in thousands, except percentages and open and closed order numbers)

Opened orders 93,534 178,689 (85,155) (48)%
Closed orders 71,953 136,428 (64,475) (47)%
Retained premiums and fees $ 178,705 $ 259,598 $ (80,893) (31)%
Adjusted gross profit 46,848 113,582 (66,734) (59)%

Ratio of adjusted gross profit to retained premiums and
fees 26 % 44 % (18) p.p (41)%

Adjusted EBITDA $ (134,914) $ (71,592) $ (63,322) 88 %

Opened and closed orders

For the year ended December 31, 2022, we opened 93,534 orders and closed 71,953 orders, a decrease of 48% and 47%, respectively, over the same
period in the prior year. The decline in both open and closed orders in both periods is due to the rising interest rate environment and the shrinking population
of refinance-eligible homeowners along with the reduction in home inventories that limit overall home purchase transactions.

Closed orders decreased 39% year over year in our Doma Enterprise channel and decreased by 53% in our Local channel in the year ended December 31,
2022 compared to the same period in the prior year due to the contracting refinance market and low home inventories, and further exacerbated by a decline in
closed order pull-through rates as prospective transactors were impacted by rapidly rising interest rates.

Retained premiums and fees

Retained premiums and fees decreased by $80.9 million, or 31%, for the year ended December 31, 2022 compared to the same periods in the prior year,
driven by closed order reductions and title policy declines across the Direct and Third-Party Agent channels.

Adjusted gross profit

Adjusted gross profit decreased by $66.7 million, or 59%, for the year ended December 31, 2022 compared to the same period in the prior year, due to
declines in retained premiums and fees in the same periods. Investments in fulfillment infrastructure to support volume growth and migration of transactions
to the Doma Intelligence platform contributed to the decrease in adjusted gross profit. The initiative to migrate additional transactions to the Doma
Intelligence platform was paused in December 2022. The impact of increases in direct labor as a percentage of revenue slowed throughout the year ended
December 31, 2022 as a result of the workforce reduction actions taken during 2022.

Ratio of adjusted gross profit to retained premiums and fees

The ratio of adjusted gross profit to retained premiums and fees decreased 18 percentage points for the year ended December 31, 2022 compared to the
same period in the prior year due to closed order reductions and title policy declines. Additionally, the decreases are due to a higher ratio of direct labor
expenses as a percentage of retained premiums and fees. The rise in direct labor expenses are the result of hiring fulfillment labor in advance of volume
growth and the near-term inefficiencies associated with the migration of transactions to the Doma
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Intelligence platform. The impact of increases in direct labor as a percentage of revenue slowed throughout the year ended December 31, 2022 as a result of
the workforce reduction actions taken during 2022.

Adjusted EBITDA

Adjusted EBITDA decreased by $63.3 million, or 88%, to negative $134.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2022, due to a decrease in retained
premium and fees and higher operating costs from investments in corporate support functions to operate as a public company, research and development, and
operations and management staff to accelerate growth and transformation of our home purchase product offering on the Doma Intelligence platform. The
impact of increases in direct labor as a percentage of revenue slowed throughout the year ended December 31, 2022 as a result of the workforce reduction
actions taken during 2022.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

The non-GAAP financial measures described in this Annual Report should be considered only as supplements to results prepared in accordance with
GAAP and should not be considered as substitutes for GAAP results. These measures, retained premiums and fees, adjusted gross profit, and adjusted
EBITDA, have not been calculated in accordance with GAAP and are therefore not necessarily indicative of our trends or profitability in accordance with
GAAP. These measures exclude or otherwise adjust for certain cost items that are required by GAAP. Further, these measures may be defined and calculated
differently than similarly-titled measures reported by other companies, making it difficult to compare our results with the results of other companies. We
caution investors against undue reliance on our non-GAAP financial measures as a substitute for our results in accordance with GAAP.

Management uses these non-GAAP financial measures, in conjunction with GAAP financial measures to: (i) monitor and evaluate the growth and
performance of our business operations; (ii) facilitate internal comparisons of the historical operating performance of our business operations; (iii) facilitate
external comparisons of the results of our overall business to the historical operating performance of other companies that may have different capital structures
or operating histories; (iv) review and assess the performance of our management team and other employees; and (v) prepare budgets and evaluate strategic
planning decisions regarding future operating investments.

Retained premiums and fees

The following presents our retained premiums and fees and reconciles the measure to our gross profit, the most closely comparable GAAP financial
measure, for the periods indicated:

Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021

(in thousands)

Revenue $ 440,181 $ 558,043 
Minus:

Premiums retained by Third-Party Agents 261,476 298,445 
Retained premiums and fees $ 178,705 $ 259,598 
Minus:

Direct labor 86,573 89,616 
Provision for claims 16,740 21,335 
Depreciation and amortization 16,019 10,321 
Other direct costs

28,544 35,065 
Gross Profit $ 30,829 $ 103,261 

________________
(1) Includes title examination expense, office supplies, and premium and other taxes.

Adjusted gross profit

(1)
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The following table reconciles our adjusted gross profit to our gross profit, the most closely comparable GAAP financial measure, for the periods
indicated:

Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021

(in thousands)

Gross Profit $ 30,829 $ 103,261 
Adjusted for:

Depreciation and amortization 16,019 10,321 
Adjusted Gross Profit $ 46,848 $ 113,582 

Adjusted EBITDA

The following table reconciles our adjusted EBITDA to our net loss, the most closely comparable GAAP financial measure, for the periods indicated:

Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021

(in thousands)

Net loss (GAAP) $ (302,209) $ (113,056)
Adjusted for:

Depreciation and amortization 16,019 10,321 
Interest expense 18,080 16,861 
Income taxes (1,242) 927 

EBITDA $ (269,352) $ (84,947)
Adjusted for:

Stock-based compensation 33,687 20,046 
Severance costs 19,613 — 
Goodwill impairment 65,207 — 
Long-lived asset impairment 32,027 — 
Change in fair value of warrant and sponsor covered shares liabilities (21,317) (6,691)
Accelerated contract expense 5,221 — 

Adjusted EBITDA $ (134,914) $ (71,592)

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We measure liquidity in terms of our ability to fund the cash requirements of our business operations, including our working capital and capital
expenditure needs and other commitments. Our recurring working capital requirements relate mainly to our cash operating costs. Our capital expenditure
requirements consist mainly of software development related to our Doma Intelligence platform.

We had $81.4 million in cash and cash equivalents, $90.3 million in held-to-maturity debt securities, and $58.3 million in available-for-sale debt securities
as of December 31, 2022. The restricted net assets of Doma Title Insurance, Inc. (“DTI”), our title insurance subsidiary, are a significant proportion of the
Company’s consolidated net assets. DTI and our other insurance subsidiaries are subject to regulations that restrict their ability to pay dividends or make other
distributions of cash or property to their immediate parent company without prior approval from the Departments of Insurance of their respective states of
domicile. As of December 31, 2022, $57.9 million of our statutory net assets are restricted from dividend payments without prior approval from the
Departments of Insurance of their respective states of domicile. During 2023, our title insurance subsidiary can pay or make distributions to us of
approximately $13.9 million, without prior approval. For additional information, see Note 22
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“Regulation and statutory financial information” contained in Part II, Item 8 “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Annual Report.

We believe our unrestricted assets, including our cash on hand, held-to-maturity debt securities, and the available-for-sale debt securities, will be
sufficient to meet our working capital and capital expenditure requirements for a period of at least 12 months from the date of this Annual Report.

We may need additional cash due to changing business conditions or other developments, including unanticipated regulatory developments and
competitive pressures. To the extent that our current resources are insufficient to satisfy our cash requirements, we may need to seek additional equity or debt
financing.

Debt

Senior secured credit agreement

In December 2020, Old Doma entered into a loan and security agreement with Hudson Structured Capital Management Ltd. (“HSCM”), providing for a
$150.0 million senior secured term loan (“Senior Debt”), which was fully funded by the lenders, which are affiliates of HSCM, at its principal face value on
January 29, 2021 (the “Funding Date”) and matures on the fifth anniversary of the Funding Date. The Senior Debt bears interest at a rate of 11.25% per
annum, of which 5.0% is payable in cash in arrears and the remaining 6.25% accrues to the outstanding principal balance on a PIK basis. Interest is payable or
compounded, as applicable, quarterly. Principal prepayments on the Senior Debt are permitted, subject to a premium, which declines from 8% of principal
today to 4% in 2023 and to zero in 2024.

The Senior Debt is secured by a first-priority pledge and security interest in substantially all of the assets of our wholly owned subsidiary States Title
(which represents substantially all of our assets), including the assets of any of its existing and future domestic subsidiaries (in each case, subject to customary
exclusions, including the exclusion of regulated insurance company subsidiaries). The Senior Debt is subject to customary affirmative and negative covenants,
including limits on the incurrence of debt and restrictions on acquisitions, sales of assets, dividends and certain restricted payments. The Senior Debt is also
subject to two financial maintenance covenants, related to liquidity and revenues. The liquidity covenant requires States Title to have at least $20.0 million of
liquidity, calculated as of the last day of each month, as the sum of (i) our unrestricted cash and cash equivalents and (ii) the aggregate unused and available
portion of any working capital or other revolving credit facility. The revenue covenant, which is tested as of the last day of each fiscal year, requires that States
Title’s consolidated GAAP revenue for the year to be greater than $130.0 million. The Senior Debt is subject to customary events of default and cure rights.
As of December 31, 2022, States Title is in compliance with all Senior Debt covenants.

Upon funding, Old Doma issued penny warrants to affiliates of HSCM equal to 1.35% of Old Doma’s fully diluted shares. The warrants were net
exercised on the Closing Date and such affiliates of HSCM received the right to receive approximately 4.2 million shares of our common stock.

Other commitments and contingencies

Our commitments for leases, related to our office space and equipment, amounted to $33.5 million as of December 31, 2022 of which $9.7 million is
payable in 2023. Refer to Note 21 to our consolidated financial statements for a summary of our future commitments. Our headquarters lease expires in 2024.
As of December 31, 2022, we did not have any other material commitments for cash expenditures. We also administer escrow deposits as a service to
customers, a substantial portion of which are held at third-party financial institutions. Such deposits are not reflected on our balance sheet, but we could be
contingently liable for them under certain circumstances (for example, if we dispose of escrowed assets). Such contingent liabilities have not materially
impacted our results of operations or financial condition to date and are not expected to do so in the near term.
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Cash flows

The following table summarizes our cash flows for the periods indicated:

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021

(in thousands)

Net cash used in operating activities $ (187,416) $ (56,329)
Net cash used in investing activities (115,382) (23,128)
Net cash provided by financing activities 353 351,263 

Operating Activities

In 2022, net cash used in operating activities was $187.4 million driven by the net loss of $302.2 million, cash paid for accrued expenses of $22.0 million,
increases in receivables of $7.4 million and non-cash costs relating to the change in the fair value of warrant and Sponsor Covered Shares liabilities of $21.3
million. This was offset by decreases in prepaid expenses, deposits and other assets of $6.5 million, non-cash goodwill and long-lived asset impairments of
$65.2 million and $32.0 million, respectively, non-cash stock-based compensation expense of $34.1 million, and non-cash depreciation and amortization of
$16.0 million.

In 2021, net cash used in operating activities was $56.3 million driven by the net loss of $113.1 million and cash paid for prepaid expenses of $6.2
million. This was offset by increases of accrued expenses and other liabilities of $17.7 million, increases of the liability for loss and loss adjustment expenses
of $10.5 million, non-cash stock-based compensation expense of $19.7 million and non-cash depreciation and amortization of $10.3 million.

Investing Activities

Our capital expenditures have historically consisted mainly of costs incurred in the development of the Doma Intelligence platform. Our other investing
activities generally consist of transactions in fixed maturity investment securities to provide regular interest payments.

In 2022, net cash used in investing activities was $115.4 million, and reflected $175.3 million of purchases of investments offset by $94.0 million of
proceeds from the sale of investments. Cash paid for fixed assets was $34.3 million in the same period, largely consisting of technology development costs
related to the Doma Intelligence platform.

In 2021, net cash used in investing activities was $23.1 million and reflected $36.2 million of purchases of held-to-maturity and available-for-sale fixed
maturity securities offset by $44.3 million of proceeds from the sale of held-to-maturity investments. Cash paid for fixed assets was $32.2 million, largely
consisting of technology development costs related to Doma Intelligence.

Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities was immaterial for the year ended December 31, 2022.

Net cash provided by financing activities was $351.3 million in 2021, reflecting $625.0 million in proceeds from the Business Combination and PIPE
Investment (as defined in Note 3) and $150.0 million of proceeds from the Senior Debt. This increase was offset by $294.9 million in redemptions of
redeemable common and preferred stock and $66.0 million in payment of costs directly attributable to the issuance of common stock in connection with
Business Combination and PIPE Investment. The net cash provided by financing activities was also offset by the $65.5 million repayment of the Lennar seller
financing note.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with GAAP. Preparation of the financial statements requires management to
make several judgments, estimates and assumptions relating to the
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reported amount of revenue and expenses, assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. We evaluate our significant estimates on
an ongoing basis, including, but not limited to, liability for loss and loss adjustment expenses, goodwill and accrued net premiums written from Third-Party
Agent referrals, and the Sponsor Covered Shares liability. We consider an accounting judgment, estimate or assumption to be critical when (1) the estimate or
assumption is complex in nature or requires a high degree of judgment and (2) the use of different judgments, estimates and assumptions could have a material
impact on our consolidated financial statements. Our significant accounting policies are described in Note 2 to our annual audited consolidated financial
statements. Our critical accounting estimates are described below.

Liability for loss and loss adjustment expenses

Our liability for loss and loss adjustment expenses include mainly reserves for known claims as well as reserves for IBNR claims. Each known claim is
reserved based on our estimate of the costs required to settle the claim.

We estimate the loss provision rate at the beginning of each year and reassess the rate at midyear as of June 30 of every year to ensure that the resulting
sum of the known claim reserves, IBNR loss, and loss adjustment expense reserves included in our balance sheet together reflect our best estimate of the total
costs required to settle all IBNR and known claims. However, our estimates could prove to be inadequate. Changes in expected ultimate losses and
corresponding loss rates for recent policy years are considered likely and could result in a material adjustment to the IBNR reserves.

IBNR is a loss reserve that primarily reflects the sum of expected losses for unreported claims. Our IBNR reserves generally relate to the five most recent
policy years. For policy years at the early stage of development (generally the last five years), IBNR is generally estimated using a combination of expected
loss rate and multiplicative loss development factor calculations. For more mature policy years, IBNR generally is estimated using multiplicative loss
development factor calculations. The expected loss rate method estimates IBNR by applying an expected loss rate to total title insurance premiums and escrow
fees, and adjusting for policy year maturity using estimated loss development patterns. Multiplicative loss development factor calculations estimate IBNR by
applying factors derived from loss development patterns to losses realized to date. The expected loss rate and loss development patterns are based on historical
experience. Due to our long claim exposure, our provision for claims periodically includes amounts of adverse or positive claims development on policies
issued in prior years, when claims on such policies are higher or lower than initially expected. . The provision rate on prior year policies will continue to
change as actual experience on those specific policy years develop. Changes in the loss provision rate for recent policy years are considered likely and could
result in a material adjustment to the IBNR reserves. For example, a 50 basis point increase or decrease in the current estimated 2022 loss provision rate would
result in a $2.2 million corresponding increase or decrease to IBNR.

The estimates used require considerable judgment and are established as management’s best estimate of future outcomes, however, the amount of IBNR
reserved based on these estimates could ultimately prove to be inadequate to cover actual future claims experience. We continually monitor for any events
and/or circumstances that arise during the year which may indicate that the assumptions used to record the provision for claims estimate requires reassessment.

Our total loss reserve as of December 31, 2022 amounted to $82.1 million, which we believe, based on historical claims experience and actuarial
analyses, is adequate to cover claim losses resulting from pending and future claims for policies issued through December 31, 2022.

A summary of the Company’s loss reserves is as follows:
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Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021

($ in thousands)
Known title claims $ 7,134 9 % $ 7,578 9 %
IBNR title claims 74,738 90 % 72,621 90 %

Total title claims $ 81,872 99 % $ 80,199 99 %
Non-title claims 198 1 % 68 1 %

Total loss reserves $ 82,070 100 % $ 80,267 100 %

We continually review and adjust our reserve estimates to reflect loss experience and any new information that becomes available.

Goodwill

We have significant goodwill on our balance sheet related to acquisitions as goodwill represents the excess of the acquisition price over the fair value of
net assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination. Goodwill is tested and reviewed annually for impairment on October 1 of each year, and
between annual tests if events or circumstances arise that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of any one of our reporting units below its
respective carrying amount. In addition, an interim impairment test may be completed upon a triggering event or when there is a reorganization of reporting
structure or disposal of all or a portion of a reporting unit. As of December 31, 2022, we had $46.3 million of goodwill, relating to the North American Title
Acquisition, of which $22.9 million and $23.4 million was allocated to our Distribution and Underwriting reporting units, respectively.

In performing our annual goodwill impairment test, we first perform a qualitative assessment, which requires that we consider significant estimates and
assumptions regarding macroeconomic conditions, industry and market considerations, cost factors, overall financial performance, changes in management or
key personnel, changes in strategy, changes in customers, changes in the composition or carrying amount of a reporting unit or other factors that have the
potential to impact fair value. If, after assessing the totality of events and circumstances, we determine that it is more likely than not that the fair values of our
reporting units are greater than the carrying amounts, then the quantitative goodwill impairment test is not performed, as goodwill is not considered to be
impaired. However, if we determine that the fair value of a reporting unit is more likely than not to be less than its carrying value, then a quantitative
assessment is performed. For the quantitative assessment, the determination of estimated fair value of our reporting units requires us to make assumptions
about future discounted cash flows, including profit margins, long-term forecasts, discount rates and terminal growth rates and, if possible, a comparable
market transaction model. If, based upon the quantitative assessment, the reporting unit fair value is less than the carrying amount, a goodwill impairment is
recorded equal to the difference between the carrying amount of the reporting unit’s goodwill and its fair value, not to exceed the carrying value of goodwill
allocated to that reporting unit, and a corresponding impairment loss is recorded in the consolidated statements of operations.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, we recorded goodwill impairment of $65.2 million. Management determined that the Company was less likely
to reach previously forecasted revenue as a result of adverse mortgage and housing market conditions, including rapidly rising interest rates and low housing
inventory. In addition, during the three months ended December 31, 2022, the Company implemented of a strategic initiative to focus resources on its instant
underwriting capabilities. These factors and a significant, sustained decrease in the Company’s stock price in 2022 indicated that the Company had triggering
events. The resulting valuations of the Underwriting reporting unit indicated that its estimated fair value was above its carrying value. The estimated fair value
of the Distribution reporting unit was below its carrying value as of September 30, 2022 and as of December 31, 2022, the respective dates at which the
quantitative goodwill impairment analyses were performed. As such, the Company determined that the Distribution reporting unit’s goodwill was impaired.

The Company performed the valuations of the Distribution and Underwriting reporting units using discounted cash flow and market valuation
methodologies. The assumptions used in the reporting unit valuations require significant judgment, including judgment about appropriate growth rates, and the
amount and timing of expected
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future cash flows. The Company’s forecasted cash flows were based on the current assessment of the markets and were based on assumed revenue forecasts as
of the measurement date. The key assumptions used in the cash flows were long-term revenue forecasts, profit margins, discount rates and terminal growth
rates. The assumptions used consider the current early growth stage of the Company, comparison of the Company’s market capitalization to enterprise value,
and the emergence from a period impacted by significant macroeconomic trends. The industry markets are currently at volatile levels and future developments
are difficult to predict. The Company believes that its procedures for estimating future cash flows for each reporting unit are reasonable and consistent with
current market conditions as of the testing date. If the markets that impact the Company’s business continue to deteriorate, the Company could recognize
further goodwill impairment.

We conducted our annual goodwill impairment test as of October 1, 2021. We determined, after performing a qualitative review of each reporting unit,
that the fair value of each reporting unit exceeded its respective carrying value. Accordingly, there was no indication of impairment and the quantitative
goodwill impairment test was not performed. However, as described above, we did identify triggering events and performed quantitative goodwill impairment
tests, which resulted in recording impairments of goodwill in the Distribution reporting unit, as of September 30, 2022 and as of December 31, 2022.

Accrued net premiums written from Third-Party Agent referrals

We recognize revenues on title insurance policies issued by Third-Party Agents when notice of issuance is received from Third-Party Agents, which is
generally when cash payment is received. In addition, we estimate and accrue for revenues on policies sold but not reported by Third-Party Agents as of the
relevant balance sheet closing date. This accrual is based on historical transactional volume data for title insurance policies that have closed and were not
reported before the relevant balance sheet closing, as well as trends in our operations and in the title and housing industries. There could be variability in the
amount of this accrual from period to period and amounts subsequently reported to us by Third-Party Agents may differ from the estimated accrual recorded
in the preceding period. If the amount of revenue subsequently reported to us by Third-Party Agents is higher or lower than our estimate, we record the
difference in revenue in the period in which it is reported. The time lag between the closing of transactions by Third-Party Agents and the reporting of
policies, or premiums from policies issued by Third-Party Agents to us has been approximately three months. In addition to the premium accrual, we also
record accruals for the corresponding direct expenses related to this revenue, including premiums retained by Third-Party Agents, premium taxes, and
provision for claims.

Sponsor Covered Shares liability

The Sponsor Covered Shares, as described in Note 3, will become vested contingent upon the price of our common stock exceeding certain thresholds or
upon some strategic events, which include events that are not indexed to our common stock.

We obtained a third-party valuation of the Sponsor Covered Shares as of July 28, 2021 (i.e., the Closing Date), December 31, 2021 and December 31,
2022 using the Monte Carlo simulation methodology and based upon market inputs regarding stock price, dividend yield, expected term, volatility and risk-
free rate. The share price represents the trading price as of each valuation date. The expected dividend yield is zero as we have never declared or paid cash
dividends and have no current plans to do so during the expected term. The expected term represents the vesting period, which is 8.6 years. The expected
volatility of 65.0% was estimated considering (i) the Doma implied volatility calculated using longest term stock option. (ii) the Doma implied warrant
volatility using the term of the Public and Private Warrants and (iii) median leverage adjusted (asset) volatility calculated using a set of Guideline Public
Companies (“GPCs”). Volatility for the GPCs was calculated over a lookback period of 8.6 years (or longest available data for GPCs whose trading history
was shorter than 8.6 years), commensurate with the contractual term of the Sponsor Covered Shares. The risk-free rate utilizes the 10-year U.S. Constant
Maturity. Finally, the annual change in control probability is estimated to be 2.0%.

As of December 31, 2022, the Sponsor Covered Shares liability amounted to $0.2 million.
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New Accounting Pronouncements

For information about recently issued accounting pronouncements, refer to Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this
filing.

Emerging Growth Company Accounting Election

Section 102(b)(1) of the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012 (the “JOBS Act”) exempts emerging growth companies from being required to
comply with new or revised financial accounting standards until private companies (that is, those that have not had a Securities Act registration statement
declared effective or do not have a class of securities registered under the Exchange Act) are required to comply with the new or revised financial accounting
standards. The JOBS Act provides that a company can elect to opt out of the extended transition period and comply with the requirements that apply to non-
emerging growth companies but any such election to opt out is irrevocable. The Company has elected not to opt out of such extended transition period which
means that when a standard is issued or revised and it has different application dates for public or private companies, the Company, as an emerging growth
company, can adopt the new or revised standard at the time private companies adopt the new or revised standard. This may make comparison of the
Company’s financial statements with another public company which is neither an emerging growth company nor an emerging growth company which has
opted out of using the extended transition period difficult or impossible because of the potential differences in accounting standards used.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risks

Our principal market risk is interest rate risk because our results of operations can vary due to changes in interest rates. In a declining interest rate
environment, we would expect our results of operations to be positively impacted by higher loan refinancing activity. However, in a rising interest rate
environment, we would expect our results of operations to be negatively impacted by lower loan refinancing activity. We would expect both of these scenarios
to be mitigated by home purchase loan activity. Fluctuations in interest rates may also impact the interest income earned on floating-rate investments and the
fair value of our fixed-rate investments. An increase in interest rates decreases the market value of fixed-rate investments. Conversely, a decrease in interest
rates increases the fair market value of fixed-rate investments.

Additionally, we analyze potential changes in the value of our investment portfolio due to the market risk factors noted above within the overall context of
asset and liability management. A technique we use in the management of our investment portfolio is the calculation of duration. Our actuaries estimate the
payout pattern of our reserve liabilities to determine their duration, which is the present value of the weighted average payments expressed in years. We then
establish a target duration for our investment portfolio so that at any given time the estimated cash generated by the investment portfolio will closely match the
estimated cash required for the payment of the related reserves. We structure the investment portfolio to meet the target duration to achieve the required cash
flow, based on liquidity and market risk factors.

The Company’s debt security portfolio is subject to credit risk. For further information on the credit quality of the Company’s investment portfolio at
December 31, 2022, see Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Company also has credit risk related to the ability of reinsurance counterparties to honor their obligations to pay the contract amounts under our
reinsurance programs. For information on our reinsurance programs, see Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Doma Holdings, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets 

December 31,
(In thousands, except share information) 2022 2021
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 78,450 $ 379,702 
Restricted cash 2,933 4,126 
Investments:

Fixed maturities
Held-to-maturity debt securities, at amortized cost (net of allowance for credit losses of $440 at December 31, 2022 and $0 at December 31,
2021) 90,328 67,164 
Available-for-sale debt securities, at fair value (amortized cost of $59,191 at December 31, 2022 and $0 at December 31, 2021) 58,254 — 

Mortgage loans 297 2,022 
Other invested assets — 325 

Total investments $ 148,879 $ 69,511 
Receivables (net of allowance for credit losses of $1,488 and $1,082 at December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively) 21,292 15,498 
Prepaid expenses, deposits and other assets 8,124 15,692 
Lease right-of-use assets 18,634 — 
Fixed assets (net of accumulated depreciation of $24,532 and $19,543 at December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively) 39,383 45,953 
Title plants 14,533 13,952 
Goodwill 46,280 111,487 

Total assets $ 378,508 $ 655,921 

Liabilities and stockholders’ equity
Accounts payable $ 2,909 $ 6,930 
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 28,892 54,149 
Leases liabilities 27,489 — 
Senior secured credit agreement, net of debt issuance costs and original issue discount 154,790 141,769 
Liability for loss and loss adjustment expenses 82,070 80,267 
Warrant liabilities 347 16,467 
Sponsor Covered Shares liability 219 5,415 
Total liabilities $ 296,716 $ 304,997 

Commitments and contingencies (see Note 15)

Stockholders’ equity:
Common stock, 0.0001 par value; 2,000,000,000 shares authorized at December 31, 2022 and 2021; 329,147,979 and 323,347,806 shares issued

and outstanding as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively 33 33 
Additional paid-in capital 577,483 543,070 
Accumulated deficit (494,787) (192,179)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (937) — 
Total stockholders’ equity $ 81,792 $ 350,924 

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 378,508 $ 655,921 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Doma Holdings, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Operations

Year ended December 31,
(In thousands, except share and per share information) 2022 2021 2020

Revenues:
Net premiums written $ 385,253 $ 475,352 $ 345,608 
Escrow, other title-related fees and other 52,008 79,585 61,275 
Investment, dividend and other income 2,920 3,106 2,931 

Total revenues $ 440,181 $ 558,043 $ 409,814 

Expenses:
Premiums retained by Third-Party Agents $ 261,476 $ 298,445 $ 220,143 
Title examination expense 18,261 22,137 16,204 
Provision for claims 16,740 21,335 15,337 
Personnel costs 259,939 238,134 143,526 
Other operating expenses 93,219 79,951 43,285 
Goodwill impairment 65,207 — — 
Long-lived asset impairment 32,027 — — 

Total operating expenses $ 746,869 $ 660,002 $ 438,495 

Loss from operations $ (306,688) $ (101,959) $ (28,681)

Other (expense) income:
Change in fair value of Warrant and Sponsor Covered Shares liabilities 21,317 6,691 — 
Interest expense (18,080) (16,861) (5,579)

Loss before income taxes $ (303,451) $ (112,129) $ (34,260)

Income tax benefit (expense) 1,242 (927) (843)
Net loss $ (302,209) $ (113,056) $ (35,103)

Earnings per share:
Net loss per share attributable to stockholders - basic and diluted $ (0.93) $ (0.64) $ (0.56)
Weighted average shares outstanding common stock - basic and diluted 326,042,708 177,150,914 62,458,039 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

__________________
(1) Net premiums written includes revenues from a related party of $134.9 million, $114.2 million, and $88.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020, respectively (see

Note 14 to our consolidated financial statements).
(2) Premiums retained by Third-Party Agents includes expenses associated with a related party of $108.4 million, $92.5 million, and $71.2 million during the years ended December 31, 2022,

2021, and 2020, respectively (see Note 14 to our consolidated financial statements).

(1)

(2)
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Doma Holdings, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss

Year ended December 31,

(In thousands) 2022 2021 2020

Net loss $ (302,209) $ (113,056) $ (35,103)
Other comprehensive income, net of tax:

Unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-sale debt securities, net of tax and related
valuation allowance (937) (179) 176 

Reclassification adjustment for realized gain on sale of available-for-sale debt
securities, net of tax — (507) — 

Comprehensive loss $ (303,146) $ (113,742) $ (34,927)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

80



Table of Contents

Doma Holdings, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity

Preferred Stock
Series A

Preferred Stock
Series A-1

Preferred Stock
Series A-2

Preferred Stock
Series B

Preferred Stock
Series C Common Stock Additional

Paid-in-
Capital

Accumulated
Deficit

Accumulated
Other

 Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Stockholders'
Equity

(In thousands, except share
information) Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount

Balance, January 1, 2020 43,737,586 $ 1 48,913,906 $ 1 14,003,187 $ — 15,838,828 $ — 25,599,456 $ — 62,191,701 $ 1 $ 192,852 $ (44,020) $ 510 $ 149,345 

Issuance of Series C preferred
stock, net of financing costs — — — — — — — — 35,066,175 1 — — 70,701 — — 70,702 

Exercise of stock options — — — — — — — — — — 640,606 — 416 — — 416 

Stock-based compensation
expenses — — — — — — — — — — — — 2,495 — — 2,495 

Net loss — — — — — — — — — — — — — (35,103) — (35,103)

Other comprehensive income — — — — — — — — — — — — — — 176 176 

Balance, December 31, 2020 43,737,586 $ 1 48,913,906 $ 1 14,003,187 $ — 15,838,828 $ — 60,665,631 $ 1 62,832,307 $ 1 $ 266,464 $ (79,123) $ 686 $ 188,031 

Exercise of stock options
— — — — — — — — — — 5,058,976 — 2,968 — — 2,968 

Exercise of stock warrants — — 28,870,387 — — — — — — — — — 187 — — 187 

Stock-based compensation
expense

— — — — — — — — — — — — 19,673 — — 19,673 

Original issue discount on senior
secured credit agreement — — — — — — — — — — — — 18,519 — — 18,519 

Net loss
— — — — — — — — — — — — — (113,056) — (113,056)

Other comprehensive loss
— — — — — — — — — — — — — — (686) (686)

Conversion of preferred stock to
common stock (43,737,586) (1) (77,784,293) (1) (14,003,187) — (15,838,828) — (60,665,631) (1) 212,029,525 21 4 — — 22 

Conversion of common stock — — — — — — — — — — (1,227,451) — 30,080 — — 30,080 

Issuance of common stock in
connection with Business
Combination and PIPE
Investment — — — — — — — — — — 44,654,449 5 259,392 — — 259,397 

Par value change for Old Doma
Common Stock — — — — — — — — — — — 6 — — — 6 

Costs directly attributable to the
issuance of common stock in
connection with Business
Combination and PIPE
Investment — — — — — — — — — — — — (54,217) — — (54,217)

Balance, December 31, 2021 — $ — — $ — — $ — — $ — — $ — 323,347,806 $ 33 $ 543,070 $ (192,179) $ — $ 350,924 

Exercise of stock options
— — — — — — — — — — 2,114,531 — 353 — — 353 

Vesting of RSU awards — — — — — — — — — — 3,685,642 — — — — — 

Stock-based compensation
expenses — — — — — — — — — — — — 34,060 — — 34,060 

Cumulative effect of change in
accounting principle — — — — — — — — — — — — — (399) — (399)

Net loss — — — — — — — — — — — — — (302,209) — (302,209)

Other comprehensive loss — — — — — — — — — — — — — — (937) (937)

Balance, December 31, 2022 — $ — — $ — — $ — — $ — — $ — 329,147,979 $ 33 $ 577,483 $ (494,787) $ (937) $ 81,792 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Doma Holdings, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Year ended December 31,

(In thousands) 2022 2021 2020

Cash flow from operating activities:
Net loss $ (302,209) $ (113,056) $ (35,103)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:

Interest expense - paid in kind 10,161 8,817 6,462 
Depreciation and amortization 16,019 10,321 5,815 
Stock-based compensation expense 34,060 19,673 2,495 
Amortization of debt issuance costs and original issue discount 2,860 2,050 — 
Amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts on held-to-maturity securities, net 173 1,224 566 
Provision for doubtful accounts 922 1,230 424 
Deferred income taxes (1,421) 794 739 
Realized (gain) loss on sale of investments 56 (952) (146)
Net unrealized loss (gain) on equity securities — 119 (54)
(Gain) loss on disposal of fixed assets and title plants 267 (10) (345)
Change in fair value of warrant and Sponsor Covered Shares liabilities (21,317) (6,691) — 
Goodwill impairment 65,207 — — 
Long-lived asset impairment 32,027 — — 
Change in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable (7,430) (2,149) (2,243)
Prepaid expenses, deposits and other assets 6,529 (6,214) (2,261)
Lease right-of-use assets and lease liabilities 867 — — 
Accounts payable (4,020) 304 2,209 
Accrued expenses and other liabilities (21,971) 17,744 5,126 
Liability for loss and loss adjustments expenses 1,804 10,467 7,042 

Net cash used in operating activities $ (187,416) $ (56,329) $ (9,274)
Cash flow from investing activities:

Proceeds from sales, calls and maturities of investments: Held-to-maturity $ 90,827 $ 33,535 $ 18,408 
Proceeds from sales, calls and maturities of investments: Available-for-sale 1,429 7,817 — 
Proceeds from sales of investments: Equity securities — 2,000 — 
Proceeds from sales and principal repayments of investments: Mortgage loans 1,725 958 390 
Purchase of investments: Held-to-maturity (115,022) (36,241) (65,403)
Purchase of investments: Available-for-sale (60,259) — — 
Purchase of investments: Equity securities — — (1,000)
Proceeds from sales of fixed assets 77 306 — 
Purchases of fixed assets (34,333) (32,169) (17,013)
Proceeds from sale of title plants and dividends from title plants 755 666 1,585 
Purchases of title plants (581) — — 

Net cash used in investing activities $ (115,382) $ (23,128) $ (63,033)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Doma Holdings, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Year ended December 31,

(In thousands) 2022 2021 2020

Cash flow from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of Series C preferred stock, net of financing costs — — 70,701 
Proceeds from issuance of senior secured credit agreement — 150,000 — 
Repayments on loan from a related party — (65,532) (28,431)
Debt issuance costs — (579) — 
Exercise of stock warrants — 48 — 
Exercise of stock options 353 3,244 391 
Redemptions of redeemable common and preferred stock — (294,856) — 
Net proceeds from Business Combination and PIPE Investment — 624,952 — 
Payment of costs directly attributable to the issuance of common stock in connection

with Business Combination and PIPE investment — (66,014) — 
Net cash provided by financing activities $ 353 $ 351,263 $ 42,661 
Net change in cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash (302,445) 271,806 (29,646)
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash at the beginning of period 383,828 112,022 141,668 
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash at the end of period $ 81,383 $ 383,828 $ 112,022 
Supplemental cash flow disclosures:

Cash paid for interest $ 8,137 $ 7,320 $ 7 
Cash paid for income taxes $ 164 $ 135 $ 240 

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing activities:
Unrealized gains (loss) on available-for-sale debt securities $ (937) $ (179) $ 176 

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash financing activities:
Issuance of penny warrants related to the senior secured credit agreement $ — $ (18,519) $ — 
Warrant liabilities recognized in conjunction with the Business Combination $ — $ 19,240 $ — 
Net liabilities assumed in the Business Combination $ — $ 9,517 $ — 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Doma Holdings, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(Amounts in thousands, except share and per share information or unless otherwise noted)

1. Organization and business operations

On July 28, 2021 (the “Closing Date”), Capitol Investment Corp. V (“Capitol”) consummated a business combination (the “Business Combination”) with
Doma Holdings, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Old Doma”), pursuant to the agreement and plan of merger, dated March 2, 2021, by and among Capitol,
Capitol V Merger Sub, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of Capitol (“Merger Sub”), and Old Doma (as amended on March 18, 2021, the “Agreement”). In
connection with the closing of the Business Combination, Old Doma changed its name to States Title Holding, Inc. (“States Title”), Capitol changed its name
to Doma Holdings, Inc. (“Doma”) and Old Doma became a wholly owned subsidiary of Doma. Doma continues the existing business operations of Old Doma
as a publicly traded company. See Note 3 for additional information on the Business Combination.

Unless the context otherwise requires, references herein to “company,” “Company,” “Doma,” “we,” “us,” “our” and similar terms refer to Doma
Holdings, Inc. (f/k/a Capitol Investment Corp. V) and its consolidated subsidiaries. References to “Capitol” refer to our legal predecessor company prior to the
consummation of the Business Combination. References to “Old Doma” refer to Old Doma prior to the Business Combination and to States Title, the wholly
owned subsidiary of Doma, upon the consummation of the Business Combination.

Headquartered in San Francisco, California, Doma is a real estate technology company that is architecting the future of real estate transactions. Using
machine intelligence and our proprietary technology solutions, we are creating a vastly more simple, efficient, and affordable real estate closing experience for
current and prospective homeowners, lenders, title agents and real estate professionals. We are licensed to underwrite title insurance in 45 states and the
District of Columbia.

Old Doma was initially formed as a wholly owned subsidiary of States Title Inc. (“Legacy States Title”) to combine the operations of Legacy States Title
and the retail agency and title insurance underwriting business (the “Acquired Business”) of North American Title Group, LLC (“NATG”), a subsidiary of
Lennar Corporation (“Lennar”). We completed the acquisition of the Acquired Business on January 7, 2019, which we refer hereinafter as the “North
American Title Acquisition.” Old Doma survived the North American Title Acquisition as the parent company and now wholly owns the businesses operated
by Legacy States Title and the Acquired Business.

We conduct our operations through two reportable segments, (1) Distribution and (2) Underwriting. See further discussion in Note 7 for additional
information regarding segment information.

2. Summary of significant accounting policies

Basis of presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America (“U.S. GAAP”) and in accordance with the rules and regulations of the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”).

References to the Accounting Standard Codification (“ASC”) and Accounting Standard Updates (“ASU”) included hereinafter refer to the Accounting
Standards Codification and Updates issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) as the source of authoritative U.S. GAAP. The
accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and the accounts of the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiaries. All
intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent liabilities as of the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and
expenses during the reporting period.
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Actual results could differ from the estimates made by management. Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
estimates are recognized prospectively.

Significant items subject to such estimates and assumptions include, but are not limited to, reserves for incurred but not reported claims, the useful lives
of property and equipment, accrued net premiums written from Third-Party Agent (as defined in Item 7) referrals, the fair value measurements, valuation of
goodwill impairment, the valuations of stock-based compensation arrangements and the Sponsor Covered Shares liability (as defined below).

Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and on deposit at banking institutions as well as all highly liquid short-term investments with original
maturities of 90 days or less. The carrying amounts reported in the consolidated balance sheets for these instruments approximate their fair value.

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company had restricted cash of $2.9 million and $4.1 million, respectively, including deposits in several states
pledged in accordance with the applicable state insurance regulations, and certain collateral requirements in connection with leases for office space.

Investments

Fixed maturity securities

Investment securities classified as held-to-maturity are carried at amortized cost because they are purchased with the intent and ability to be held to
maturity. The Company also holds restricted investments which are treated as held-to-maturity debt securities. Restricted investments consist of United States
Treasuries with maturities of 24 months or less. These restricted investments are kept on deposit in several states and are pledged to the appropriate insurance
regulators, in accordance with regulations in each state, for the duration of the time the Company does business in those states.

The Company recognizes credit losses for its held-to-maturity debt securities by setting up an allowance which is remeasured each reporting period, with
changes in the allowance recorded in the consolidated statements of operations. The Company establishes an allowance for credit losses based on a number of
factors including the current economic conditions, management's expectations of future economic conditions and performance indicators, such as credit
agency ratings and payment and default history. As of December 31, 2022, credit agency ratings on our U.S. Treasury and corporate debt securities ranged
from AAA through B2.

For our held-to-maturity debt securities, the Company's model estimates expected credit loss by multiplying the exposure at default by both the
probability of default and loss given default (“LGD”). The probability of default and LGD percentages are estimated after considering historical experience
with global default rates and unsecured bond recovery rates for horizons aligning to the Company’s held-to-maturity debt security portfolio. The calculated
allowance is recorded as an offset to held-to-maturity debt securities in the consolidated balance sheets and in the investment, dividend and other income line
on the consolidated statements of operations.

Debt securities are classified as available-for-sale unless they are classified as held-to-maturity or trading. Available-for-sale debt securities are recorded
at fair value. Any unrealized holding gains or losses on available-for-sale debt securities are reported as accumulated other comprehensive gain or loss, which
is a separate component of stockholders’ equity, net of tax, until realized.

Mortgage loans

Investments in mortgage loans are long-term investments and carried at the principal balance outstanding, net of charge-offs, unamortized purchase
premiums and discounts, and deferred loan fees and costs, as applicable. Mortgage loans are held for investment as management has the intent and ability to
hold these loans for the foreseeable future, or until maturity or payoff.
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Equity securities

Equity securities are recorded at fair value based upon a quoted market price reported on recognized securities exchanges on the last business day of the
year. Any change in unrealized holding gains or losses on equity securities are reported as a component of net income.

Fair value measurements

ASC 820, “Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures” (“ASC 820”) establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes and ranks the level of observability
of inputs used to measure investments at fair value. The observability of inputs is impacted by a number of factors, including the type of investment,
characteristics specific to the investment, market conditions and other factors. The hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1 measurements) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3 measurements).

The three levels of the fair value hierarchy under ASC 820 are as follows:

Level 1 Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical investments at the measurement date are used.

Level 2 Pricing inputs are other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. Level 2
pricing inputs include quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in
markets that are not active, inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability, and inputs that are derived principally from or
corroborated by observable market data by correlation or other means.

Level 3 Pricing inputs are unobservable and include situations where there is little, if any, market activity for the asset or liability. The inputs used in
determination of fair value require significant judgment and estimation.

When fair value inputs fall within different levels of the fair value hierarchy, the level in the fair value hierarchy within which the asset or liability is
categorized in its entirety is determined based on the lowest level input that is significant to the asset or liability. Assessing the significance of a particular
input to the valuation of an asset or liability in its entirety requires judgment and considers factors specific to the asset or liability. The categorization of an
asset or liability within the hierarchy is based upon the pricing transparency of the asset or liability and does not necessarily correspond to the perceived risk
of that asset or liability.

Cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, receivables, prepaid expenses and other assets, accounts payable, and accrued expenses and other liabilities
approximate fair value and are therefore excluded from the leveling table seen in Note 4. The cost basis is determined to approximate fair value due to the
short-term duration of the financial instruments.

Receivables, net

Receivables are generally due within thirty to ninety days and are recorded net of an allowance for doubtful accounts. Our receivables represent
premiums, escrow and related fees due to us as a result of the closing of real estate transactions, investment trade receivables, and other miscellaneous
receivables. The Company determines the allowance for doubtful accounts by considering a number of factors, including the length of time receivables are
past due, previous loss history and a specific customer’s ability to pay its obligations to the Company. Amounts deemed uncollectible are expensed in the
period in which such determination is made. As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the allowance for doubtful accounts was $1.5 million and $1.1 million,
respectively.

Fixed assets, net

Fixed assets, net, consists of internally developed software, furniture, computers, acquired software and equipment, and is recorded at cost less
accumulated depreciation. Depreciation expense is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of each asset. Repair and
maintenance costs are expensed as incurred. Fixed assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts
may not be recoverable.

86



Table of Contents

The following table summarizes the range of useful lives assigned to fixed assets, by asset class:

Useful lives:
Leasehold improvements Shorter of the lease term or useful life of the asset
Furniture and equipment Five years
Computer equipment Three years
Acquired software Three to eight years
Internally developed software Five years

Internally developed or acquired software

Technology and software are acquired or developed for internal use and for use with the Company’s products. Internally developed software and acquired
software are amortized over its estimated useful life or, in the case of cloud-based technology, the shorter of its estimated useful life or contract life, and ranges
from three to eight years using the straight-line method. Technology development costs, which include certain payroll-related costs of employees directly
associated with developing technology and software in addition to incremental payments to third parties, are capitalized from the time technological feasibility
is established until the software is ready for use. Capitalized internally developed software and acquired software development costs for the years ended
December 31, 2022 and 2021 are included in fixed assets, net in the consolidated balance sheets. The Company analyzes internally developed software and
acquired software for impairment when events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.

Title plants

Title plants are carried at cost, with costs incurred to maintain, update and operate title plants expensed as incurred. Because properly maintained title
plants have indefinite lives and do not diminish in value with the passage of time, no provision has been made for depreciation or amortization. The Company
analyzes the title plants for impairment when events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. This analysis includes, but is
not limited to, the effects of obsolescence, duplication, demand and other economic factors. There were no impairments of title plants for the years ended
December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020. In February 2020, we sold a title plant for a total sale price of $3.2 million, including a realized gain of $0.2 million.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the acquisition price over the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination. Goodwill
is assigned to one or more reporting units on the date of acquisition. We review our goodwill for impairment annually on October 1 of each year and between
annual tests if events or circumstances arise that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of any one of our reporting units below its respective
carrying amount. In performing our annual goodwill impairment test, we first perform a qualitative assessment, which requires that we consider
macroeconomic conditions, industry and market considerations, cost factors, overall financial performance, changes in the Company’s stock price, changes in
management or key personnel, changes in strategy, changes in customers, changes in the composition or carrying amount of a reporting unit or other factors
that have the potential to impact fair value. If, after assessing the totality of events and circumstances, we determine that it is more likely than not that the fair
values of our reporting units are greater than the carrying amounts, then the quantitative goodwill impairment test is not performed.

After performing a qualitative and quantitative assessments as of September 30, 2022 and December 31, 2022, we concluded that goodwill in our
Distribution reporting unit was impaired. Refer to Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements for additional details on the goodwill impairment during the
year ended December 31, 2022.

Trade names

The intangible asset values of the Company’s trade names were determined in the North American Title Acquisition, and were assigned a useful life of
seven years. The Company’s finite-lived intangible assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be
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recoverable, and intangibles are also evaluated periodically to determine their remaining useful life. In 2020, the Company determined that there would be a
change in the Company’s use of the acquired trade names in the second quarter of 2021. The Company determined that the change in use was not related to the
value of the trade names, but to changes in business strategy, and did not result in an impairment. However, the Company changed its estimates of the useful
lives of the acquired trade names to better reflect the estimated periods during which these trade names will remain in service. The estimated useful life of the
trade names was revised such that the trade names were fully amortized by June 30, 2021. The result of this change in estimate is an increase to 2020
amortization expense of $1.5 million. The amortization expense recorded for the Company’s trade names was $2.7 million, and $2.3 million in 2021 and 2020,
respectively. As of December 31, 2021, the Company had no trade names on its consolidated balance sheet.

Revenue recognition

Net premiums written

Insurance premiums on title insurance policies issued directly by the Company through instant and traditional underwriting through our captive title
agents and agencies (“Direct Agents”) are recognized on the closing of the underlying transaction, in accordance with ASC Topic 944, Financial Services -
Insurance (ASC 944), as substantially all of the services associated with the insurance contract have been rendered at that point in time. Insurance premiums
on title insurance policies issued by Third-Party Agents are recognized gross of premiums retained by Third-Party Agents when notice of issuance is received
from the Third-Party Agents, which is generally when cash payment is received.

In addition, we estimate and accrue for revenues on policies sold but not reported by Third-Party Agents as of the relevant balance sheet closing date.
This accrual is based on historical transactional volume data for title insurance policies that have closed and were not reported before the relevant balance
sheet closing, as well as trends in our operations and in the title and housing industries. There could be variability in the amount of this accrual from period to
period and amounts subsequently reported to us by Third-Party Agents may differ from the estimated accrual recorded in the preceding period. If the amount
of revenue subsequently reported to us by Third-Party Agents is higher or lower than our estimate, we record the difference in revenue in the period in which
it is reported. For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, the time lag between the closing of transactions by Third-Party Agents and the reporting of
policies, or premiums from policies issued by Third-Party Agents to us has been approximately three months.

Escrow, other title-related fees and other

ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (ASC 606) requires that an entity recognize revenue when it transfers promised goods or services
to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. Escrow fees and
other title-related fees are primarily associated with managing the closing of real estate transactions, including the processing of funds on behalf of the
transaction participants, gathering and recording the required closing documents, providing notary and other real estate or title-related activities. The transfer
of services for the escrow and other title-related fees are satisfied at the closing of the real estate transaction. Therefore, revenues related to escrow and other
title-related fees are recognized at the closing date of the real estate transaction. We also earn a fee for placing and binding title insurance policies with third-
party underwriters. In some situations, we act as an agent to place and bind title insurance policies in transactions that involve third-party underwriters in
exchange for a fee. This fee is recognized as revenue on the effective date of the policy, which is the closing date of the real estate transaction. It is included in
“Escrow, other title-related fees and other” revenue line item in the consolidated statements of operations.

Reinsurance

The Company utilizes excess of loss and quota share reinsurance programs to limit its maximum loss exposure by reinsuring certain risks with other
insurers. Reinsurance agreements transfer portions of the underlying risk of the business the Company writes. The Company remains primarily liable to the
insured whether or not the reinsurer is able to meet its contractual obligations. However, the reinsurance contract does permit the Company to recover
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certain incurred losses from its reinsurers, and reinsurance recoveries reduce the maximum loss that the Company may incur as a result of a covered loss
event.

The Company has two reinsurance treaties: the Excess of Loss Treaty and the Quota Share Treaty. Under the Excess of Loss Treaty, we cede liability over
$15.0 million on all files. Excess of loss reinsurance coverage protects the Company from a large loss from a single loss occurrence. The Excess of Loss
Treaty provides for ceding liability above the retention of $15.0 million for all policies up to a liability cap of $500.0 million.

Under the Quota Share Treaty, during 2020, the Company ceded 100% of its instant underwriting policies. During the period from January 1, 2021 to
February 23, 2021 the Company also ceded 100% of its instantly underwriting policies. Effective February 24, 2021 and forward, the Company cedes 25% of
the written premium on our instantly underwritten policies.

Payments and recoveries on reinsured losses for the Company’s title insurance business were immaterial during the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021
and 2020.

Ceding commission from reinsurance transactions are presented as revenue within the “Escrow, other title-related fees and other” revenue line item in the
consolidated statements of operations.

Total premiums ceded in connection with reinsurance are netted against the written premiums in the consolidated statements of operations. Gross
premiums earned and ceded premiums are as follows:

Year ended December 31
2022 2021 2020

Gross premiums earned $ 388,068 $ 482,232 $ 349,636 
Ceded premiums (2,815) (6,880) (4,028)
Net premiums earned $ 385,253 $ 475,352 $ 345,608 
Percentage of amount assumed to net 99.3 % 98.6 % 98.8 %

Liability for loss and loss adjustment expenses

Our liability for loss and loss adjustment expenses include reserves for known claims as well as reserves for incurred but not reported (“IBNR”) claims.
Each known claim is reserved based on our review of the estimated amount of the claim and the costs required to settle the claim. Reserves for IBNR are
estimates that are established at the time the premium revenue is recognized and are based upon historical experience and other factors, including industry
trends, claim loss history, legal environment, geographic considerations, and the types of title insurance policies written.

The liability for loss and loss adjustment expenses also includes reserves for losses arising from closing and disbursement functions due to fraud or
operational error. These reserves are intended to provide for closing errors when we are acting as the escrow company such as, disbursing to the wrong party,
paying the wrong lender, improperly allocating funds or relying on third-party fraudulent documents in closing transactions.

If a loss compensable under a title insurance policy is caused by an act or omission committed by a Third-Party Agent, the Company may seek
contribution or reimbursement from the Third-Party Agent. In any event, the Company may proceed against any party who is responsible for any loss under
the title insurance policy under rights of subrogation.

Income taxes

Under ASC 740, Income Taxes (“ASC 740”), deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to temporary
differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilities
are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or
settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income
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in the period of the enactment date. Valuation allowances are established when it is more likely than not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will not be
realized.

ASC 740 prescribes a recognition threshold and a measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of tax positions taken or
expected to be taken in a tax return. For those benefits to be recognized, a tax position must be more likely than not to be sustained upon examination by
taxing authorities. The Company recognizes accrued interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits as income tax expense. No amounts were
accrued for the payment of interest and penalties at December 31, 2022, and 2021. The Company is currently not aware of any issues under review that could
result in significant payments, accruals or material deviation from its position.

Stock compensation expense

The Company recognizes stock-based compensation expense in accordance with the provisions of ASC 718, Compensation - Stock Compensation, (“ASC
718”). ASC 718 requires the measurement and recognition of stock-based compensation expense for all stock-based awards issued to employees and directors
based on estimated fair values at the grant date. The Company measures the grant date fair value of stock options using the Black-Scholes option-pricing
model. Stock-based compensation expense arising from stock options is recorded on a straight-line basis over the vesting period of each grant. Forfeitures are
accounted for as incurred.

For restricted stock awards (“RSAs”), restricted stock units (“RSUs”), and performance restricted stock units (“PRSUs”) awarded in consideration of
services rendered by employees and non-employees, the Company recognizes compensation expense in accordance with the requirements of ASC 718 and
ASU 2018-07, Improvements to Nonemployee Share-Based Payment Accounting, respectively. The Company measures the fair value of RSAs, RSUs, and
PRSUs using the fair market value of the underlying common stock at the grant date. PRSUs are measured on the probable outcome of the performance
conditions applicable to each grant. Stock-based compensation expense arising from RSAs, RSUs, and PRSUs is recorded on a straight-line basis over the
vesting period of each grant. Forfeitures are accounted for as incurred.

The Company measures the fair value of market-based awards using the fair market value of the underlying common stock at the grant date. The
Company recognizes compensation expense related to the market-based awards using the accelerated attribution method over the requisite service period.

Public Warrants and Private Placement Warrants

As a result of the Business Combination, the Company assumed the Public Warrants (as defined in Note 3) and the Private Placement Warrants (as
defined in Note 3) (collectively, the “Warrants”) as of the Closing Date. The Warrants meet the definition of derivatives as contemplated in Derivatives and
Hedging (“ASC 815”). As such, the Warrants were recorded as liabilities on the balance sheet at fair value upon the consummation of the Business
Combination, with subsequent changes in their respective fair values recognized in the consolidated statements of operations at each reporting period.

Sponsor Covered Shares and Seller Earnout Shares

Immediately after the Closing Date, certain common stock held by the Sponsor (as defined in Note 3) became subject to vesting, contingent upon the
price of Doma’s common stock, par value $0.0001 (“common stock”) exceeding certain thresholds (the “Sponsor Covered Shares”). The Sponsor Covered
Shares are accounted for as a derivative due to the settlement adjustments upon change in control transactions that are not deemed to be indexed to our
common stock. As such, the Sponsor Covered Shares were recorded as liabilities on the balance sheet at fair value upon the consummation of the Business
Combination, with subsequent changes in their respective fair values recognized in the consolidated statements of operations at each reporting period.

Also following the Closing Date, equity holders of Old Doma prior to the Business Combination (the “Sellers”) have the right to receive an additional
number of shares contingent on the price of our common stock. The Seller Earnout Shares (as defined in Note 3) are treated as an equity classified contract
because all settlement scenarios,
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including those under fundamental change events, are indexed to our common stock (see Note 3 for additional information).

Share counts of our common stock provided in this Annual Report on Form 10-K (this “Annual Report”) exclude both the Sponsor Covered Shares and
the Seller Earnout Shares.

Concentration of credit risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist of cash accounts in financial institutions and our
investment portfolio. The Company has not experienced losses on the cash accounts and management believes the Company is not exposed to significant risks
on such accounts.

Additionally, we manage the exposure to credit risk in our investment portfolio by investing in high quality securities and diversifying our holdings. Our
investment portfolio is comprised of corporate debt, foreign government securities, certificates of deposit, single-family residential mortgage loans, and U.S.
Treasuries.

Advertising costs

Advertising costs, which include promotional expenses, are expensed as incurred. Advertising expenses were $3.2 million, $6.2 million, and $3.1 million
for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020, respectively, and are included in other operating expenses in the accompanying consolidated
statements of operations.

Earnings per share

The Company uses the two-class method to calculate basic net loss per share and apply the more dilutive of the two-class method, treasury stock method
or if-converted method to calculate diluted net loss per share. Undistributed earnings for each period are allocated to participating securities, including
preferred shares for applicable periods, based on the contractual participation rights of the security to share in the current earnings as if all current period
earnings had been distributed. Losses are not allocated to participating securities as they do not have a contractual obligation to share in losses.

The more dilutive of the two-class method and the if-converted method is used to calculate the dilutive impact of the preferred shares. The treasury stock
method is utilized to calculate the dilutive impact of the outstanding warrants, RSAs, RSUs, PRSUs and options and the if-converted method is utilized for the
Company’s convertible notes.

For the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, any preferred shares, stock options, warrants, RSAs, RSUs and PRSUs were anti-dilutive,
therefore, were excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share.

Basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to the Company’s common stock for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 was calculated
using weighted average common shares outstanding.

Risk and uncertainties

The real estate market has been impacted by significant macroeconomic factors, market disruptions, and volatility. The Company continues to monitor
and react to these factors. For additional information, refer to Part I, Item 1A “Risk Factors” set forth this Annual Report.

Emerging Growth Company and Smaller Reporting Company

Subsequent to the Business Combination described in Note 3, the Company is an “emerging growth company,” as defined in Section 2(a) of the Securities
Act, as modified by the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012 (the “JOBS Act”), and it may take advantage of certain exemptions from various
reporting requirements that are applicable to other public companies that are not emerging growth companies including, but not limited to, not being required
to comply with the independent registered public accounting firm attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, reduced disclosure
obligations regarding executive compensation in its periodic reports and proxy statements, and exemptions from the requirements of holding a nonbinding
advisory vote on executive compensation and stockholder approval of any golden parachute payments not previously approved.
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Further, Section 102(b)(1) of the JOBS Act exempts emerging growth companies from being required to comply with new or revised financial accounting
standards until private companies (that is, those that have not had a Securities Act registration statement declared effective or do not have a class of securities
registered under the Exchange Act) are required to comply with the new or revised financial accounting standards. The JOBS Act provides that a company can
elect to opt out of the extended transition period and comply with the requirements that apply to non-emerging growth companies but any such election to opt
out is irrevocable. The Company has elected not to opt out of such extended transition period which means that when a standard is issued or revised and it has
different application dates for public or private companies, the Company, as an emerging growth company, can adopt the new or revised standard at the time
private companies adopt the new or revised standard. This may make comparison of the Company’s financial statements with another public company which
is neither an emerging growth company nor an emerging growth company which has opted out of using the extended transition period difficult or impossible
because of the potential differences in accounting standards used.

Additionally, subsequent to the Business Combination described in Note 3, the Company is a “smaller reporting company” as defined in Item 10(f)(1) of
Regulation S-K. Smaller reporting companies may take advantage of certain reduced disclosure obligations, including, among other things, providing only two
years of audited financial statements.

Recently issued and adopted accounting pronouncements

In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-04, Intangibles - Goodwill and Other (Topic 350), simplifying Accounting for Goodwill Impairment (“ASU
2017-04”). ASU 2017-04 removes the requirement to perform a hypothetical purchase price allocation to measure goodwill impairment. A goodwill
impairment will now be the amount by which a reporting unit's carrying value exceeds its fair value, not to exceed the carrying amount of goodwill. The
Company early adopted this update as of January 1, 2020 with no material impact on the Company’s financial position and results of operations. The
Company has applied this guidance in determining the goodwill impairment discussed within Note 3.

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-13 Financial Instruments - Credit Losses: Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments (Topic
326). The amendments in this and the related ASUs introduce broad changes to accounting for credit impairment of financial instruments. The primary
updates include the introduction of a new current expected credit loss (“CECL”) model that is based on expected rather than incurred losses for instruments
measured at amortized cost and amends the accounting for impairment of held-to-maturity securities and available-for-sale securities. This model incorporates
past experience, current conditions and reasonable and supportable forecasts affecting collectability of these instruments. The amendments in this update are
effective for public entities for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2019. For all other entities, the
amendment is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022, including interim periods within those fiscal years. The early adoption of this new
guidance on January 1, 2022 required the Company to record an allowance for credit losses for the Company’s held-to-maturity investment portfolio, which
resulted in an allowance of $0.4 million and a corresponding $0.4 million adjustment for the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle, net of
income taxes. For more information on the held-to-maturity allowance for credit losses, refer to Note 4. Prior to the adoption of the new guidance, the
Company utilized an aging model to estimate credit losses on accounts receivable. As this aging model is allowed under the new guidance, there is no impact
to the Company’s allowance for credit losses for accounts receivable. The adoption of this new standard did not have a significant impact on the consolidated
statements of operations or the consolidated statements of cash flows. The guidance also requires additional disclosures regarding the Company’s held-to-
maturity allowance for credit losses, which have been included within Note 4.

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (“ASU 2016-02”), which provides guidance for accounting for leases. ASU 2016-02 requires
lessees to classify leases as either finance or operating leases and to record a right-of-use asset and a lease liability for all leases with a term greater than 12
months regardless of the lease classification. The lease classification will determine whether the lease expense is recognized based on an effective interest rate
method or on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Modified or new leases subsequent to the effective date will follow ASC 2016-02. Accounting for
lessors remains largely unchanged from current U.S. GAAP. Under ASU 2020-05, the effective date for adoption of ASU 2016-02 is fiscal years beginning
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after December 15, 2021, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022. We early adopted this new guidance on January 1, 2022
under a modified retrospective transition approach using the cumulative-effect adjustment transition method approved by the FASB, which results in reporting
for the comparative periods presented in accordance with the previous lease guidance under ASC 840. We elected the package of practical expedients but did
not adopt the hindsight practical expedient as of January 1, 2022. The package of practical expedients allowed the Company not to reassess whether the
arrangement contains a lease, lease classification and whether previously capitalized costs qualify as initial direct costs. The practical expedients allowed the
Company to continue classifying all of its leases as operating leases as they were previously classified under ASC 840. The Company recognized lease
liabilities of $24.4 million and corresponding right-of-use assets of $23.8 million in our consolidated balance sheet on January 1, 2022. The difference
between the lease liabilities and corresponding right-of-use assets related to prepaid rent and deferred lease obligations recognized in prepaid expenses,
deposits and other assets and accrued expenses and other liabilities, respectively, in our consolidated balance sheet on January 1, 2022, resulting in no
cumulative-effect adjustment to opening equity. The new standard did not have a significant impact on the consolidated statements of operations or the
consolidated statements of cash flows. The guidance also requires additional disclosures regarding the Company’s lease portfolio, which have been included
within Note 21.

In January 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2019-12, Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes (Topic 740). ASU 2019-12 removes certain exceptions to
the general principles in Topic 740 and clarifies and amends existing guidance to improve consistent application. Specifically, ASU 2019-12 eliminates certain
exceptions related to the approach for intra-period tax allocation, the methodology for calculating income taxes in an interim period and the recognition of
deferred tax liabilities for outside basis differences. ASU 2019-12 is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2020, and interim periods
beginning after December 15, 2020. ASU 2019-12 is effective for private entities for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2021, and interim periods
beginning after December 15, 2022, with early adoption permitted. The Company adopted ASU 2019-12 under the private company transition guidance
beginning January 1, 2022, and the adoption of this standard did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements or disclosures
given the Company has a full valuation allowance and the scenarios for which the guidance offer simplification are not significant for the Company.

Recently issued but not adopted accounting pronouncements

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-12, Financial Services-Insurance (Topic 944), Targeted Improvements to the Accounting for Long-Duration
Contracts, effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022 including interim periods within those fiscal years. In June of 2020, the FASB deferred
the effective date of ASU 2018-12 for one-year in response to implementation challenges resulting from COVID-19. This update requires insurance
companies to annually review and update the assumptions used for measuring the liability under long-duration contracts. The amendments in this ASU may be
early adopted as of the beginning of an annual reporting period for which financial statements have not yet been issued, including interim financial statements.
We do not currently expect to early adopt this standard. Although we have long-duration contracts, this specific guidance is not expected to impact our title
insurance operations; therefore, we do not expect this standard to have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

3. Business combinations

Capitol Business Combination

As described in Note 1, on March 2, 2021, Old Doma entered into the Agreement with Capitol, a blank check company incorporated in the State of
Delaware and formed for the purpose of effecting a merger. Pursuant to the Agreement, a newly formed subsidiary of Capitol was merged with and into Old
Doma, and the Business Combination was completed on July 28, 2021. The Business Combination was accounted for as a reverse recapitalization and Capitol
was treated as the acquired company for financial statement reporting purposes. Old Doma was deemed the predecessor for financial reporting purposes and
Doma was deemed the successor SEC registrant, meaning that Old Doma’s financial statements for periods prior to the consummation of the Business
Combination are disclosed in the financial statements included within this Annual Report and will be disclosed in Doma’s future periodic reports. No goodwill
or other intangible assets were recorded, in accordance with GAAP. At
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the Closing Date, Doma received gross cash consideration of $345.0 million as a result of the reverse recapitalization from Capitol’s trust account, which was
then reduced by the redemption of Class A common stock of $294.9 million. In addition, existing Old Doma stockholders and option holders received cash
payments from the settlement of the net proceeds of the Business Combination totaling $20.1 million.

In connection with the Business Combination, Capitol entered into subscription agreements with certain investors, whereby Doma issued 30,000,000
shares of common stock at $10.00 per share for an aggregate purchase price of $300.0 million (the “PIPE Investment”), which closed simultaneously with the
consummation of the Business Combination.

Upon the Closing Date, holders of Old Doma common stock, par value $0.0001 per share (“Old Doma Common Stock”) received shares of our common
stock in an amount determined by the exchange ratio of approximately 5.994933 to 1 (the “Exchange Ratio”), which was based on the implied price per share
prior to the Business Combination established within the Agreement. Reported shares and earnings per share available to holders of Old Doma’s Common
Stock, prior to the Business Combination, have been retroactively restated reflecting the Exchange Ratio. Applicable share activity within the statement of
changes in stockholder’s equity were also retroactively converted to our common stock at the Exchange Ratio.

Old Doma recorded the net assets acquired from Capitol. The total estimated transaction costs directly attributable to the Business Combination are
approximately $67.0 million, consisting of advisory, legal, share registration and other professional fees. $12.1 million of these fees represent underwriter fees
incurred by Capitol prior to the Business Combination related to their initial public offering.

Immediately after the Closing Date, 1,325,664 shares of common stock held by the Sponsor became subject to vesting, contingent upon the price of
Doma’s common stock, par value $0.0001 (“Doma common stock”) exceeding certain thresholds (the “Sponsor Covered Shares”).

Immediately after giving effect to the Business Combination and the PIPE Investment, there were 321,461,822 shares of common stock outstanding,
which excludes the 1,325,664 of Sponsor Covered Shares. The Company is authorized to issue 2,000,000,000 shares of common stock having a par value of
$0.0001 per share. Additionally, the Company is authorized to issue 100,000,000 shares of preferred stock having a par value of $0.0001 per share. As of
December 31, 2022, there were 329,147,979 and 0 shares of common stock and preferred stock issued and outstanding, respectively, which excludes the
1,325,664 of Sponsor Covered Shares.

On December 4, 2020, Capitol consummated its initial public offering, which included the issuance of 11,500,000 redeemable warrants (the “Public
Warrants”). Simultaneously with the closing of the initial public offering, Capitol completed the private sale of 5,833,333 warrants (the “Private Placement
Warrants”). These Warrants remain outstanding following the Business Combination and each whole warrant entitles the holder to purchase one share of our
common stock at a price of $11.50 (see Note 20 for additional information).

Immediately after the Closing Date, 20% of the aggregate of our common stock held by certain investors (collectively, the “Sponsor”) became subject to
vesting, contingent upon the price of our common stock exceeding certain thresholds. The Sponsor Covered Shares will vest in two tranches: (i) one-half of
such shares shall vest if the last reported sale price of the common stock equals or exceeds $15.00 for any 20 trading days within any 30-day trading period
ending on or before the tenth anniversary of the Closing Date, and (ii) one-half of such shares shall vest if the last reported sale price of the common stock
equals or exceeds $17.50 for any 20 trading days within any 30-day trading period ending on or before the tenth anniversary of the Closing Date. The Sponsor
is also entitled to the Sponsor Covered Shares if a covered strategic transaction or change in control, as defined by the sponsor support agreement dated as of
March 2, 2021 (the “Sponsor Support Agreement”) by and among the sponsors named thereto, Capitol and Old Doma, occurs prior to the ten (10)-year
anniversary of the Closing Date. As of December 31, 2022, the Sponsor Covered Shares were legally outstanding; however, since none of the conditions were
met, no related shares are included in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets and consolidated statement of changes in stockholders’ equity or for the
purposes of calculating earnings per share.

Also following the Closing Date, the Sellers have the contingent right to receive up to an additional number of shares equal to 5% of the sum of (i) the
aggregate number of outstanding shares of our common stock (including
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restricted common stock, but excluding Sponsor Covered Shares), plus (ii) the maximum number of shares underlying our options that are vested and the
maximum number of shares underlying warrants to purchase shares of Doma common stock issued as replacement warrants for Old Doma warrants, in each
case of these clauses (i) and (ii), as of immediately following the Closing Date (the “Seller Earnout Shares”). The Seller Earnout Shares are contingently
issuable to the Sellers in two tranches: (i) one-half of such shares shall be issued if the last reported sale price of the common stock equals or exceeds $15.00
for any 20 trading days within any 30-day trading period ending on or before the fifth anniversary of the Closing Date, and (ii) one-half of such shares shall be
issued if the last reported sale price of the common stock equals or exceeds $17.50 for any 20 trading days within any 30-day trading period ending on or
before the fifth anniversary of the Closing Date. Since none of the conditions of the Seller Earnout Shares were met as of December 31, 2022, no related
shares are included in the Company’s consolidated statements of changes in stockholders’ equity as of December 31, 2022 or for purposes of calculating
earnings per share.

North American Title Acquisition

On January 7, 2019, we acquired from Lennar its subsidiary, North American Title Insurance Company, which operated its title insurance underwriting
business, and its third-party title insurance agency business, which was operated under its North American Title Company brand (collectively, the “Acquired
Business”), for total stock and deferred cash consideration of $171.7 million (the “North American Title Acquisition”), including $87.0 million in the form of
a seller financing note. Goodwill of $111.5 million resulted from the North American Title Acquisition.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, management determined that the Company was less likely to reach previously forecasted revenue as a result
of adverse mortgage and housing market conditions, including rapidly rising interest rates and low housing inventory. In addition, during the three months
ended December 31, 2022, the Company implemented a strategic initiative to focus resources on its instant underwriting capabilities. These factors and a
significant, sustained decrease in the Company’s stock price in 2022 indicated that the Company had triggering events, resulting in the Company performing
separate quantitative goodwill impairment analyses as of September 30, 2022 and December 31, 2022. The resulting valuations of the Underwriting reporting
unit indicated that its estimated fair value was above its carrying value. The estimated fair value of the Distribution reporting unit was below its carrying value
as of September 30, 2022 and as of December 31, 2022. As such, the Company determined that the Distribution reporting unit’s goodwill was impaired.

The Company performed the valuations of the Distribution and Underwriting reporting units using discounted cash flow and market valuation
methodologies, using Level 3 inputs. The valuations considered the Company’s market capitalization compared to the enterprise value, using Level 2 inputs.
During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company recognized total goodwill impairment charges of $65.2 million. The Company believes that its
procedures for estimating future cash flows for each reporting unit are reasonable and consistent with current market conditions as of the testing date. If the
markets that impact the Company’s business continue to deteriorate, the Company could recognize further goodwill impairment.

The changes in the carrying value of goodwill, by segment, were as follows:
Distribution Underwriting Total

Beginning balance, January 1, 2022 $ 88,074 $ 23,413 $ 111,487 
Impairment losses (65,207) — (65,207)

Ending balance, December 31, 2022 $ 22,867 $ 23,413 $ 46,280 

Accumulated impairment losses to goodwill were $65.2 million as of December 31, 2022.
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4. Investments and fair value measurements

Held-to-maturity debt securities

The cost basis, fair values and gross unrealized gains and losses of our held-to-maturity debt securities are as follows:

December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021

Amortized Cost
Unrealized

Gains
Unrealized

Losses Fair Value  Amortized Cost
Unrealized

Gains
Unrealized

Losses Fair Value

Corporate debt securities $ 61,308 $ 5 $ (1,640) $ 59,673 $ 62,078 $ 459 $ (207) $ 62,330 
U.S. Treasury securities 24,152 — (165) 23,987 4,849 — (16) 4,833 
Foreign government
securities 5,003 — (4) 4,999 — — — — 
Certificates of deposit 305 — — 305 237 — — 237 

Total $ 90,768 $ 5 $ (1,809) $ 88,964 $ 67,164 $ 459 $ (223) $ 67,400 

_______________

(1) Includes both U.S. and foreign corporate debt securities.

The cost basis of held-to-maturity debt securities includes an adjustment for the amortization of premium or discount since the date of purchase. Held-to-
maturity debt securities valued at approximately $5.9 million and $4.2 million were on deposit with various governmental authorities at December 31, 2022
and 2021, respectively, as required by law.

The change in net unrealized gains and on held-to-maturity debt securities for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 was $(2.0) million,
$(0.8) million and $0.9 million, respectively.

Net realized gains of held-to-maturity debt securities are computed using the specific identification method and are included in the consolidated
statements of operations. During the year ended December 31, 2022, to de-risk the portfolio, the Company sold held-to-maturity debt securities resulting in
proceeds and net realized losses of $1.0 million and $6.0 thousand, respectively.

The following table presents certain information regarding contractual maturities of our held-to-maturity debt securities:

Maturity

December 31, 2022
Amortized 

 Cost
% of 

 Total
Fair

 Value
% of 

 Total

One year or less $ 67,971 75 % $ 67,744 76 %
After one year through five years 22,797 25 % 21,220 24 %
Total $ 90,768 100 % $ 88,964 100 %

There were no held-to-maturity debt securities with contractual maturities after five years. Expected maturities may differ from contractual maturities
because certain borrowers have the right to call or prepay obligations with or without call or prepayment penalties.

(1)
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Net unrealized losses on held-to-maturity debt securities and the fair value of the related securities, aggregated by investment category and length of time
that individual securities have been in a continuous unrealized loss position are as follows:

December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021

Corporate debt
securities

U.S. Treasury
securities

Foreign
government

securities Total
Corporate debt

securities
U.S. Treasury

securities Total

Less than 12 Months
Fair Value $ 48,798 $ 19,834 $ 4,999 $ 73,631 $ 18,309 $ 4,667 $ 22,976 
Unrealized Losses $ (614) $ (101) $ (4) $ (719) $ (192) $ (16) $ (208)

Greater than 12 months
Fair value 8,546 4,125 — 12,671 605 — 605 
Unrealized losses (1,026) (64) — (1,090) (15) — (15)

Total
Fair value $ 57,344 $ 23,959 $ 4,999 $ 86,302 $ 18,914 $ 4,667 $ 23,581 
Unrealized losses $ (1,640) $ (165) $ (4) $ (1,809) $ (207) $ (16) $ (223)

We believe that any unrealized losses on our held-to-maturity debt securities at December 31, 2022 are temporary based upon our current analysis of the
issuers of the securities that we hold and current market conditions. We have no intent to sell, and it is more likely than not that we will not be required to sell,
these securities until the fair value recovers to at least equal our cost basis or the securities mature.

Rollforward of Credit Loss Allowance for Held-to-Maturity Debt Securities

Beginning balance, January 1, 2022 $ 399 
Current-period provision for expected credit losses 41 
Write-off charged against the allowance, if any — 
Recoveries of amounts previously written off, if any — 

Ending balance of the allowance for credit losses, December 31, 2022 $ 440 

The current-period provision for expected credit losses is due to changes in portfolio composition, the maturity of certain securities, and changes in the
credit ratings of certain securities.

Available-for-sale debt securities

The cost basis, fair values and gross unrealized gains and losses of our available-for-sale debt securities are as follows:

December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021
Cost

 Basis
Unrealized

Gains
Unrealized

Losses
Fair 

 Value
Cost

 Basis
Unrealized

Gains
Unrealized

Losses
Fair 

 Value
Corporate debt securities $ 27,251 $ — $ (363) $ 26,888 $ — $ — $ — $ — 
U.S. Treasury securities 30,467 — (544) 29,923 — — — — 
Foreign government

securities 1,473 — (30) 1,443 — — — — 

Total $ 59,191 $ — $ (937) $ 58,254 $ — $ — $ — $ — 

_________________
(1) Includes both U.S. and foreign corporate debt securities.

(1)
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The cost basis of available-for-sale debt securities includes an adjustment for the amortization of premium or discount since the date of purchase.

The change in net unrealized gains on available-for-sale debt securities for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 was $(0.9) million, $(0.9)
million, and $0.2 million, respectively. Any unrealized holding gains or losses on available-for-sale debt securities as of December 31, 2022 are reported as
accumulated other comprehensive gain or loss, which is a separate component of stockholders’ equity, net of tax, until realized.

The following table reflects the composition of net realized gains or losses for the sales of the available-for-sale debt securities for each of the years
shown below:

Year ended December 31,
2022 2021 2020

Realized gains (losses):
Available-for-sale debt securities:

Gains $ — $ 768 $ — 
Losses — (90) — 
Net $ — $ 678 $ — 

Proceeds from sales $ — $ 7,817 $ — 

Net realized gains on disposition of available-for-sale debt securities are computed using the specific identification method and are included in the
consolidated statements of operations
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The following table presents certain information regarding contractual maturities of our available-for-sale debt securities:

Maturity

December 31, 2022
Amortized 

Cost
% of 
Total

Fair
Value

% of 
Total

One year or less $ — — % $ — — %
After one year through five years 59,191 100 % 58,254 100 %
Total $ 59,191 100 % $ 58,254 100 %

There were no available-for-sale debt securities with contractual maturities after five years. Expected maturities may differ from contractual maturities
because certain borrowers have the right to call or prepay obligations with or without call or prepayment penalties.

Net unrealized losses on available-for-sale debt securities and the fair value of the related securities, aggregated by investment category and length of time
that individual securities have been in a continuous unrealized loss position are as follows:

December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021

Corporate debt
securities

U.S. Treasury
securities

Foreign
government

securities Total
Corporate debt

securities
U.S. Treasury

securities Total

Less than 12 months
Fair value $ 26,886 $ 29,923 $ 1,444 $ 58,253 $ — $ — $ — 
Unrealized losses $ (363) $ (544) $ (30) $ (937) $ — $ — $ — 

Greater than 12 months
Fair value $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — 
Unrealized losses $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — 

Total
Fair value $ 26,886 $ 29,923 $ 1,444 $ 58,253 $ — $ — $ — 
Unrealized losses $ (363) $ (544) $ (30) $ (937) $ — $ — $ — 

We believe that any unrealized losses on our available-for-sale debt securities at December 31, 2022 are temporary based upon our current analysis of the
issuers of the securities that we hold and current market conditions.

We have no intent to sell, and it is more likely than not that we will not be required to sell, these securities until the fair value recovers to at least equal our
cost basis or the securities mature.

As of December 31, 2022, the Company did not have an allowance for credit losses for available-for-sale debt securities.

Equity securities

The Company disposed of all equity securities as of December 31, 2021.

Mortgage loans

The mortgage loans portfolio as of December 31, 2022 is comprised entirely of single-family residential mortgage loans. During the year ended
December 31, 2022, the Company did not purchase any new mortgage loans.

Mortgage loans, which include contractual terms to maturity of thirty years, are not categorized by contractual maturity as borrowers may have the right
to call or prepay obligations with, or without, call or prepayment penalties. The change in the mortgage loans during the year ended December 31, 2022 was
the result of principal prepayments and maturities.
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The cost and estimated fair value of mortgage loans are as follows:

December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021
Cost Estimated Fair Value Cost Estimated Fair Value

Mortgage loans $ 297 $ 297 $ 2,022 $ 2,022 
Total $ 297 $ 297 $ 2,022 $ 2,022 

Investment income

Investment income from securities consists of the following:

Year ended December 31,
2022 2021 2020

Available-for-sale debt securities $ 932 $ 773 $ 408 
Held-to-maturity debt securities 1,828 1,984 1,326 
Equity investments — (89) 146 
Mortgage loans 58 168 194 
Other 409 292 159 
Total $ 3,227 $ 3,128 $ 2,233 

Accrued interest receivable

Accrued interest receivable from investments is included in receivables, net in the consolidated balance sheets. The following table reflects the
composition of accrued interest receivable for investments:

Year ended December 31,
2022 2021

Corporate debt securities $ 834 $ 874 
U.S. Treasury securities 281 12 
Foreign government securities 42 — 
Accrued interest receivable on investment securities $ 1,157 $ 886 
Mortgage loans — 13 
Accrued interest receivable on investments $ 1,157 $ 899 

The Company does not recognize an allowance for credit losses for accrued interest receivable, which is recorded in the receivables line in the
consolidated balance sheets, because the Company writes off accrued investment income timely. The Company writes off accrued interest receivables after
three months by reversing interest income.
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Fair value measurement

The following table summarizes the Company’s investments measured at fair value:
Assets

December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Held-to-maturity:
Corporate debt securities $ — $ 59,673 $ — $ 59,673 $ — $ 62,330 $ — $ 62,330 
U.S. Treasury Securities 23,987 — — 23,987 4,833 — — 4,833 
Foreign government securities — 4,999 — 4,999 — — — — 
Certificate of deposits — 305 — 305 — 237 — 237 

Total held-to-maturity debt
securities $ 23,987 $ 64,977 $ — $ 88,964 $ 4,833 $ 62,567 $ — $ 67,400 

Available-for-sale:
Corporate debt securities $ — $ 26,888 $ — $ 26,888 $ — $ — $ — $ — 
U.S. Treasury Securities 29,923 — — 29,923 — — — — 
Foreign government securities — 1,443 — 1,443 — — — — 

Total available-for-sale debt
securities $ 29,923 $ 28,331 $ — $ 58,254 $ — $ — $ — $ — 

Mortgage loans $ — $ — $ 297 $ 297 $ — $ — $ 2,022 $ 2,022 

Total $ 53,910 $ 93,308 $ 297 $ 147,515 $ 4,833 $ 62,567 $ 2,022 $ 69,422 

The Company classifies U.S. Treasury bonds within Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy because they are valued based on quoted market prices in active
markets. Corporate debt securities and certificates of deposit are classified within Level 2 because they are valued using inputs other than quoted prices that
are directly or indirectly observable in the market, including readily available pricing sources for the identical underlying security which may
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be actively traded. The Company classifies mortgage loans as Level 3 due to the reliance on significant unobservable valuation inputs.

The Company’s liabilities in the following table are recorded at fair value on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The following table
summarizes the Company’s liabilities measured at fair value:

Liabilities
Public Warrants Private Placement Warrants Sponsor Covered Shares Total

December 31, 2022
Level 1 $ 230 $ — $ — $ 230 
Level 2 — 117 — 117 
Level 3 — — 219 219 
Total $ 230 $ 117 $ 219 $ 566 

December 31, 2021
Level 1 $ 10,925 $ — $ — $ 10,925 
Level 2 — 5,542 — 5,542 
Level 3 — — 5,415 5,415 
Total $ 10,925 $ 5,542 $ 5,415 $ 21,882 

The Company considers the Public Warrants to be Level 1 liabilities due to the use of an observable market quote in an active market under the ticker
DOMA.WS. For the Private Placement Warrants, the Company considers the fair value of each Private Placement Warrant to be equivalent to that of each
Public Warrant, with an immaterial adjustment for short-term marketability restrictions. As such, the Private Placement Warrants are classified as Level 2.
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The fair value of the Sponsor Covered Shares was determined using a Monte Carlo simulation valuation model using a distribution of potential stock
price outcomes on a daily basis over the original 10-year vesting period. The unobservable significant inputs to the valuation model were as follows:

 December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021
Current stock price $ 0.42 $ 5.08 
Expected volatility 65.0 % 55.0 %
Risk-free interest rate 3.96 % 1.52 %
Expected term (years) 8.6 9.6
Expected dividend yield — % — %
Annual change in control probability 2.0 % 2.0 %

The changes for Level 3 items measured at fair value on a recurring basis using significant unobservable inputs are as follows:

Sponsor Covered Shares
Fair value as of January 1, 2021 $ — 

Sponsor Covered Shares assumed in Business Combination 9,332 
Change in fair value of Sponsor Covered Shares (3,917)

Fair value as of December 31, 2021 $ 5,415 
Change in fair value of Sponsor Covered Shares (5,196)

Fair value as of December 31, 2022 $ 219 

There were no transfers of assets or liabilities between Level 1 and Level 2 during the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021. There were no transfers
involving Level 3 assets or liabilities during the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021.

Cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, receivables, prepaid expenses and other assets, accounts payable, and accrued expenses and other liabilities
approximate fair value and are therefore excluded from the leveling table above. The cost basis is determined to approximate fair value due to the short term
duration of these financial instruments.
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5. Revenue recognition

Disaggregation of revenue

Our revenue consists of:
Year ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020

Revenue Stream
Statements of Operations

Classification Segment Total Revenue

Revenue from insurance contracts:
Direct Agents title insurance premiums Net premiums written Underwriting $ 67,743 $ 119,236 $ 81,420 
Direct Agents title insurance premiums Net premiums written Elimination — (976) — 
Third-Party Agent title insurance premiums Net premiums written Underwriting 317,510 357,092 264,188 

Total revenue from insurance contracts $ 385,253 $ 475,352 $ 345,608 
Revenue from contracts with customers:

Escrow fees Escrow, title-related and other
fees Distribution $ 37,106 $ 61,005 $ 41,438 

Other title-related fees and income Escrow, title-related and other
fees Distribution 69,621 116,064 88,152 

Other title-related fees and income Escrow, title-related and other
fees Underwriting 2,692 3,520 2,099 

Other title-related fees and income Escrow, title-related and other
fees Elimination (57,411) (101,004) (70,414)

Total revenue from contracts with customers $ 52,008 $ 79,585 $ 61,275 
Other revenue:

Interest and investment income Investment, dividend and other
income Distribution $ 727 $ 230 $ 325 

Interest and investment income Investment, dividend and other
income Underwriting 2,558 1,952 2,086 

Realized gains and losses, net Investment, dividend and other
income Distribution (309) (25) 374 

Realized gains and losses, net Investment, dividend and other
income Underwriting (56) 949 146 

Total other revenues $ 2,920 $ 3,106 $ 2,931 
Total revenues $ 440,181 $ 558,043 $ 409,814 

_________________
(1) Premiums retained by Direct Agents are recognized as income to the Distribution segment, and expense to the Underwriting segment. Upon consolidation, the impact of these internal segment

transactions is eliminated. See Note 7. Segment information for additional breakdown.

(2) Interest and investment income consists primarily of interest payments received on held-to-maturity debt securities, available-for-sale debt securities and mortgage loans.

See Note 2. Revenue recognition for additional information.

(1)

(2)

(2)
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6. Liability for loss and loss adjustment expenses

A summary of the changes in the liability for loss and loss adjustment expenses for each of the years ended is as follows:

Year ended December 31,
2022 2021 2020

Balance at the beginning of the year $ 80,267 $ 69,800 $ 62,758 

Provision for claims related to:
Current year $ 22,314 $ 28,860 $ 20,619 
Prior years (5,574) (7,525) (5,282)

Total provision for claims $ 16,740 $ 21,335 $ 15,337 

Paid losses related to:
Current year $ (3,632) $ (3,180) $ (2,331)
Prior years (11,305) (7,688) (5,964)

Total paid losses $ (14,937) $ (10,868) $ (8,295)

Balance at the end of the period $ 82,070 $ 80,267 $ 69,800 

Provision for claims as a percentage of net written premiums 4.3 % 4.5 % 4.4 %

We continually update our liability for loss and loss adjustment expense estimates as new information becomes known, new loss patterns emerge, or as
other contributing factors are considered and incorporated into the analysis. Estimating future title loss payments is difficult because of the complex nature of
title claims, the long periods of time over which claims are paid, significantly varying dollar amounts of individual claims and other factors.

Current year incurred and paid losses includes current year reported claims as well as estimated future losses on such claims.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, the prior year’s provision for claims release of $5.6 million is due to reported loss emergence which was lower
than expected. Historically, this favorable loss experience has resulted in a decrease in the projection of ultimate loss for past policy years. Most recently, our
favorable loss experience resulted in a decrease in the projection of ultimate loss for policy years 2015, 2018 and 2020. For the year ended December 31,
2021, the provision for claims reserve release related to prior years of $7.5 million is due to reported loss emergence which was lower than expected. This has
resulted in a decrease in the projection of ultimate loss for policy years 2018–2020. For the year ended December 31, 2020, the provision for claims reserve
release related to prior years of $5.3 million is due to reported loss emergence which was lower than expected. This has resulted in a decrease in the projection
of ultimate loss for policy years 2017–2019. The actuarial assumptions underlying the Company’s selected ultimate loss estimates place more consideration on
title insurance industry benchmarks for more recent policy years. These title insurance benchmarks are based on industry long-term average loss ratios. As the
Company’s claims experience matures, we refine those estimates to put more consideration to the Company’s actual claims experience. For the years ended
December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, the Company’s actual claims experience reflects lower loss ratios than industry benchmarks from a current positive
underwriting cycle and resulted in the favorable development.

Current year incurred and paid losses includes current year reported claims as well as estimated future losses on such claims.

The liability for loss and loss adjustment expenses of $82.1 million and $80.3 million, as of December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively,
includes $0.2 million and $0.1 million, respectively, of reserves for the
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settlement of claims which the Company has deemed to be directly related to its escrow or agent related activities. The reserves for the settlement of claims
related to escrow or agent related activities are not actuarially determined.

7. Segment information

The Company’s chief operating decision maker reviews financial performance and makes decisions about the allocation of resources for our operations
through two reportable segments, (1) Distribution and (2) Underwriting. The Company’s reportable segments offer different products and services that are
marketed through different channels for real estate closing transactions. They are managed separately because of the unique technology, service requirements
and regulatory environment.

A description of each of our reportable segments is as follows.

• Distribution: Our Distribution segment reflects our Direct Agents operations of acquiring customer orders and providing title and escrow services
for real estate closing transactions. We acquire customers through our partnerships with realtors, attorneys and non-centralized loan originators via a
91-branch footprint across eight states as of December 31, 2022 (“Local”) and our partnerships with national lenders and mortgage originators that
maintain centralized lending operations representing our Doma Enterprise accounts (“Doma Enterprise”).

• Underwriting: Our Underwriting segment reflects the results of our title insurance underwriting business, including policies referred through our
Direct Agents and Third-Party Agents channels. The referring agents typically retain approximately 82% - 84% of the policy premiums in exchange
for their services. The retention varies by state and agent.

We use adjusted gross profit as the primary profitability measure for making decisions regarding ongoing operations. Adjusted gross profit is calculated
by subtracting direct costs, such as premiums retained by agents, direct labor, other direct costs, and provision for claims, from total revenue. Our chief
operating decision maker evaluates the results of the aforementioned segments on a pre-tax basis. Segment adjusted gross profit excludes certain items which
are included in net loss, such as depreciation and amortization, corporate and other expenses, goodwill impairment, long-lived asset impairment, change in the
fair value of Warrant and Sponsor Covered Shares liabilities, interest expense, and income tax expense, as these items are not considered by the chief
operating decision maker in evaluating the segments’ overall operating performance. Our chief operating decision maker does not review nor consider assets
allocated to our segments for the purpose of assessing performance or allocating resources. Accordingly, segments’ assets are not presented.

The following table summarizes the operating results of the Company’s reportable segments:

Year ended December 31, 2022

Distribution Underwriting Eliminations Consolidated total

Net premiums written $ — $ 385,253 $ — $ 385,253 

Escrow, other title-related fees and other 106,727 2,692 (57,411) 52,008 

Investment, dividend and other income 418 2,502 — 2,920 
Total revenue $ 107,145 $ 390,447 $ (57,411) $ 440,181 

Premiums retained by agents $ — $ 318,887 $ (57,411) $ 261,476 

Direct labor 76,175 10,398 — 86,573 

Other direct costs 18,741 9,803 — 28,544 

Provision for claims 3,165 13,575 — 16,740 

Adjusted gross profit $ 9,064 $ 37,784 $ — $ 46,848 

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)
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Year ended December 31, 2021
Distribution Underwriting Eliminations Consolidated total

Net premiums written $ — $ 476,328 $ (976) $ 475,352 
Escrow, other title-related fees and other 177,069 3,520 (101,004) 79,585 
Investment, dividend and other income 205 2,901 — 3,106 
Total revenue $ 177,274 $ 482,749 $ (101,980) $ 558,043 

Premiums retained by agents $ — $ 400,425 $ (101,980) $ 298,445 
Direct labor 81,204 8,412 — 89,616 
Other direct costs 23,726 11,339 — 35,065 
Provision for claims 2,257 19,078 — 21,335 
Adjusted gross profit $ 70,087 $ 43,495 $ — $ 113,582 

Year ended December 31, 2020
Distribution Underwriting Eliminations Consolidated total

Net premiums written $ — $ 345,608 $ — $ 345,608 
Escrow, other title-related fees and other 129,590 2,099 (70,414) 61,275 
Investment, dividend and other income 699 2,232 — 2,931 
Total revenue $ 130,289 $ 349,939 $ (70,414) $ 409,814 

Premiums retained by agents $ — $ 290,557 $ (70,414) $ 220,143 
Direct labor 55,334 6,820 — 62,154 
Other direct costs 16,912 3,623 — 20,535 
Provision for claims 1,415 13,922 — 15,337 
Adjusted gross profit $ 56,628 $ 35,017 $ — $ 91,645 

_______________

(1) Includes fee income from closings, escrow, title exams, ceding commission income, as well as premiums retained by Direct Agents.
(2) This expense represents a deduction from the net premiums written for the amounts that are retained by Direct Agents and Third-Party Agents as compensation for their efforts to generate

premium income for our Underwriting segment. The impact of premiums retained by our Direct Agents and the expense for reinsurance or co-insurance procured on Direct Agent sourced
premiums are eliminated in consolidation.

(3) Includes all compensation costs, including salaries, bonuses, incentive payments, and benefits, for personnel involved in the direct fulfillment of title and/or escrow services. Direct labor
excludes severance costs.

(4) Includes title examination expense, office supplies, and premium and other taxes.

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)
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The following table provides a reconciliation of the Company’s total reportable segments’ adjusted gross profit to its total loss before income taxes:

Year ended December 31,
2022 2021 2020

Adjusted gross profit $ 46,848 $ 113,582 $ 91,645 
Depreciation and amortization 16,019 10,321 5,815 
Corporate and other expenses 240,283 205,220 114,511 
Goodwill impairment 65,207 — — 
Long-lived asset impairment 32,027 — — 
Change in fair value of Warrant and Sponsor Covered Shares liabilities (21,317) (6,691) — 
Interest expense 18,080 16,861 5,579 
Loss before income taxes $ (303,451) $ (112,129) $ (34,260)

_______________

(1) Includes corporate and other costs not allocated to segments including corporate support function costs, such as legal, finance, human resources, technology support and certain other indirect
operating expenses, such as sales and management payroll, and incentive related expenses.

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Distribution segment had allocated goodwill of $22.9 million and $88.1 million, respectively, and the
Underwriting segment had allocated goodwill of $23.4 million. There were no additions from acquisitions or adjustments to goodwill resulting from prior year
acquisitions in either segment for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021. There was an impairment to goodwill in the Distribution segment of
$65.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2022. There were no impairments to goodwill in the Underwriting segment for the year ended December 31,
2022. There were no impairments to goodwill in either segment for the years ended 2021 and 2020.

8. Income tax

The Company’s income tax expense (benefit) is as follows:

Year ended December 31,
2022 2021 2020

Current:
Federal $ — $ — $ — 
State 179 133 144 

Total current $ 179 $ 133 $ 144 

Deferred:
Federal $ (338) $ 147 $ 101 
State (1,083) 647 598 

Total deferred $ (1,421) $ 794 $ 699 
Total $ (1,242) $ 927 $ 843 

 (1)

108



Table of Contents

The Company’s income tax expense differs from the benefits computed by applying the federal income tax rate of 21% to loss before income taxes. A
reconciliation of these differences is as follows:

Year ended December 31,
2022 2021 2020

Benefit calculated at federal income tax rate 21.0 % 21.0 % 21.0 %
Change in valuation allowance (24.4) (28.8) (34.2)
State tax benefit 6.7 9.6 7.1 
Goodwill impairment (3.3) — — 
Nondeductible compensation (2.1) (2.5) — 
Provision-to-return permanent differences 1.7 — — 
Federal benefit on state tax — (2.0) (1.5)
Change in fair value of Warrant and Sponsor Covered Shares liabilities 1.4 1.2 — 
Change in state tax rate (0.8) 0.5 5.1 
Other permanent differences, net 0.2 0.1 — 
Income tax benefit (expense) 0.4 % (0.9)% (2.5)%

The change in the total valuation allowance during the year was $74.1 million. Although the Company has recorded a valuation allowance against
deferred tax assets as discussed below, a portion of deferred tax liabilities related to indefinite lived intangible assets acquired cannot be used as a source of
income to offset deferred tax assets. Consequently, this amount is recorded as a deferred tax expense and reflected in the effective tax rate above. The current
state tax expense is a result of separate state tax filings for subsidiaries that have taxable income.
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The significant components of deferred tax assets and liabilities consist of the following:

December 31,
2022 2021

Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss $ 108,906 $ 38,415 
Interest expense 9,850 6,834 
Intangibles assets 2,129 1,293 
Stock-based compensation expense 4,379 2,688 
Research and development 3,148 — 
Statutory premium reserve 2,245 1,655 
Other, net 1,641 11 
Accrued compensation 1,393 7,892 
Investments 420 458 
Right-of-use assets 391 — 
Allowance for doubtful accounts 265 173 
Loss reserves 212 215 
Debt issuance costs 43 52 
Deferred lease obligation 18 423 
Start-up costs — 1,080 
Total gross deferred tax assets 135,040 61,189 
Less valuation allowance (129,704) (55,620)
Total deferred tax assets $ 5,336 $ 5,569 

Deferred tax liabilities:
Other reserves $ (2,069) $ (1,360)
Fixed assets (1,846) (1,441)
Title plants (1,428) (850)
Unrealized gain on investments (203) — 
Intangibles assets (140) (3,689)
Total deferred tax liabilities $ (5,686) $ (7,340)
Net deferred tax liability $ (350) $ (1,771)

As of December 31, 2022, the Company carried a valuation allowance against deferred tax assets as management believes it is more likely than not that
the benefit of the net deferred tax assets covered by that valuation allowance will not be realized. The net deferred tax liability of $0.4 million is included in
accrued expenses and other liabilities within the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

In accounting for uncertainty in income taxes, the Company is required to recognize in its financial statements the impact of a tax position if that position
is more likely than not of being sustained in an audit, based on the technical merits of the position. In this regard, an uncertain tax position represents the
Company’s expected treatment of a tax position taken in a filed tax return, or planned to be taken in a future tax return, that has not been reflected in
measuring income tax expense for financial reporting purposes. There were no unrecognized tax benefits or liabilities as of December 31, 2022 and
December 31, 2021.

The amount of unrecognized tax benefit or liability may change in the future for various reasons, including adding amounts for current tax year positions,
expiration of open income tax returns due to the expiration of the applicable statute of limitations, changes in management’s judgment about the level of
uncertainty, status of examinations, litigation and legislative activity and the additions or eliminations of uncertain tax positions.
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As of December 31, 2022, the Company has federal and state net operating loss (“NOL”) carryforwards of $371.2 million and $466.1 million,
respectively. As a result of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017, any federal NOL arising after the year ended December 31, 2017 can be carried forward
indefinitely with no expiration but is limited to 80% of taxable income. The Company has approximately $0.2 million of pre-2018 federal NOLs subject to
expiration beginning in 2036. The remainder of the federal NOLs have no expiration. The Company’s state NOLs are subject to various expirations, beginning
in 2030.

Utilization of the NOL carryforwards may be subject to limitation under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the “Code”), and similar state
provisions, based on ownership changes that have occurred previously or that could occur in the future. Such an annual limitation could result in the expiration
or elimination of the NOL carryforwards before utilization. The Company has performed an analysis of its changes in ownership under Section 382 of the
Code. Management currently believes that a Section 382 limitation will not limit utilization of the carryforwards prior to their expiration.

The Company’s 2019 through 2021 tax years remain open to federal tax examinations. The Company’s 2018 through 2021 tax years remain open to state
tax examinations.

9. Fixed assets

Fixed assets consist of the following:

December 31,

2022 2021

Internally developed software $ 40,934 $ 41,189 
Furniture and equipment 5,552 7,046 
Acquired software 4,656 3,829 
Leasehold improvements 3,653 3,542 
Computer equipment 8,434 8,148 
Construction in process 686 1,742 

Total fixed assets, gross $ 63,915 $ 65,496 
Accumulated depreciation and amortization (24,532) (19,543)

Total fixed assets, net $ 39,383 $ 45,953 

Depreciation and amortization on fixed assets was $16.0 million, $7.6 million, and $3.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020,
respectively.

The following table reflects the composition of net gains or losses for the sales of fixed assets for each of the years shown below:

Year ended December 31,
2022 2021 2020

Gains (losses):
Fixed assets:

Gains $ 77 $ 59 $ 259 
Losses (344) (49) (128)
Total net gains (losses) $ (267) $ 10 $ 131 

For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company recorded an impairment charge of $1.3 million related to furniture, leasehold improvements and
computer equipment associated with leased offices that have been vacated and an impairment charge of $23.2 million related to internally developed software
and acquired software no longer in use. The Company does not expect to receive future economic benefit from the use of these assets and therefore, reduced
the carrying amount to zero for these assets. The fair values of the impacted software and other fixed assets were determined in accordance with ASC 360,
Property, Plant, and Equipment, using a cash flow valuation
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methodology with Level 3 inputs, primarily internal revenue forecasts. The impairment of furniture, leasehold improvements and computer equipment relate
to our Distribution segment, and the impairment of internally developed software and acquired software primarily relates to our Distribution segment. The
fixed asset impairments are recorded in long-lived asset impairment in the consolidated statements of operations. See Note 21 for additional information on
vacated leases. There were no impairments of fixed assets during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020.

Within each respective period, internally developed software and acquired software consist of the following:

Year ended December 31
2022 2021

Internally developed software $ 30,609 $ 23,846 
Accumulated amortization (11,472) (5,528)
Internally developed software, net $ 19,137 $ 18,318 

Acquired software 1,111 2 
Accumulated amortization (381) (63)
Acquired software, net $ 730 $ (61)

Amortization expense on internally developed software was $11.5 million, $5.5 million, and $1.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021,
and 2020, respectively. Amortization expense for internally developed software at December 31, 2022 is expected to be $8.3 million per year for the years
ended December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2024, and $7.1 million, $4.6 million and $1.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2025, December 31,
2026 and December 31, 2027, respectively. Unamortized internally developed software development costs as of December 31, 2022 and 2021 are included in
fixed assets, net in the consolidated balance sheets.

10. Debt

Senior secured credit agreement

On December 31, 2020, Old Doma executed a loan and security agreement with Hudson Structured Capital Management Ltd. (“HSCM”) providing for a
$150.0 million senior secured term loan (“Senior Debt”) that was funded by the lenders, which are affiliates of HSCM, on January 29, 2021 (“Funding Date”).
The Senior Debt matures five years from the Funding Date. Under the agreement, the Senior Debt will bear interest of 11.25% per annum, 5.0% of which will
be paid on a current cash basis and the remainder to accrue and be added to the outstanding principal balance. Interest shall be compounded quarterly. If at any
time Old Doma (now known as States Title) is in an event of default under the Senior Debt, outstanding amounts shall bear interest at the default interest rate
of 15.00%. Upon funding, Old Doma issued penny warrants to affiliates of HSCM equal to 1.35% of Old Doma’s fully diluted shares. The warrants were net
exercised on the Closing Date and such affiliates of HSCM received the right to receive approximately 4.2 million shares of our common stock. The Senior
Debt is secured by a first-priority pledge and security interest in substantially all of the assets (tangible and intangible) of our wholly owned subsidiary States
Title (which represent substantially all of our assets) and any of its existing and future domestic subsidiaries (in each case, subject to customary exclusions,
including the exclusion of regulated insurance company subsidiaries). States Title is subject to customary affirmative, negative and financial covenants,
including, among other things, minimum liquidity of $20.0 million (as of the last day of any month), minimum consolidated annual revenue of $130.0 million,
limits on the incurrence of indebtedness, restrictions on asset sales outside the ordinary course of business and material acquisitions, limitations on dividends
and other restricted payments. States Title was in compliance with the Senior Debt covenants as of December 31, 2022. The Senior Debt also includes
customary events of default for facilities of this type and provides that, if an event of default occurs and is continuing, the Senior Debt will amortize requiring
regular payments on a straight-line basis over the subsequent 24-month calendar period, but not to extend beyond the maturity date.

The estimated fair value of the Senior Debt at December 31, 2022 was $160.6 million. No active or observable market exists for the Senior Debt and as a
result this is a Level 3 fair value measurement. Therefore, the estimated
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fair value of the Senior Debt is based on the income valuation approach, which is a valuation technique that converts future amounts (for example, cash flows
or income and expenses) to a single current (that is, discounted) amount.

11. Stockholders’ equity

Common stock

Holders of common stock are entitled to one vote for each share held. Common stock is entitled to receive dividends when, and if, declared by the board
of directors.

On July 29, 2021, the Company’s common stock and Public Warrants began trading on the New York Stock Exchange under the ticker symbols “DOMA”
and “DOMA.WS,” respectively. Pursuant to the Company’s certificate of incorporation, the Company is authorized to issue 2,000,000,000 shares of common
stock with a par value of $0.0001 per share.

Prior to the Business Combination, Old Doma had outstanding shares of Series A, Series A-1, Series A-2, Series B, and Series C convertible preferred
stock (collectively, “ Old Doma Preferred Stock”). Immediately prior to the Business Combination, all shares of outstanding Old Doma Preferred Stock
converted into a total of 212.0 million shares of our common stock with the application of the Exchange Ratio as discussed in Note 3.

Preferred stock

Pursuant to the Company’s certificate of incorporation, the Company is authorized to issue 100,000,000 shares of preferred stock having a par value of
$0.0001 per share (the “preferred stock”). The Company’s board of directors has the authority to issue preferred stock and to determine the rights, preferences,
privileges and restrictions, including voting rights, of those shares. As of December 31, 2022, there were no shares of preferred stock issued and outstanding.

12. Stock compensation expense

The Company issued stock options (incentive stock options (“ISOs”), non-statutory stock options (“NSOs”)) and RSAs to employees and key advisors
under the Company’s 2019 Equity Incentive Plan, which has been approved by the board of directors. Granted stock options do not expire for 10 years and
have vesting periods ranging from 7 to 60 months. The holder of one stock option may purchase one share of common stock at the underlying strike price. No
additional awards will be granted under the Company’s 2019 Equity Incentive Plan and, as a result, no shares remain available for issuance for new awards
under the Company’s 2019 Equity Incentive.

On July 27, 2021, the Company’s stockholders approved the 2021 Omnibus Incentive Plan, under which the Company issues restricted stock units
(“RSUs”) and performance restricted stock units (“PRSUs”). The RSUs are subject to time-based vesting, generally with a majority of the RSUs vesting 25%
on the first anniversary of the award date and ratably thereafter for twelve quarters, such that the RSUs will be fully vested on the fourth anniversary of their
award date. Eligible participants in the PRSUs will receive a number of earned shares based on Company financial results during the performance period, as
established by the Company’s board of directors. Earned shares for the PRSUs will fully vest once the continuous employment service condition is met after
the performance period. The RSUs and PRSUs are measured at fair market value on the grant date and stock-based compensation expense is recognized as the
shares vest with a corresponding offset credited to additional paid-in-capital. As of December 31, 2022, a maximum of approximately 59.5 million securities
were authorized for issuance under the Company’s 2021 Omnibus Incentive Plan.

In June 2022, the Company issued stock awards to its Chief Executive Officer under the 2021 Omnibus Incentive Plan that vest upon the satisfaction of a
time-based service condition and a market condition (“market-based awards”). Both the service and the market condition must be satisfied for the award to
vest. The market condition of the awards is based on the 90-day volume weighted average price of the common stock of the Company reaching a price hurdle
of $5.00, $7.50, and $10.00 during a performance period of 4 years. The maximum number of shares that can be earned under the market-based awards is
2,435,325 shares, with one-third of the total award allocated to each identified average price threshold. The time-based service condition in the market-based
awards is
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satisfied quarterly over sixteen quarters of continuous employment, such that the service condition included in the market-based awards will be fully satisfied
on the fourth anniversary of their award date. The Company recognizes compensation expense related to the market-based awards using the accelerated
attribution method over the requisite service period.

Stock-based compensation expense for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 was $33.7 million, $20.1 million and $2.5 million,
respectively.

Stock options (ISO and NSO)

Following are the weighted average assumptions utilized in the valuation of stock options issued:

Year ended December 31,
2021 2020

Volatility 48.5 % 38.0 %
Dividend yield 0.0 % 0.0 %
Expected term (years) 6.2 6.1
Risk free rate 0.7 % 0.8 %

The Company did not issue stock options during the year ended December 31, 2022.

The Company had the following stock option activity:

Number of 
 Stock Options

Weighted
 Average 
 Exercise Price ($)

Weighted
 Average 
 Remaining 

 Contractual Life
 (In years)

Aggregate
 Intrinsic

 Value ($)

Outstanding as of December 31, 2021 24,255,204 0.51 7.91 $ 109,061 
Granted — — 0.00
Exercised (2,094,653) 0.52 3.32
Cancelled or forfeited (4,570,023) 0.63 1.67
Outstanding as of December 31, 2022 17,590,528 $ 0.58 6.74 $ 191 

Options exercisable as of December 31, 2022 13,670,902 $ 0.55 6.50 $ 190 

The total intrinsic value of options exercised for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 was $3.5 million, $35.2 million, and $2.0 million,
respectively.

The total fair value of options vested during the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 were $12.6 million, $7.4 million and $1.5 million,
respectively.

The weighted-average grant date fair value of stock options granted during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 were $5.99 and $8.42,
respectively.

As of December 31, 2022, there was $9.7 million of stock-based compensation expense that had yet to be recognized related to nonvested stock option
grants. The weighted-average period over which this unrecognized stock-based compensation expense is expected to be recognized is 1.86 years.
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RSAs, RSUs and PRSUs

The Company had the following activity for nonvested RSA, RSU and PRSU activity:

Number of 
RSAs, RSUs and PRSUs

Average
Grant Date

 Fair Value ($)

Nonvested at December 31, 2021 18,579,930 $ 6.11 
Granted 51,458,080 1.51 
Exercised (4,200,188) 5.25 
Adjustment for PRSUs expected to vest (1,759,053) 5.14 
Cancelled or Forfeited (23,587,020) 3.58 
Nonvested at December 31, 2022 40,491,749 $ 1.87 

The total fair value of RSAs, RSUs and PRSUs which vested in the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 was $3.8 million, $5.2 million and
$0.4 million, respectively.

As of December 31, 2022, there was $66.1 million of stock-based compensation expense that had yet to be recognized related to nonvested RSAs, RSUs
and PRSUs. The weighted-average period over which this unrecognized stock-based compensation expense is expected to be recognized is 3.01 years.

Market-based awards

The market-based awards were measured at fair market value on the grant date, and stock-based compensation expense is recognized as the shares vest
with a corresponding offset credited to additional paid-in-capital. The fair value of the market-based awards was determined using a Monte Carlo simulation
valuation model using a distribution of potential stock price outcomes on a daily basis over the original 4-year vesting period. The unobservable significant
inputs to the valuation model at the time of award issuance were as follows:

Stock price at issuance $ 0.92 
Expected volatility 75.0 %
Risk-free interest rate 3.14 %
Current expected term (years) 3.9
Expected dividend yield — %

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company had the following non-vested market-based award activity:

Number of
Market-based awards

Average
Grant Date

Fair Value ($)

Non-vested at December 31, 2021 — $ — 
Granted 2,435,325 0.32 
Vested — — 
Cancelled or Forfeited — — 
Non-vested at December 31, 2022 2,435,325 $ 0.32 

As of December 31, 2022, there was $0.6 million of stock-based compensation expense that had yet to be recognized related to nonvested market-based
awards. The weighted-average period over which this unrecognized stock-based compensation expense is expected to be recognized is 3.42 years.
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13. Earnings per share

The calculation of the basic and diluted EPS is as follows:

Year ended December 31,
2022 2021 2020

Numerator
Net loss attributable to Doma Holdings, Inc. $ (302,209) $ (113,056) $ (35,103)

Denominator
Weighted-average common shares – basic and diluted 326,042,708 177,150,914 62,458,039 

Net loss per share attributable to stockholders
Basic and diluted $ (0.93) $ (0.64) $ (0.56)

As we have reported net loss for each of the periods presented, all potentially dilutive securities are antidilutive. The following potential outstanding
shares of common stock and contingently issuable shares were excluded from the computation of diluted net loss per share attributable to common
stockholders for the periods presented because the contingent criteria has not been satisfied and/or including them would have been antidilutive:

As of December 31,

2022 2021

Outstanding stock options 17,590,528 24,255,204 

Warrants for common and preferred stock 18,022,750 18,022,750 

RSA’s, RSU’s and PRSU’s 40,491,749 18,579,930 

Market-based awards 2,435,325 — 

Sponsor Covered Shares and Seller Earnout Shares 17,450,594 17,826,268 

Total antidilutive securities 95,990,946 78,684,152 

14. Related party transactions

Equity held by Lennar

In connection with the North American Title Acquisition, subsidiaries of Lennar were granted equity in the Company. As of December 31, 2022, Lennar,
through its subsidiaries, held 25.0% of the Company on a fully diluted basis.

Shared services agreements between the Company and Lennar

In connection with the North American Title Acquisition, the Company and Lennar entered into a transition services agreement (“TSA”) that provided for
certain shared services provided by Lennar to the Company as it incorporated the Acquired Business into its operations, and also for the sharing of expenses in
office locations that would contain both Company and Lennar personnel until such time one entity or the other, depending on the location, established separate
office space for its personnel and operations.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company paid Lennar $0.3 million related to TSA services. Additionally, during the years ended
December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, the Company paid Lennar $0.0 million $0.1 million, and $0.2 million, respectively, for rent associated with shared
spaces.
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Transactions with Lennar

In the routine course of its business, Doma Title Insurance, Inc. (“DTI”) underwrites title insurance policies for a subsidiary of Lennar. The Company
recorded the following revenues and premiums retained by Third-Party Agents from these transactions, which are included within our Underwriting segment:

Year ended December 31,

2022 2021
2020

Revenues $ 134,869 $ 114,212 $ 88,609 

Premiums retained by Third-Party Agents 108,419 92,466 71,229 

As of December 31,

2022 2021

Net receivables $ 4,175 $ 3,883 

These amounts are included in receivables, net, in the consolidated balance sheets.

Consulting agreement

In 2021, the Company entered into a consulting services agreement with a company that provides IT consulting services for which our Chief Executive
Officer is a member of its board of directors. During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company incurred costs related to this agreement totaling $0.3
million. No costs were incurred during the years ended December 31, 2022 or 2020. There was no outstanding accounts payable related to this agreement at
December 31, 2022.

15. Commitments and contingencies

Legal matters

The Company is subject to claims and litigation matters in the ordinary course of business. Management does not believe the resolution of any such
matters will have a materially adverse effect on the Company’s financial position or results of operations.

Commitments and other contingencies

The Company also administers escrow deposits as a service to customers, a substantial portion of which are held at third-party financial institutions.
These escrow deposits amounted to $77.4 million and $204.8 million at December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. Such deposits are not reflected in the
consolidated balance sheets, but the Company could be contingently liable for them under certain circumstances (for example, if the Company disposes of
escrowed assets). Such contingent liabilities have not materially impacted the results of operations or financial condition to date and are not expected to do so
in the future.

See Note 21 in our consolidated financial statements for information on our operating lease obligations.
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16. Accumulated other comprehensive income

Following is a summary of the changes in each component of accumulated other comprehensive income:

Year ended December 31,
2022 2021 2020

Beginning balance at January 1 $ — $ 686 $ 510 
Unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-sale debt securities, before tax (937) (240) 236 
Income tax effect — 61 (60)

Other comprehensive income, net of tax, before reclassification adjustment $ (937) $ 507 $ 686 
Reclassification adjustment for realized gain on sale of available-for-sale debt
securities, before tax — (678) — 
Income tax effect — 171 — 

Total accumulated other comprehensive income, net of tax $ (937) $ — $ 686 

The realized gain on sale of available-for-sale debt securities was reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income to investment, dividend and
other income in the consolidated statements of operations.

17. Accrued expenses and other liabilities

Accrued expenses and other liabilities include the following:

December 31,
2022 2021

Employee benefits $ 7,140 $ 5,059 
Severance 5,749 — 
Contract terminations 5,248 — 
Premium taxes 3,862 7,305 
Employee compensation 3,380 27,697 
Other 3,513 14,088 
Total accrued expenses and other liabilities $ 28,892 $ 54,149 

Workforce reduction plans

In 2022, the Company executed three separate workforce reduction plans (collectively, the “Reduction Plans”) to reduce costs, improve Local branch-
level profitability, and focus resources on its instant underwriting capabilities. The Reduction Plans during the year included the elimination of approximately
1,076 positions across the Company, or approximately 52% of the Company’s workforce as of December 31, 2022. The Company expects the execution of the
Reduction Plans, including cash payments, will be substantially complete in the first quarter of 2023.

Liabilities associated with the Reduction Plans are included in accrued expenses and other liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31,
2022.

The following table summarizes activity related to the liabilities associated with the Reduction Plans:

Total
Balance as of January 1, 2022 $ — 

Charges incurred 19,613 
Payments and other adjustments (13,864)

Balance as of December 31, 2022
$ 5,749 

________________
(1) Charges incurred include employee benefits, severance, payroll taxes and related facilitation costs offset by forfeitures of bonus.

(1)
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For the year ended December 31, 2022, forfeited stock-based compensation associated with the Reduction Plans was $4.0 million. The charges incurred
and forfeited stock-based compensation associated with the Reduction Plans primarily relate to the Company’s Distribution reportable segment.

Contract terminations

Associated with the Company’s Reduction Plans and vendor management initiatives during the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company recorded
$5.2 million in accelerated contract charges related to contracts that will continue to be incurred for the contracts’ remaining terms without economic benefit
to the Company. These contract termination charges were recorded in other operating expenses in the consolidated statements of operations. There were no
accelerated contract charges during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020.

18. Employee benefit plan

The Company sponsors a defined contribution 401(k) plan for its employees (the “Retirement Savings Plan”). The Retirement Savings Plan is a voluntary
contributory plan under which employees may elect to defer compensation for federal income tax purposes under Section 401(k) of the Code. All full-time
employees age 18+ are eligible to enroll in the Retirement Savings Plan on their first day of employment. Company matching contributions begin upon
employee enrollment in the Retirement Savings Plan. Prior to January 1, 2022, the Company provided an employer match up to 50% of the first 6% of elective
contributions, and there were no matching contributions in excess of 3% of compensation. Effective January 1, 2022, the Company provides an employer
match up to 100% on the first 1% of elective contributions and 50% on the next 5% of elective contributions. The maximum matching contribution is 3.5% of
compensation.

For the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company made contributions for the benefit of employees of $0.9 million from January 1, 2020 through May
15, 2020. The Company suspended the employer match effective May 16, 2020 and made no contributions for the benefit of employees to the Retirement
Savings Plan for the rest of the year through December 31, 2020. The temporary suspension was due to the COVID-19 pandemic and its potential impact on
the business, which was not estimable at the time. On January 1, 2021, the Company reinstated matching contributions to the Retirement Savings Plan,
according to the aforementioned terms, rates, and limitations. For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 the Company made contributions for the
benefit of employees of $4.4 million and $2.6 million, respectively, to the Retirement Savings Plan.

19. Research and development

For the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020, the Company recorded the following related to research and development expenses and
capitalized internally developed software costs:

Year ended December 31,

2022 2021
2020

Research and development expenses incurred $ 16,108 $ 13,377 $ 5,318 

Capitalized internally developed software costs 30,609 23,846 13,082 
Research and development spend, inclusive of capitalized internally
developed software cost $ 46,717 $ 37,223 $ 18,400 

Our research and development costs reflect certain payroll-related costs of employees directly associated with such activities and certain software
subscription costs, which are included in personnel costs and other operating expenses, respectively, in the consolidated statements of operations. Capitalized
internally developed software and acquired software costs are included in fixed assets, net in the consolidated balance sheets.

20. Warrant liabilities

As a result of the Business Combination, the Company assumed, as of the Closing Date, Public Warrants to purchase an aggregate of 11,500,000 shares of
our common stock and Private Placement Warrants to purchase an
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aggregate of 5,833,333 shares of our common stock. Each whole Warrant entitles the holder to purchase one share of common stock at a price of $11.50.

The Warrants became exercisable commencing on December 4, 2021, which is one year from the closing of the initial public offering of Capitol;
provided, that we maintain an effective registration statement under the Securities Act of 1934, as amended (the “Securities Act”), covering our common
stock.

Redemption of Public Warrants when the price per share of our common stock equals or exceeds $18.00

The Company may call the Public Warrants for redemption:

• in whole and not in part;
• at a price of $0.01 per Public Warrant;
• upon not less than 30 days’ prior written notice of redemption to each Public Warrant holder; and
• if, and only if, the last reported sale price of our common stock equals or exceeds $18.00 per share (as adjusted for stock splits, stock dividends,

reorganizations, recapitalizations and the like and for certain issuances of common stock and equity-linked securities as described above) for any 20
trading days within a 30-trading day period ending three business days before the Company sends to the notice of redemption to the Public Warrant
holders.

The Company will not redeem the Public Warrants as described above unless a registration statement under the Securities Act covering the issuance of the
shares of common stock issuable upon a cashless exercise of the Public Warrants is then effective and a current prospectus relating to those shares of common
stock is available throughout the 30-day redemption period, except if the Public Warrants may be exercised on a cashless basis and such cashless exercise is
exempt from registration under the Securities Act.

Redemption of Public Warrants when the price per share of our common stock equals or exceeds $10.00

The Company may redeem the outstanding Public Warrants:

• in whole and not in part;
• at $0.10 per Public Warrant upon a minimum of 30 days’ prior written notice of redemption; provided that holders will be able to exercise their

Public Warrants prior to redemption and receive a number of shares based on the redemption date and the “fair market value” of common stock
except as otherwise described below;

• if, and only if, the last reported sale price of our common stock equals or exceeds $10.00 per share (as adjusted per stock splits, stock dividends,
reorganizations, reclassifications, recapitalizations and the like and for certain issuances of common stock and equity-linked securities as described
above) on the trading day prior to the date on which the Company sends the notice of redemption to the Public Warrant holders; and

• if, and only if, the last reported sale price of common stock is less than $18.00 per share (as adjusted for stock for stock splits, stock dividends,
reorganizations, recapitalizations and the like and for certain issuances of common stock and equity-linked securities), the Private Placement
Warrants are also concurrently called for redemption on the same terms as the outstanding Public Warrants, as described above.

Beginning on the date the notice of redemption is given until the Public Warrants are redeemed or exercised, holders may elect to exercise their Public
Warrants on a cashless basis. The “fair market value” of our common stock will mean the volume-weighted average price of our common stock for the ten
trading days immediately following the date on which the notice of redemption is sent to the holders of Public Warrants. In no event will the Public Warrants
be exercisable in connection with this redemption feature for more than 0.361 shares of common stock per Public Warrant (subject to adjustment).

The Private Placement Warrants are identical to the Public Warrants except that the Private Placement Warrants, (i) subject to limited exceptions, are not
redeemable by us, (ii) may be exercised for cash or on a cashless
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basis and (iii) are entitled to registration rights (including the shares of our common stock issuable upon exercise of the Private Placement Warrants), in each
case, so long as they are held by the initial purchasers or any of their permitted transferees (as further described in the warrant agreement, dated as of
December 1, 2020, between the Company and Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company, a New York corporation, as warrant agent (the “Warrant
Agreement”). If the Private Placement Warrants are held by holders other than the initial purchasers or any of their permitted transferees, they will be
redeemable by us and exercisable by the holders on the same basis as the Public Warrants.

On September 3, 2021, the Company filed a Registration Statement on Form S-1 (No. 333-258942), as amended, with the SEC (which was declared
effective on September 8, 2021; and the Company subsequently filed a post-effective amendment thereto, which was declared effective on March 30, 2022),
which related to, among other things, the issuance of an aggregate of up to 17,333,333 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of the Warrants. As
of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the aggregate values of the Public Warrants were $0.2 million and $10.9 million, respectively, representing Public Warrants
outstanding to purchase 11,500,000 shares of our common stock. As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the aggregate values of the Private Warrants were $0.1
million and $5.5 million, respectively, representing Private Warrants outstanding to purchase 5,833,333 shares of our common stock. The Warrants are
accounted for as liabilities in accordance with ASC 815-40 and are presented within warrant liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets. The warrant
liabilities are measured at fair value at inception and on a recurring basis, with changes in fair value presented within change in fair value of Warrants and
Sponsor Covered Shares liabilities in the consolidated statements of operations.

21. Leases

The Company has operating leases consisting of office space and office equipment. Lease terms and options vary in the Company's operating leases
dependent upon the underlying leased asset. We exclude options to extend or terminate a lease from our recognition as part of our right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities until those options are known and/or executed, as we typically do not exercise options to purchase the underlying leased asset. As of December 31,
2022, we have leases with remaining terms of 1 month to 6.8 years, some of which may include no options for renewal and others with options to extend the
lease terms from 1 year to 5 years. The components of our operating leases were as follows:

For the year ended
December 31, 2022

Components of lease expense:
Operating lease expense $ 12,119 
Less sublease income (304)

Net lease expense $ 11,815 

Cash flow information related to leases:
Operating cash outflow from operating leases during the year ended December 31, 2022 $ 11,186 

December 31, 2022

Right-of-use assets obtained during the year ended December 31, 2022 in exchange for new operating lease liabilities $ 10,371 
Weighted average remaining lease term 4.05 years
Weighted average discount rate 10 %
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Maturities of lease liabilities: December 31, 2022

2023 $ 9,731 
2024 8,386 
2025 6,205 
2026 4,681 
2027 3,231 
Thereafter 1,304 

Total lease payments 33,538 
Less imputed interest (6,049)

Lease liabilities $ 27,489 

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company recorded a $7.5 million impairment on its operating lease right-of-use assets due to vacating
locations as a result of a smaller workforce. The right-of-use asset impairments were recorded in long-lived asset impairment in the consolidated statements of
operations. The right-of-use asset impairments were determined by comparing the fair value of the impacted right-of-use asset to the carrying value of the
asset as of the impairment measurement date, as required under ASC 360, Property, Plant, and Equipment, using Level 2 inputs. The fair value of the right-of-
use asset was based on the estimated sublease income taking into consideration the time period it will take to obtain a sublessor, the uncertainty of obtaining a
sublessor, vacancy rates in the associated market, and the sublease rate. The right-of-use asset impairments relate to our Distribution segment. There were no
impairments of operating lease right-of-use assets during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020.

22. Regulation and statutory financial information

Effective December 31, 2020, States Title Insurance Company of California and States Title Insurance Company were merged into NATIC, and the three
combined entities were re-domiciled to South Carolina. NATIC has since been renamed Doma Title Insurance, Inc. (“DTI”).

The Company’s insurance business, DTI, and its agency businesses are subject to extensive regulation under applicable state laws. DTI is subject to a
holding company act in its state of domicile which regulates, among other matters, the ability to pay dividends and enter into transactions with affiliates. The
laws of most states in which the Company transacts business establish supervisory agencies with broad administrative powers relating to issuing and revoking
licenses to transact business, regulating trade practices, licensing agents, approving title insurance policy forms, accounting practices, financial practices,
establishing reserve and capital and surplus as regards to policyholders (“capital and surplus”) requirements, defining suitable investments for reserves and
capital and surplus and approving rate schedules. The process of state regulation of changes in rates ranges from states which set rates, to states where
individual companies or associations of companies prepare rate filings which are submitted for approval, to a few states in which rate changes do not need to
be filed for approval.

Since we are regulated by both state and federal governments and the applicable insurance laws and regulations are constantly subject to change, it is not
possible to predict the potential effects on our insurance operations of any laws or regulations that may become more restrictive in the future or if new
restrictive laws will be enacted.

Our insurance subsidiaries are subject to regulations that restrict their ability to pay dividends or make other distributions of cash or property to their
immediate parent company without prior approval from the Departments of Insurance of their respective states of domicile. As of December 31, 2022, $57.9
million of our statutory net assets are restricted from dividend payments without prior approval from the Departments of Insurance of their respective states of
domicile. During 2023, our title insurance subsidiary can pay or make distributions to us of approximately $13.9 million, without prior approval.

122



Table of Contents

The statutory capital and surplus of DTI was approximately $57.9 million and $45.3 million as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. The
statutory net income of DTI was $13.9 million and $20.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Pursuant to statutory requirements of the various states in which our insurers are domiciled, such insurers must maintain certain levels of minimum capital
and surplus. Required levels of minimum capital and surplus are not significant to the insurers individually or in the aggregate. Each of our insurers has
complied with the minimum statutory requirements as of December 31, 2022.

There are no other restrictions on our retained earnings regarding our ability to pay dividends to stockholders although there are limits on the ability of
certain subsidiaries to pay dividends to us, as described above.

23. Subsequent events

In the preparation of the accompanying consolidated financial statements, the Company has evaluated all material subsequent events or transactions that
occurred after the balance sheet date through the date on which the financial statements were issued for potential recognition or disclosure in the Company’s
financial statements, noting no subsequent events or transactions that require disclosure.
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Doma Holdings, Inc.
Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

(In Thousands)
Balance at beginning of

period
Charged to costs and

expenses Deductions Balance at end of period

Year ended December 31, 2022:

Allowance for deferred tax assets $ 55,620 $ 74,084 $ — $ 129,704 
Liability for loss and loss adjustment expenses 80,267 16,740 14,937 82,070 
Allowance for doubtful accounts 1,082 922 516 1,488 

Year ended December 31, 2021:

Allowance for deferred tax assets $ 23,330 $ 32,290 $ — $ 55,620 
Liability for loss and loss adjustment expenses 69,800 21,335 10,868 80,267 
Allowance for doubtful accounts 492 1,230 640 1,082 

Year ended December 31, 2020:

Allowance for deferred tax assets $ 11,623 $ 11,707 $ — $ 23,330 
Liability for loss and loss adjustment expenses 62,758 15,337 8,295 69,800 
Allowance for doubtful accounts 210 424 142 492 

See accompanying Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of Doma Holdings, Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Doma Holdings, Inc. (the "Company") as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, and the
related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive loss, changes in stockholders' equity, and cash flows, for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2022, and the related notes and the schedule listed in the Index at Item 15 (collectively referred to as the "financial statements"). In our
opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, and the
results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2022, in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's financial
statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB)
and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of
the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor
were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits, we are required to obtain an understanding of
internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and
performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Miami, Florida

March 7, 2023

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2020.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosures

There were no changes in or disagreements with our accountants on matters related to accounting and financial disclosure.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Management, with the participation of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls
and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”)) as of
December 31, 2022. Based on this evaluation, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer concluded that, as of December 31, 2022, our
disclosure controls and procedures were effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the
Exchange Act is (a) recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms and (b) accumulated and
communicated to management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding
required disclosure.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) during
the quarter ended December 31, 2022 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

The management of Doma Holdings, Inc. is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as defined in
Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act). Doma Holdings, Inc.'s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed under the supervision of its
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of its
consolidated financial statements for external purposes in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

As of December 31, 2022, Doma Holdings, Inc.'s management assessed the effectiveness of Doma Holdings, Inc.'s internal control over financial
reporting based on the criteria for effective internal control over financial reporting established in "Internal Control — Integrated Framework," issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework). Based on the assessment, Doma Holdings, Inc.'s management
determined that effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained as of December 31, 2022, based on those criteria.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation
of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Attestation Report of Registered Public Accounting Firm

This Annual Report does not include an attestation report of our registered public accounting firm regarding internal control over financial reporting due
to an exemption established by the JOBS Act for “emerging growth companies.”

Item 9B. Other Information

None.

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections
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Not applicable.
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Part III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information required by this item will be contained in the 2023 Proxy Statement, including in the sections titled “Our Board of Directors,” “Corporate
Governance,” “Ownership of Common Stock by Directors and Executive Officers,” and “Executive Officers,” and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this item will be contained in the 2023 Proxy Statement, including in the sections titled “Director Compensation” and
“Executive Compensation,” and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required by this item will be contained in the 2023 Proxy Statement, including in the sections titled “Equity Compensation Plan
Information,” “Ownership of Common Stock by 5% or More Holders,” and “Ownership of Common Stock by Directors and Executive Officers,” and is
incorporated herein by reference.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The information required by this item will be contained in the 2023 Proxy Statement, including in the sections titled “Corporate Governance - Director
Independence,” and “Corporate Governance - Policy on Review and Approval of Transactions with Related Persons,” and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required by this item will be contained in the 2023 Proxy Statement, including in the section titled “Independent Registered Public
Accounting Firm,” and is incorporated herein by reference.
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Part IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

1. Financial statements (see “Index to Consolidated Financial Statements” in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K (the “Annual Report”))

2. Consolidated financial statement schedules required to be filed by Item 8 of this Annual Report:

Index to Consolidated Financial Statement Schedules Page
Schedule V - Valuation and Qualifying Accounts 124

All other schedules are omitted because they are not applicable, or not required, or because the required information is included in our consolidated
financial statements or the notes thereto.

3. Exhibits required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K.

Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit Description Form Exhibit Filing Date
2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of March 2, 2021, by and among Capitol Investment Corp. V

(“Capitol”), Capitol V Merger Sub, Inc. and Doma Holdings, Inc.
8-K 2.1 3/3/2021

2.2 Amendment No. 1 to Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of March 18, 2021, is made by and among
Capitol, Capitol V Merger Sub, Inc. and Doma Holdings, Inc.

8-K 2.1 3/19/2021

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Doma Holdings, Inc. 8-K 3.1 8/3/2021
3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Doma Holdings, Inc. 8-K 3.2 8/3/2021
4.1 Specimen Warrant Certificate. S-1/A 4.3 11/19/2020
4.2 Warrant Agreement, dated December 1, 2020, between Capitol and Continental Stock Transfer & Trust

Company, as warrant agent.
8-K 4.1 12/7/2020

4.3 Specimen Common Stock Certificate of Doma Holdings, Inc. S-4/A 4.5 6/15/2021
4.4* Description of Registrant’s Securities.  
10.1 Letter Agreement, dated December 1, 2020, among Capitol, its officers, its directors and the Sponsors. 8-K 10.1 12/7/2020
10.2 Investment Management Trust Agreement, dated December 1, 2020, between Capitol and Continental Stock

Transfer & Trust Company, as trustee.
8-K 10.2 12/7/2020

10.3 Private Placement Warrants Purchase Agreement, dated December 1, 2020, between Capitol and the Private
Placement Warrant Purchasers.

8-K 10.4 12/7/2020

10.4 Sponsor Support Agreement, dated March 2, 2021, by and among the sponsors named thereto, Capitol and
Doma Holdings, Inc.

8-K 10.2 3/2/2021

10.5 Form of Voting and Support Agreement, by and among certain Doma securityholders, Capitol and Doma
Holdings, Inc.

8-K 10.3 3/3/2021

10.6 Form of Lock-up Agreement. 8-K 10.4 3/3/2021
10.7 Form of Subscription Agreement, by and between Capitol and the undersigned subscriber party thereto. 8-K 10.1 3/3/2021
10.8 Loan and Security Agreement, dated December 31, 2020, among States Title Holding, Inc., the guarantors

party thereto from time to time, Hudson Structured Capital Management LTD., as agent, and the lenders from
time to time thereto.

S-4 10.17 3/19/2021

10.9 Counterpart Agreement and First Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, dated January 29, 2021,
among States Title Holding, Inc., the guarantors party thereto from time to time, Hudson Structured Capital
Management LTD., as agent, and the lenders from time to time thereto.

S-4 10.18 3/19/2021

10.10 Office Lease 101 Mission Street, dated May 23, 2019, by and between 101 Mission Strategic Venture LLC
and States Title Holding, Inc.

S-4 10.19 3/19/2021

10.11 Lease, dated August 16, 2020, by and between FOUR 700 LLC and States Title Holding, Inc. S-4 10.20 3/19/2021
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Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit Description Form Exhibit Filing Date
10.12 Amendment #1 to Lease by and between Four 700 LLC and States Title Holding, Inc., dated October 21,

2020.
S-4 10.21 3/19/2021

10.13 Lease between Jamboree Center 4 LLC and States Title Holding, Inc., dated January 28, 2020. S-4 10.22 3/19/2021
10.14^ States Title Holding, Inc. 2019 Equity Incentive Plan. S-4 10.23 3/19/2021
10.15 Amended and Restated Underwriting Agreement, dated August 7, 2020, by and between North American

Title Insurance Company, CalAtlantic Title, Inc., CalAtlantic Title, LLC, CalAtlantic National Title Solutions,
LLC, CalAtlantic National Title Solutions, LLC, CalAtlantic Title Agency, LLC, CalAtlantic Title, Inc. and
CalAtlantic Title of Maryland, Inc. (the “CalAtlantic Entities”).

S-4 10.26 3/19/2021

10.16 Amendment No. 1 to Underwriting Agreement, dated September 21, 2020, between North American Title
Insurance Company and the CalAtlantic Entities.

S-4 10.27 3/19/2021

10.17 Amended and Restated Underwriting Agreement, dated August 7, 2020, by and between North American
Title Insurance Company and CalAtlantic Title, Inc.

S-4 10.28 3/19/2021

10.18 Amendment No. 1 to Underwriting Agreement, dated September 22, 2020, between North American Title
Insurance Company and CalAtlantic Title, Inc.

S-4 10.29 3/19/2021

10.19 Amendment No. 2 to Underwriting Agreement, dated November 7, 2020, between North American Title
Insurance Company and Lennar Title, Inc.

S-4 10.30 3/19/2021

10.20 Amendment No. 3 to Underwriting Agreement, dated November 13, 2020, between North American Title
Insurance Company and Lennar Title, Inc.

S-4 10.31 3/19/2021

10.21 Title Insurance Quota Share Reinsurance Contract, dated October 6, 2017, by and among the Applicable
Companies listed in Schedule 1 in relation to the Relevant U.S. State (as such Schedule 1 shall be amended
from time to time) and States Title, Inc. and SCOR Global P&C SE.

S-4 10.32 3/19/2021

10.22 Endorsement No. 1 to the Title Insurance Quote Share Reinsurance Contract, dated December 15, 2017, by
and among the Applicable Companies listed in Schedule 1 in relation to the Relevant U.S. State (as such
Schedule 1 shall be amended from time to time) and States Title, Inc. and SCOR Global P&C SE.

S-4 10.33 3/19/2021

10.23 Endorsement No. 2 to the Title Insurance Quote Share Reinsurance Contract, dated June 21, 2018, by and
among the Applicable Companies listed in Schedule 1 in relation to the Relevant U.S. State (as such Schedule
1 shall be amended from time to time) and States Title, Inc. and SCOR Global P&C SE.

S-4 10.34 3/19/2021

10.24 Endorsement No. 3 to the Title Insurance Quote Share Reinsurance Contract, dated July 5, 2018, by and
among the Applicable Companies listed in Schedule 1 in relation to the Relevant U.S. State (as such Schedule
1 shall be amended from time to time) and States Title, Inc. and SCOR Global P&C SE.

S-4 10.35 3/19/2021

10.25 Endorsement No. 4 to the Title Insurance Quote Share Reinsurance Contract, dated June 12, 2019, by and
among the Applicable Companies listed in Schedule 1 in relation to the Relevant U.S. State (as such Schedule
1 shall be amended from time to time) and States Title, Inc. and SCOR Global P&C SE.

S-4 10.36 3/19/2021

10.26 Endorsement No. 5 to the Title Insurance Quote Share Reinsurance Contract, dated December 31, 2019, by
and among the Applicable Companies listed in Schedule 1 in relation to the Relevant U.S. State (as such
Schedule 1 shall be amended from time to time) and States Title, Inc. and SCOR Global P&C SE.

S-4 10.37 3/19/2021

10.27 Endorsement No. 6 to the Title Insurance Quote Share Reinsurance Contract, dated August 26, 2020, by and
among the Applicable Companies listed in Schedule 1 in relation to the Relevant U.S. State (as such Schedule
1 shall be amended from time to time) and States Title, Inc. and SCOR Global P&C SE.

S-4 10.38 3/19/2021

10.28^ States Title Holding, Inc. 2019 Equity Incentive Plan Forms of Award Agreements. S-4/A 10.41 5/25/2021
10.29^ Employment Agreement between Doma Holdings, Inc. and Maxwell Simkoff. S-4/A 10.42 6/15/2021
10.30^ Employment Agreement between Doma Holdings, Inc. and Noaman Ahmad. S-4/A 10.43 6/15/2021
10.31^ Doma Holdings, Inc. Executive Severance Plan. S-4/A 10.45 6/15/2021
10.32 Amended & Restated Registration Rights Agreement, dated July 28, 2021, by and among Doma Holdings,

Inc. and the securityholders signatory thereto.
8-K 10.3 8/3/2021

10.33^ Doma Holdings, Inc.’s 2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan. 8-K 10.10 8/3/2021
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Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit Description Form Exhibit Filing Date
10.34^ Form of Indemnification Agreement. 8-K 10.4 8/3/2021
10.35^ Employment Agreement between Doma Holdings, Inc. and Hasan Rizvi. 10-K 10.44 3/4/2022
10.36^ Form of Doma Holdings, Inc.’s 2021 Omnibus Incentive Plan Notice and Agreement of Director Restricted

Stock Unit Award. 10-K 10.45 3/4/2022
10.37^ Form of Doma Holdings, Inc.’s 2021 Omnibus Incentive Plan Notice and Agreement of Performance

Restricted Stock Unit Award. 10-K 10.46 3/4/2022
10.38^ Form of Doma Holdings, Inc.’s 2021 Omnibus Incentive Plan Notice and Agreement of Restricted Stock Unit

Award.
10-Q 10.1 5/11/2022

10.39^ CEO Award Agreement, dated June 29, 2022, of Restricted Stock Units and Performance Restricted Stock
Units.

8-K 99.1 7/1/2022

10.40^ Letter Agreement, dated June 29, 2022, between the Company and Max Simkoff amending Mr. Simkoff’s
employment agreement.

8-K 99.2 7/1/2022

10.41^ Doma Holdings, Inc. Executive Bonus Plan. 8-K 99.3 7/1/2022
10.42^ Doma Holdings, Inc. Amended and Restated Omnibus Incentive Plan. 8-K 10.1 7/8/2022
10.43^ Employment Agreement between Doma Holdings, Inc. and Mike Smith. 8-K 10.1 7/21/2022
10.44^ Doma Holdings, Inc. Outside Director Compensation Policy. 10-Q 10.5 8/10/2022
10.45* Lease between Dublin Corporate Center Owner LLC and Doma Holdings Inc., dated September 14, 2021 and

Notice of Lease Term Dates, dated March 4, 2022
21.1* List of Subsidiaries of Registrant.
23.1* Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
24.1 Power of Attorney (included on the Signatures page of this Annual Report on Form 10-K).
31.1* Certification of the Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
31.2* Certification of the Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32.1** Certification of the Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to

Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32.2** Certification of the Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to

Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
101.INS* Inline XBRL Instance Document – the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because

its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document.
101.SCH* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.
101.CAL* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.
101.DEF* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.
101.LAB* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.
101.PRE* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.
104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101).

________________
^ Management Contract or Compensatory Plan or Arrangement
* Filed herewith.
** Furnished herewith.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

DOMA HOLDINGS, INC.
By: /s/ Max Simkoff

Name: Max Simkoff
Date: March 7, 2023
Title: Chief Executive Officer and Director

POWER OF ATTORNEY AND SIGNATURES

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Max Simkoff and Mike Smith, and
each of them, his or her true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him or her and in his or her name,
place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto,
and all other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto each said attorney-in-fact and agents full power
and authority to do and perform each and every act in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents or either of them or
their or his or her substitute or substitutes may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the
registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Name Title Date

/s/ Max Simkoff Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer) March 7, 2023

Max Simkoff

/s/ Mike Smith Chief Financial Officer
 (Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer) March 7, 2023

Mike Smith

/s/ Stuart Miller
Director March 7, 2023

Stuart Miller

/s/ Charles Moldow
Director March 7, 2023

Charles Moldow

/s/ Lawrence Summers
Director March 7, 2023

Lawrence Summers

/s/ Maxine Williams
Director March 7, 2023

Maxine Williams

/s/ Serena Wolfe
Director March 7, 2023

Serena Wolfe

/s/ Matthew E. Zames
Chairman of the Board March 7, 2023

Matthew E. Zames
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